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FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013

(Unaudited)
 
  

September 30, 2014
 

December 31, 2013
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Assets
     
   



Cash and due from banks (interest-bearing 2014 $95,358; 2013 $118,228) $ 179,724 $ 231,603
Securities available for sale, at fair value

 

803,065
 

841,310
 

Securities held to maturity, at amortized cost
 

2,384
 

834
 

Loans held for sale
 

12,090
 

13,840
 

Loans (net of allowance for loan losses 2014 $47,014; 2013 $47,567)
 

2,320,811
 

2,233,893
 

Premises and equipment
 

64,369
 

65,827
 

Goodwill
 

20,686
 

20,686
 

Other intangible assets
 

7,390
 

9,571
 

Cash surrender value of bank owned life insurance
 

41,110
 

40,674
 

Other real estate owned (OREO)
 

216
 

2,133
 

Deferred tax asset, net
 

22,799
 

35,642
 

Other assets
 

46,273
 

43,562
 

Total assets
 

$ 3,520,917
 

$ 3,539,575
 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
     

Liabilities
     

Deposits:
     

Noninterest-bearing
 

$ 579,550
 

$ 547,531
 

Interest-bearing
 

2,245,844
 

2,321,607
 

Total deposits
 

$ 2,825,394
 

$ 2,869,138
 

      
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase

 

157,282
 

172,348
 

Long-term debt
 

30,000
 

—
 

Junior subordinated debt owed to unconsolidated trusts
 

55,000
 

55,000
 

Other liabilities
 

23,213
 

27,725
 

Total liabilities
 

$ 3,090,889
 

$ 3,124,211
 

Stockholders’ Equity
     

Series C Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 72,664 shares authorized, issued and outstanding, $1,000.00
liquidation value per share

 

$ 72,664
 

$ 72,664
 

Common stock, $.001 par value, authorized 200,000,000 shares; shares issued — 88,287,132
 

88
 

88
 

Additional paid-in capital
 

593,520
 

593,144
 

Accumulated deficit
 

(213,386) (225,722)
Accumulated other comprehensive income

 

5,667
 

4,456
 

Total stockholders’ equity before treasury stock
 

$ 458,553
 

$ 444,630
 

      
Common stock shares held in treasury at cost — 2014 1,442,257; 2013 1,482,777

 

(28,525) (29,266)
Total stockholders’ equity

 

$ 430,028
 

$ 415,364
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
 

$ 3,520,917
 

$ 3,539,575
 

      
Common shares outstanding at period end

 

86,844,875
 

86,804,355
 

 
See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 and 2013
(Unaudited)

 
  

2014
 

2013
 

  
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

Interest income:
     

Interest and fees on loans
 

$ 68,523
 

$ 69,257
 

Interest and dividends on investment securities:
     

Taxable interest income
 

9,423
 

9,616
 

Non-taxable interest income
 

2,472
 

2,938
 

Total interest income
 

$ 80,418
 

$ 81,811
 

Interest expense:
     

Deposits
 

$ 3,928
 

$ 5,577
 

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
 

114
 

128
 

Short-term borrowings
 

1
 

15
 

Long-term debt
 

1
 

125
 

Junior subordinated debt owed to unconsolidated trusts
 

885
 

905
 

Total interest expense
 

$ 4,929
 

$ 6,750
 

Net interest income
 

$ 75,489
 

$ 75,061
 

Provision for loan losses
 

2,000
 

6,000
 

Net interest income after provision for loan losses
 

$ 73,489
 

$ 69,061
 

Other income:
     

Trust fees
 

$ 14,879
 

$ 13,956
 

Commissions and brokers’ fees, net
 

2,023
 

1,819
 

Remittance processing
 

7,120
 

6,288
 

Service charges on deposit accounts
 

8,981
 

8,876
 

Other service charges and fees
 

4,681
 

4,452
 

   



Gain on sales of loans 3,554 8,944
Security gains, net

 

40
 

82
 

Other
 

2,924
 

3,637
 

Total other income
 

$ 44,202
 

$ 48,054
 

Other expense:
     

Salaries and wages
 

$ 37,418
 

$ 39,342
 

Employee benefits
 

7,542
 

8,754
 

Net occupancy expense of premises
 

6,384
 

6,340
 

Furniture and equipment expense
 

3,607
 

3,687
 

Data processing
 

8,099
 

7,813
 

Amortization of intangible assets
 

2,181
 

2,349
 

Regulatory expense
 

1,559
 

1,808
 

OREO expense
 

87
 

394
 

Other
 

12,862
 

14,239
 

Total other expense
 

$ 79,739
 

$ 84,726
 

Income before income taxes
 

$ 37,952
 

$ 32,389
 

Income taxes
 

12,771
 

10,583
 

Net income
 

$ 25,181
 

$ 21,806
 

Preferred stock dividends
 

545
 

2,725
 

Net income available to common stockholders
 

$ 24,636
 

$ 19,081
 

Basic earnings per common share
 

$ 0.28
 

$ 0.22
 

Diluted earnings per common share
 

$ 0.28
 

$ 0.22
 

Dividends declared per share of common stock
 

$ 0.14
 

$ 0.08
 

 
See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 and 2013
(Unaudited)

 
  

2014
 

2013
 

  
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

Interest income:
     

Interest and fees on loans
 

$ 23,553
 

$ 23,096
 

Interest and dividends on investment securities:
     

Taxable interest income
 

3,148
 

3,162
 

Non-taxable interest income
 

810
 

978
 

Total interest income
 

$ 27,511
 

$ 27,236
 

Interest expense:
     

Deposits
 

$ 1,260
 

$ 1,656
 

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
 

40
 

44
 

Short-term borrowings
 

1
 

—
 

Long-term debt
 

1
 

—
 

Junior subordinated debt owed to unconsolidated trusts
 

298
 

303
 

Total interest expense
 

$ 1,600
 

$ 2,003
 

Net interest income
 

$ 25,911
 

$ 25,233
 

Provision for loan losses
 

—
 

2,000
 

Net interest income after provision for loan losses
 

$ 25,911
 

$ 23,233
 

Other income:
     

Trust fees
 

$ 4,182
 

$ 4,035
 

Commissions and brokers’ fees, net
 

676
 

710
 

Remittance processing
 

2,394
 

2,105
 

Service charges on deposit accounts
 

3,175
 

3,126
 

Other service charges and fees
 

1,575
 

1,486
 

Gain on sales of loans
 

1,339
 

2,684
 

Security gains, net
 

—
 

82
 

Other
 

863
 

1,402
 

Total other income
 

$ 14,204
 

$ 15,630
 

Other expense:
     

Salaries and wages
 

$ 12,591
 

$ 13,001
 

Employee benefits
 

2,263
 

2,580
 

Net occupancy expense of premises
 

2,086
 

2,055
 

Furniture and equipment expense
 

1,250
 

1,211
 

Data processing
 

2,600
 

2,606
 

Amortization of intangible assets
 

701
 

783
 

Regulatory expense
 

503
 

545
 

OREO expense
 

16
 

(207)
Other

 

4,288
 

4,784
 

Total other expense
 

$ 26,298
 

$ 27,358
 

Income before income taxes
 

$ 13,817
 

$ 11,505
 

   



Income taxes 4,708 3,572
Net income

 

$ 9,109
 

$ 7,933
 

Preferred stock dividends
 

182
 

909
 

Net income available to common stockholders
 

$ 8,927
 

$ 7,024
 

Basic earnings per common share
 

$ 0.10
 

$ 0.08
 

Diluted earnings per common share
 

$ 0.10
 

$ 0.08
 

Dividends declared per share of common stock
 

$ 0.05
 

$ 0.04
 

 
See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(Unaudited)
 

  

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

  
2014

 
2013

 
2014

 
2013

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Net income
 

$ 9,109
 

$ 7,933
 

$ 25,181
 

$ 21,806
 

Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:
         

Securities available for sale:
         

Unrealized net (losses) gains on securities:
         

Unrealized net holding (losses) gains arising during
period

 

$ (2,980) $ 1,092
 

$ 2,099
 

$ (12,125)
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) included in net

income
 

—
 

(82) (40) (82)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, before tax

 

$ (2,980) $ 1,010
 

$ 2,059
 

$ (12,207)
Income tax (benefit) expense related to items of other

comprehensive income
 

(1,227) 416
 

848
 

(5,026)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax

 

$ (1,753) $ 594
 

$ 1,211
 

$ (7,181)
Comprehensive income

 

$ 7,356
 

$ 8,527
 

$ 26,392
 

$ 14,625
 

 
See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

 
6

 
FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(Unaudited)
 

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
 
          

Accumulated
     

      
Additional

   
Other

     

  
Preferred

 
Common

 
Paid-in

 
Accumulated

 
Comprehensive

 
Treasury

   

  
Stock

 
Stock

 
Capital

 
Deficit

 
Income

 
Stock

 
Total

 

Balance, December 31, 2012
 

$ 72,664
 

$ 88
 

$ 594,411
 

$ (240,321) $ 13,542
 

$ (31,587) $ 408,797
 

                
Net income

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

21,806
 

—
 

—
 

21,806
 

Other comprehensive loss
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(7,181) —
 

(7,181)
Issuance of treasury stock for employee

stock purchase plan
 

—
 

—
 

(234) —
 

—
 

316
 

82
 

Net issuance of treasury stock for
restricted stock unit vesting and related
tax benefit

 

—
 

—
 

(1,414) —
 

—
 

1,301
 

(113)
Cash dividends common stock at $0.08

per share
       

(6,937)
    

(6,937)
Stock dividend equivalents restricted stock

units at $0.08 per share
     

45
 

(45)
    

—
 

Stock-based employee compensation
 

—
 

—
 

650
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

650
 

Preferred stock dividends
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(2,725) —
 

—
 

(2,725)
                
Balance, September 30, 2013

 

$ 72,664
 

$ 88
 

$ 593,458
 

$ (228,222) $ 6,361
 

$ (29,970) $ 414,379
 

                
Balance, December 31, 2013

 

$ 72,664
 

$ 88
 

$ 593,144
 

$ (225,722) $ 4,456
 

$ (29,266) $ 415,364
 

                
Net income

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

25,181
 

—
 

—
 

25,181
 

Other comprehensive income
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

1,211
 

—
 

1,211
 

       



Issuance of treasury stock for employee
stock purchase plan

— — (376) — — 533 157

Net issuance of treasury stock for
restricted stock unit vesting and related
tax benefit

 

—
 

—
 

(229) —
 

—
 

208
 

(21)
Cash dividends common stock at $0.14

per share
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(12,154) —
 

—
 

(12,154)
Stock dividend equivalents restricted stock

units at $0.14 per share
 

—
 

—
 

146
 

(146) —
 

—
 

—
 

Stock-based employee compensation
 

—
 

—
 

835
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

835
 

Preferred stock dividends
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(545) —
 

—
 

(545)
                
Balance, September 30, 2014

 

$ 72,664
 

$ 88
 

$ 593,520
 

$ (213,386) $ 5,667
 

$ (28,525) $ 430,028
 

 
See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(Unaudited)
 
  

2014
 

2013
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
     

Net income
 

$ 25,181
 

$ 21,806
 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
     

Stock-based and non-cash compensation
 

835
 

650
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

6,419
 

6,494
 

Provision for loan losses
 

2,000
 

6,000
 

Provision for deferred income taxes
 

11,999
 

6,725
 

Amortization of security premiums and discounts, net
 

5,525
 

6,821
 

Net security gains
 

(40) (82)
Gain on sales of loans, net

 

(3,554) (8,944)
Net loss (gain) on disposition of premises and equipment

 

4
 

(796)
Net gains on sales of OREO properties

 

(142) (1)
Increase in cash surrender value of bank owned life insurance

 

(436) (915)
Change in assets and liabilities:

     

(Increase) decrease in other assets
 

(2,285) 9,177
 

Decrease in other liabilities
 

(4,209) (1,192)
Decrease in interest payable

 

(146) (386)
(Increase) decrease in income taxes receivable

 

(426) 228
 

Net cash provided by operating activities before activities for loans originated for sale
 

$ 40,725
 

$ 45,585
 

      
Loans originated for sale

 

(164,570) (390,125)
Proceeds from sales of loans

 

169,874
 

421,572
 

Net cash provided by operating activities
 

$ 46,029
 

$ 77,032
 

      
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

     

Proceeds from sales of securities classified available for sale
 

65,906
 

10,229
 

Proceeds from maturities of securities classified available for sale
 

137,943
 

143,258
 

Proceeds from maturities of securities classified held to maturity
 

6
 

—
 

Purchase of securities classified available for sale
 

(169,560) (78,358)
Purchase of securities classified held to maturity

 

(1,026) (838)
Net increase in loans

 

(89,514) (207,063)
Proceeds from disposition of premises and equipment

 

8
 

2,849
 

Proceeds from sale of OREO properties
 

2,655
 

2,312
 

Purchases of premises and equipment
 

(2,792) (2,279)
Net cash used in investing activities

 

$ (56,374) $ (129,890)
 

(continued on next page)
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FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(Unaudited)
 
  

2014
 

2013
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 
     



Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net decrease in certificates of deposit

 

$ (65,691) $ (82,944)
Net increase (decrease) in demand, money market and savings deposits

 

21,947
 

(17,496)
Cash dividends paid

 

(12,699) (9,662)
Value of shares surrendered upon vesting of restricted stock units to cover tax obligations

 

(25) (113)
Principal payments on long-term debt

 

—
 

(7,000)
Proceeds from long-term debt

 

30,000
 

—
 

Net (decrease) increase in securities sold under agreements to repurchase
 

(15,066) 17,486
 

Net cash used in financing activities
 

$ (41,534) $ (99,729)
Net decrease in cash and due from banks

 

$ (51,879) $ (152,587)
Cash and due from banks, beginning

 

$ 231,603
 

$ 351,255
 

Cash and due from banks, ending
 

$ 179,724
 

$ 198,668
 

 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
 
Cash payments for:

     

Interest
 

$ 5,075
 

$ 7,136
 

Income taxes
 

$ 2,686
 

$ 3,406
 

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
     

Other real estate acquired in settlement of loans
 

$ 596
 

$ 1,017
 

 
See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Note 1:  Basis of Presentation
 
The accompanying unaudited consolidated interim financial statements of First Busey Corporation (“First Busey” or the “Company”), a Nevada corporation,
have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) for Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and do
not include certain information and footnote disclosures required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for complete annual financial
statements. Accordingly, these financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013.
 
The accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013, which have been derived from audited financial statements, and the unaudited
consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and reflect all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management,
necessary for the fair presentation of the financial position and results of operations as of the dates and for the periods presented. All such adjustments are of a
normal recurring nature. The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of the results that
may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2014.
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All material intercompany transactions and balances have
been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation with no effect on net income or
stockholders’ equity.
 
In preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company’s management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  Material estimates which are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term relate to
the fair value of investment securities, the determination of the allowance for loan losses, and the valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset.
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events for potential recognition and/or disclosure through the date the consolidated financial statements included in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q were issued.  Other than the return of capital and associated surplus to the Company from Busey Bank (the “Bank”),
which was executed on October 22, 2014, as discussed in the capital resources section of management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and
results of operations, there were no significant subsequent events for the quarter ended September 30, 2014 through the issuance date of these financial
statements that warranted adjustment to or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.
 
Note 2:  Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
ASU 2014-04, “Receivables - Troubled Debt Restructurings by Creditors (Subtopic 310-40) - Reclassification of Residential Real Estate Collateralized
Consumer Mortgage Loans upon Foreclosure.” ASU 2014-04 clarifies when an in-substance repossession or foreclosure occurs and requires interim and
annual disclosures.  The new authoritative guidance will be effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2014 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.
 
ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).”  ASU 2014-09 outlines a single model for companies to use in accounting for revenue
arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. ASU 2014-09 will
require that companies recognize revenue based on the value of transferred goods or services as they occur in the contract and will also require additional
disclosures.  The new authoritative guidance will be for reporting periods after December 15, 2016, and the Company is evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-
09 will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

 
10



 
ASU 2014-14, “Receivables - Troubled Debt Restructurings by Creditors (Subtopic 310-40) — Classification of Certain Government-Guaranteed Mortgage
Loans upon Foreclosure.” ASU 2014-14 requires that certain government-guaranteed mortgage loans be derecognized and that a separate other receivable be
recognized upon foreclosure if certain conditions are met. Upon foreclosure on loans that meet these criteria, a separate receivable should be recorded based
on the amount of the loan balance expected to be recovered from the guarantor. The new authoritative guidance will be effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2014 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

 
Note 3:  Securities
 
Securities are classified as held to maturity when First Busey has the ability and management has the positive intent to hold those securities to maturity. 
Accordingly, they are stated at cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts.  Securities are classified as available for sale when
First Busey may decide to sell those securities due to changes in market interest rates, liquidity needs, changes in yields on alternative investments, and for
other reasons.  They are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, reported in other comprehensive income.
 
The amortized cost, unrealized gains and losses and fair values of securities classified as available for sale and held to maturity are summarized as follows:
 
    

Gross
 

Gross
   

  
Amortized

 
Unrealized

 
Unrealized

 
Fair

 

September 30, 2014:
 

Cost
 

Gains
 

Losses
 

Value
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Available for sale
         

U.S. Treasury securities
 

$ 50,341
 

$ 242
 

$ (6) $ 50,577
 

Obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies
 

187,394
 

1,397
 

(155) 188,636
 

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
 

234,495
 

3,419
 

(752) 237,162
 

Residential mortgage-backed securities
 

241,933
 

3,882
 

(243) 245,572
 

Corporate debt securities
 

73,840
 

241
 

(123) 73,958
 

Total debt securities
 

788,003
 

9,181
 

(1,279) 795,905
 

Mutual funds and other equity securities
 

5,428
 

1,732
 

—
 

7,160
 

Total
 

$ 793,431
 

$ 10,913
 

$ (1,279) $ 803,065
 

              
Held to maturity

         

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
 

$ 1,366
 

$ 19
 

$ (1) $ 1,384
 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities
 

1,018
 

19
 

—
 

1,037
 

Total
 

$ 2,384
 

$ 38
 

$ (1) $ 2,421
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Gross
 

Gross
   

  
Amortized

 
Unrealized

 
Unrealized

 
Fair

 

December 31, 2013:
 

Cost
 

Gains
 

Losses
 

Value
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Available for sale
         

U.S. Treasury securities
 

$ 102,463
 

$ 244
 

$ (67) $ 102,640
 

Obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies
 

254,998
 

2,741
 

(328) 257,411
 

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
 

272,077
 

2,887
 

(2,812) 272,152
 

Residential mortgage-backed securities
 

174,699
 

3,571
 

(535) 177,735
 

Corporate debt securities
 

25,384
 

155
 

(33) 25,506
 

Total debt securities
 

829,621
 

9,598
 

(3,775) 835,444
 

Mutual funds and other equity securities
 

4,114
 

1,752
 

—
 

5,866
 

Total
 

$ 833,735
 

$ 11,350
 

$ (3,775) $ 841,310
 

Held to maturity
         

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
 

$ 834
 

$ 1
 

$ (4) $ 831
 

Total
 

$ 834
 

$ 1
 

$ (4) $ 831
 

 
The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities available for sale and held to maturity as of September 30, 2014, by contractual maturity, are shown
below.  Mutual funds and other equity securities do not have stated maturity dates and therefore are not included in the following maturity summary. 
Mortgages underlying the residential mortgage-backed securities may be called or prepaid without penalties; therefore, actual maturities could differ from the
contractual maturities. All residential mortgage-backed securities were issued by U.S. government agencies and corporations.
 
  

Available for sale
 

Held to maturity
 

  
Amortized

 
Fair

 
Amortized

 
Fair

 

  
Cost

 
Value

 
Cost

 
Value

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Due in one year or less
 

$ 127,442
 

$ 128,040
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

Due after one year through five years
 

353,926
 

356,234
 

515
 

518
 

Due after five years through ten years
 

148,191
 

151,396
 

1,869
 

1,903
 

Due after ten years
 

158,444
 

160,235
 

—
 

—
 

Total
 

$ 788,003
 

$ 795,905
 

$ 2,384
 

$ 2,421
 

 
Realized gains and losses related to sales of securities available for sale are summarized as follows:
 

  

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
 September 30,

 

  
2014

 
2013

 
2014

 
2013

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Gross security gains
 

$ —
 

$ 82
 

$ 57
 

$ 82
 

Gross security (losses)
 

—
 

—
 

(17) —
 

     



Net security gains $ — $ 82 $ 40 $ 82
 
The tax provision for the net realized gains was insignificant for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013.
 
Investment securities with carrying amounts of $512.5 million and $428.7 million on September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, were pledged
as collateral for public deposits, securities sold under agreements to repurchase and for other purposes as required or permitted by law.
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Information pertaining to securities with gross unrealized losses at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 aggregated by investment category and length
of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position follows:
 

  

Continuous unrealized
losses existing for less than

12 months, gross
 

Continuous unrealized
 losses existing for greater

than 12 months, gross
 

Total, gross
 

  
Fair

 
Unrealized

 
Fair

 
Unrealized

 
Fair

 
Unrealized

 

September 30, 2014:
 

Value
 

Losses
 

Value
 

Losses
 

Value
 

Losses
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Available for sale
             

U.S. Treasury securities
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 362
 

$ 6
 

$ 362
 

$ 6
 

Obligations of U.S. government
corporations and agencies

 

260
 

1
 

25,152
 

154
 

25,412
 

155
 

Obligations of states and political
subdivisions

 

24,153
 

66
 

43,653
 

686
 

67,806
 

752
 

Residential mortgage-backed securities
 

53,276
 

115
 

10,858
 

128
 

64,134
 

243
 

Corporate debt securities
 

23,484
 

118
 

213
 

5
 

23,697
 

123
 

Total temporarily impaired securities
 

$ 101,173
 

$ 300
 

$ 80,238
 

$ 979
 

$ 181,411
 

$ 1,279
 

              
Held to maturity

             

Obligations of states and political
subdivisions

 

$ 236
 

$ 1
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 236
 

$ 1
 

Total temporarily impaired securities
 

$ 236
 

$ 1
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 236
 

$ 1
 

 

  

Continuous unrealized
losses existing for less than

12 months, gross
 

Continuous unrealized
 losses existing for greater

than 12 months, gross
 

Total, gross
 

  
Fair

 
Unrealized

 
Fair

 
Unrealized

 
Fair

 
Unrealized

 

December 31, 2013:
 

Value
 

Losses
 

Value
 

Losses
 

Value
 

Losses
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Available for sale
             

U.S. Treasury securities
 

$ 25,830
 

$ 67
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 25,830
 

$ 67
 

Obligations of U.S. government
corporations and agencies

 

25,946
 

328
 

—
 

—
 

25,946
 

328
 

Obligations of states and political
subdivisions

 

92,703
 

2,518
 

8,492
 

294
 

101,195
 

2,812
 

Residential mortgage-backed securities
 

53,543
 

535
 

—
 

—
 

53,543
 

535
 

Corporate debt securities
 

1,614
 

33
 

—
 

—
 

1,614
 

33
 

Total temporarily impaired securities
 

$ 199,636
 

$ 3,481
 

$ 8,492
 

$ 294
 

$ 208,128
 

$ 3,775
 

              
Held to maturity

             

Obligations of states and political
subdivisions

 

$ 597
 

$ 4
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 597
 

$ 4
 

Total temporarily impaired securities
 

$ 597
 

$ 4
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 597
 

$ 4
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Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment at least on a quarterly basis, and more frequently when economic or market concerns
warrant such evaluation.  Consideration is given to the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, the financial condition and
near-term prospects of the issuer, and whether the Company has the intent to sell the security and it is more-likely-than-not it will have to sell the security
before recovery of its cost basis.
 
The total number of securities in the investment portfolio in an unrealized loss position as of September 30, 2014 was 158, and represented a loss of 0.7% of
the aggregate carrying value. Based upon a review of unrealized loss circumstances, the unrealized losses resulted from changes in market interest rates and
liquidity, not from changes in the probability of receiving the contractual cash flows. The Company does not intend to sell the securities and it is more-likely-
than-not that the Company will recover the amortized cost prior to being required to sell the securities.  Full collection of the amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the securities is expected; therefore, the Company does not consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at
September 30, 2014.

 
The Company had available for sale obligations of state and political subdivisions with a fair value of $237.2 million and $272.2 million as of September 30,
2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.  In addition, the Company had held to maturity obligations of state and political subdivisions totaling $1.4 million
and $0.8 million at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.
 
As of September 30, 2014, the Company’s obligations of state and political subdivisions portfolio was comprised of $196.7 million of general obligation
bonds and $41.8 million of revenue bonds issued by 238 issuers, primarily consisting of states, counties, cities, towns, villages and school districts.  The



Company held investments in general obligation bonds in 23 states (including the District of Columbia), including seven states in which the aggregate fair
value exceeded $5.0 million.  The Company held investments in revenue bonds in 17 states, including two states where the aggregate fair value exceeded $5.0
million.
 
As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s obligations of state and political subdivisions portfolio was comprised of $223.5 million of general obligation
bonds and $49.5 million of revenue bonds issued by 267 issuers, primarily consisting of states, counties, cities, towns, villages and school districts.  The
Company held investments in general obligation bonds in 25 states (including the District of Columbia), including seven states in which the aggregate fair
value exceeded $5.0 million.  The Company held investments in revenue bonds in 21 states, including two states where the aggregate fair value exceeded $5.0
million.
 
The amortized cost and fair values of the Company’s portfolio of general obligation bonds are summarized in the following tables by the issuers’ state:
 

September 30, 2014:
 

        
Average Exposure

 

  
Number of

 
Amortized

 
Fair

 
Per Issuer

 

U.S. State
 

Issuers
 

Cost
 

Value
 

(Fair Value)
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois
 

75
 

$ 68,434
 

$ 69,974
 

$ 933
 

Wisconsin
 

40
 

38,271
 

38,562
 

964
 

Michigan
 

33
 

30,884
 

31,283
 

948
 

Pennsylvania
 

10
 

12,939
 

13,030
 

1,303
 

Ohio
 

10
 

10,936
 

10,890
 

1,089
 

Texas
 

7
 

7,401
 

7,359
 

1,051
 

Iowa
 

3
 

6,118
 

6,154
 

2,051
 

Other
 

24
 

18,905
 

19,476
 

812
 

Total general obligations bonds
 

202
 

$ 193,888
 

$ 196,728
 

$ 974
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December 31, 2013:

 
        

Average Exposure
 

  
Number of

 
Amortized

 
Fair

 
Per Issuer

 

U.S. State
 

Issuers
 

Cost
 

Value
 

(Fair Value)
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois
 

82
 

$ 82,884
 

$ 83,804
 

$ 1,022
 

Wisconsin
 

41
 

43,117
 

43,122
 

1,052
 

Michigan
 

37
 

35,350
 

35,365
 

956
 

Pennsylvania
 

11
 

14,132
 

14,133
 

1,285
 

Ohio
 

12
 

11,709
 

11,426
 

952
 

Texas
 

7
 

7,510
 

7,270
 

1,039
 

Iowa
 

3
 

6,126
 

6,060
 

2,020
 

Other
 

26
 

21,865
 

22,290
 

857
 

Total general obligations bonds
 

219
 

$ 222,693
 

$ 223,470
 

$ 1,020
 

 
The general obligation bonds are diversified across many issuers, with $3.5 million and $5.0 million being the largest exposure to a single issuer at
September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.  Accordingly, as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company did not hold
general obligation bonds of any single issuer, the aggregate book or market value of which exceeded 10% of the Company’s stockholders’ equity. Of the
general obligation bonds in the Company’s portfolio, 96.9% had been rated by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization and 3.1% were
unrated, based on the fair value as of September 30, 2014.  Of the general obligation bonds in the Company’s portfolio, 96.4% had been rated by at least one
nationally recognized statistical rating organization and 3.6% were unrated, based on the fair value as of December 31, 2013.
 
The amortized cost and fair values of the Company’s portfolio of revenue bonds are summarized in the following tables by the issuers’ state:
 

September 30, 2014:
 

        
Average Exposure

 

  
Number of

 
Amortized

 
Fair

 
Per Issuer

 

U.S. State
 

Issuers
 

Cost
 

Value
 

(Fair Value)
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois
 

4
 

$ 6,999
 

$ 6,920
 

$ 1,730
 

Indiana
 

8
 

12,534
 

12,486
 

1,561
 

Other
 

24
 

22,440
 

22,412
 

934
 

Total revenue bonds
 

36
 

$ 41,973
 

$ 41,818
 

$ 1,162
 

 
December 31, 2013:

 
        

Average Exposure
 

  
Number of

 
Amortized

 
Fair

 
Per Issuer

 

U.S. State
 

Issuers
 

Cost
 

Value
 

(Fair Value)
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois
 

4
 

$ 7,356
 

$ 7,121
 

$ 1,780
 

Indiana
 

14
 

14,740
 

14,481
 

1,034
 

Other
 

30
 

28,122
 

27,911
 

930
 

Total revenue bonds
 

48
 

$ 50,218
 

$ 49,513
 

$ 1,032
 

 



The revenue bonds are diversified across many issuers and revenue sources with $3.0 million being the largest exposure to a single issuer at each of
September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013.  Accordingly, as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company did not hold revenue bonds of
any single issuer, the aggregate book or market value of which exceeded 10% of the Company’s stockholders’ equity.  All of the revenue bonds in the
Company’s portfolio had been rated by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013. 
Some of the primary types of revenue bonds owned in the Company’s portfolio include: primary education or government building lease rentals secured by ad
valorem taxes, utility systems secured by utility system net revenues, housing authorities secured by mortgage loans or principal receipts on mortgage loans,
secondary education secured by student fees/tuitions, and pooled issuances (i.e. bond bank) consisting of multiple underlying municipal obligors.
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Substantially all of the Company’s obligations of state and political subdivision securities are owned by Busey Bank, whose investment policy requires that
state and political subdivision securities purchased be investment grade.  Busey Bank’s investment policy also limits the amount of rated state and political
subdivision securities to an aggregate 100% of the Bank’s Total Risk Based Capital at the time of purchase and an aggregate 15% of Total Risk Based Capital
for unrated state and political subdivision securities issued by municipalities having taxing authority or located in counties/micropolitan statistical
areas/metropolitan statistical areas in which an office of the Bank is located.  The investment policy states fixed income investments that are not Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency Type 1 securities (U.S. Treasuries, agencies, municipal government general obligation and, for well-capitalized institutions, most
municipal revenue bonds) should be analyzed prior to acquisition to determine that (1) the security has low risk of default by the obligor, and (2) the full and
timely repayment of principal and interest is expected over the expected life of the investment.  All securities in the Bank’s obligations of state and political
subdivision securities portfolio are subject to ongoing review.  Factors that may be considered as part of ongoing monitoring of state and political subdivision
securities include credit rating changes by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations, market valuations, third-party municipal credit analysis,
which may include indicative information regarding the issuer’s capacity to pay, market and economic data and such other factors as are available and
relevant to the security or the issuer such as its budgetary position and sources, strength and stability of taxes and/or other revenue.

 
As of September 30, 2014, the Company’s regular monitoring of its obligations of state and political subdivisions portfolio had not uncovered any facts or
circumstances resulting in significantly different credit ratings than those assigned by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization.
 
Note 4:  Loans
 
Geographic distributions of loans were as follows:
 
  

September 30, 2014
 

  
Illinois

 
Florida

 
Indiana

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Commercial
 

$ 520,002
 

$ 18,794
 

$ 26,027
 

$ 564,823
 

Commercial real estate
 

850,819
 

168,201
 

118,464
 

1,137,484
 

Real estate construction
 

47,155
 

17,045
 

15,619
 

79,819
 

Retail real estate
 

468,818
 

104,971
 

13,442
 

587,231
 

Retail other
 

9,929
 

551
 

78
 

10,558
 

Total
 

$ 1,896,723
 

$ 309,562
 

$ 173,630
 

$ 2,379,915
 

          
Less held for sale(1)

       

12,090
 

        

$ 2,367,825
 

Less allowance for loan losses
       

47,014
 

Net loans
       

$ 2,320,811
 

 

(1)Loans held for sale are included in retail real estate.
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December 31, 2013
 

  
Illinois

 
Florida

 
Indiana

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Commercial
 

$ 530,174
 

$ 20,536
 

$ 29,902
 

$ 580,612
 

Commercial real estate
 

800,568
 

160,255
 

131,450
 

1,092,273
 

Real estate construction
 

55,190
 

17,426
 

6,239
 

78,855
 

Retail real estate
 

419,801
 

103,104
 

11,588
 

534,493
 

Retail other
 

8,422
 

552
 

93
 

9,067
 

Total
 

$ 1,814,155
 

$ 301,873
 

$ 179,272
 

$ 2,295,300
 

          
Less held for sale(1)

       

13,840
 

        

$ 2,281,460
 

Less allowance for loan losses
       

47,567
 

Net loans
       

$ 2,233,893
 

 

(1) Loans held for sale are included in retail real estate.
 
Net deferred loan origination costs included in the tables above were $0.5 million as of September 30, 2014 and insignificant as of December 31, 2013.
 
The Company believes that sound loans are a necessary and desirable means of employing funds available for investment. Recognizing the Company’s
obligations to its stockholders, depositors, and to the communities it serves, authorized personnel are expected to seek to develop and make sound, profitable



loans that resources permit and that opportunity affords. The Company maintains lending policies and procedures designed to focus lending efforts on the
types, locations and duration of loans most appropriate for its business model and markets.  While not specifically limited, the Company attempts to focus its
lending on short to intermediate-term (0-7 years) loans in geographies within 125 miles of its lending offices.  The Company attempts to utilize government-
assisted lending programs, such as the Small Business Administration and United States Department of Agriculture lending programs, when prudent.
Generally, loans are collateralized by assets, primarily real estate, of the borrowers and guaranteed by individuals.  The loans are expected to be repaid
primarily from cash flows of the borrowers, or from proceeds from the sale of selected assets of the borrowers.
 
Management reviews and approves the Company’s lending policies and procedures on a routine basis.  Management routinely (at least quarterly) reviews the
Company’s allowance for loan losses and reports related to loan production, loan quality, concentrations of credit, loan delinquencies and non-performing and
potential problem loans. The Company’s underwriting standards are designed to encourage relationship banking rather than transactional banking. 
Relationship banking implies a primary banking relationship with the borrower that includes, at a minimum, an active deposit banking relationship in addition
to the lending relationship.  The integrity and character of the borrower are significant factors in the Company’s loan underwriting.  As a part of underwriting,
tangible positive or negative evidence of the borrower’s integrity and character are sought out.  Additional significant underwriting factors beyond location,
duration, a sound and profitable cash flow basis and the borrower’s character are the quality of the borrower’s financial history, the liquidity of the underlying
collateral and the reliability of the valuation of the underlying collateral.
 
Total borrowing relationships, including direct and indirect debt, are generally limited to $20 million, which is significantly less than the Company’s
regulatory lending limit.  Borrowing relationships exceeding $20 million are reviewed by the Company’s board of directors at least annually and more
frequently by management.  At no time is a borrower’s total borrowing relationship permitted to exceed the Company’s regulatory lending limit.  Loans to
related parties, including executive officers and the Company’s various directorates, are reviewed for compliance with regulatory guidelines by the
Company’s board of directors at least annually.
 
The Company maintains an independent loan review department that reviews the loans for compliance with the Company’s loan policy on a periodic basis.  In
addition to compliance with this policy, the loan review process reviews the risk assessments made by the Company’s credit department, lenders and loan
committees. Results of these reviews are presented to management and the audit committee at least quarterly.
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The Company’s lending can be summarized into five primary areas: commercial loans, commercial real estate loans, real estate construction loans, retail real
estate loans, and other retail loans. A description of each of the lending areas can be found in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013.  The significant majority of the lending activity occurs in the Company’s Illinois and Indiana markets, with the remainder in the Florida
market.  Due to the small scale of the Indiana loan portfolio and its geographical proximity to the Illinois portfolio, the Company believes that quantitative or
qualitative segregation between Illinois and Indiana is not material or warranted.
 
The Company utilizes a loan grading scale to assign a risk grade to all of its loans.  Loans are graded on a scale of 1 through 10 with grades 2, 4 & 5 unused. 
A description of the general characteristics of the grades is as follows:
 

·                  Grades 1, 3, 6- These grades include loans which are all considered strong credits, with grade 1 being investment or near investment grade.  A grade
3 loan is comprised of borrowers that exhibit credit fundamentals that exceed industry standards and loan policy guidelines. A grade 6 loan is
comprised of borrowers that exhibit acceptable credit fundamentals.

 
·                  Grade 7- This grade includes loans on management’s “Watch List” and is intended to be utilized on a temporary basis for a pass grade borrower

where a significant risk-modifying action is anticipated in the near future.
 
·                  Grade 8- This grade is for “Other Assets Specially Mentioned” loans that have potential weaknesses which may, if not checked or corrected, weaken

the asset or inadequately protect the Company’s credit position at some future date.
 
·                  Grade 9- This grade includes “Substandard” loans, in accordance with regulatory guidelines, for which the accrual of interest has not been stopped. 

Assets so classified must have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt.  They are characterized by the
distinct possibility that the Company will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.

 
·                  Grade 10- This grade includes “Doubtful” loans that have all the characteristics of a substandard loan with additional factors that make collection in

full highly questionable and improbable. Such loans are placed on non-accrual status and may be dependent on collateral having a value that is
difficult to determine.

 
All loans are graded at the inception of the loan.  All commercial loans that are $1.0 million or less are processed through an expedited underwriting process. 
If the credit receives a pass grade it is aggregated into a homogenous pool of either:  $0.35 million or less or $0.35 million to $1.0 million.  These pools are
monitored on a quarterly basis for the first year, semiannually in the second year and annually thereafter.  Homogenous pool credits which are subsequently
downgraded to a grading of 7 or worse, are subject to the same portfolio review as loans over $1.0 million.  All commercial loans greater than $1.0 million
dollars receive a portfolio review at least annually.  Commercial loans greater than $1.0 million that have a grading of 7 receive a portfolio review twice per
year.  Commercial loans greater than $1.0 million that have a grading of 8 or worse receive a portfolio review on a quarterly basis.  Interim grade reviews may
take place if circumstances of the borrower warrant a more timely review.
 
Loans in the highest grades, represented by grades 1, 3, 6 and 7, totaled $2.2 billion at September 30, 2014 compared to $2.1 billion at December 31, 2013. 
Loans in the lowest grades, represented by grades 8, 9 and 10, totaled $131.8 million at September 30, 2014, a decline of $30.1 million from $161.9 million at
December 31, 2013.
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The following table presents weighted average risk grades segregated by category of loans (excluding held for sale, non-posted and clearings) and geography:
 
  

September 30, 2014
 

  
     

 



Weighted Avg.
Risk Grade

Grades
1,3,6

Grade
7

Grade
 8

Grade
9

Grade
10

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Commercial
 

4.66
 

$ 494,643
 

$ 34,085
 

$ 9,455
 

$ 6,471
 

$ 1,375
 

Commercial real estate
 

5.63
 

844,763
 

74,000
 

27,213
 

21,724
 

1,583
 

Real estate construction
 

6.07
 

43,530
 

4,018
 

13,073
 

1,236
 

917
 

Retail real estate
 

3.49
 

446,768
 

10,620
 

4,531
 

3,557
 

1,345
 

Retail other
 

3.45
 

9,935
 

45
 

18
 

9
 

—
 

Total Illinois/Indiana
   

$ 1,839,639
 

$ 122,768
 

$ 54,290
 

$ 32,997
 

$ 5,220
 

              
Florida

             

Commercial
 

6.07
 

$ 11,126
 

$ 3,966
 

$ 3,100
 

$ 602
 

$ —
 

Commercial real estate
 

6.02
 

120,248
 

26,811
 

4,960
 

13,594
 

2,588
 

Real estate construction
 

6.16
 

15,473
 

—
 

624
 

857
 

91
 

Retail real estate
 

4.14
 

80,151
 

11,674
 

9,655
 

2,476
 

782
 

Retail other
 

3.00
 

551
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Total Florida
   

$ 227,549
 

$ 42,451
 

$ 18,339
 

$ 17,529
 

$ 3,461
 

Total
   

$ 2,067,188
 

$ 165,219
 

$ 72,629
 

$ 50,526
 

$ 8,681
 

              
  

December 31, 2013
 

  

Weighted Avg.
Risk Grade

 

Grades
1,3,6

 

Grade
7

 

Grade
 8

 

Grade
9

 

Grade
10

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Commercial
 

4.66
 

$ 487,587
 

$ 46,992
 

$ 15,986
 

$ 8,536
 

$ 975
 

Commercial real estate
 

5.55
 

799,117
 

79,371
 

19,327
 

29,606
 

4,597
 

Real estate construction
 

7.11
 

21,585
 

16,376
 

11,920
 

7,686
 

3,862
 

Retail real estate
 

3.53
 

393,299
 

9,285
 

5,392
 

4,408
 

3,936
 

Retail other
 

2.64
 

8,451
 

60
 

—
 

4
 

—
 

Total Illinois/Indiana
   

$ 1,710,039
 

$ 152,084
 

$ 52,625
 

$ 50,240
 

$ 13,370
 

              
Florida

             

Commercial
 

5.89
 

$ 16,460
 

$ 174
 

$ 3,218
 

$ 684
 

$ —
 

Commercial real estate
 

6.02
 

116,741
 

16,470
 

11,250
 

12,721
 

3,073
 

Real estate construction
 

6.64
 

7,886
 

7,961
 

743
 

836
 

—
 

Retail real estate
 

3.85
 

77,116
 

12,052
 

9,417
 

3,050
 

721
 

Retail other
 

1.72
 

552
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Total Florida
   

$ 218,755
 

$ 36,657
 

$ 24,628
 

$ 17,291
 

$ 3,794
 

Total
   

$ 1,928,794
 

$ 188,741
 

$ 77,253
 

$ 67,531
 

$ 17,164
 

 
Loans are considered past due if the required principal and interest payments have not been received as of the date such payments were due.  Loans are placed
on non-accrual status when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to meet payment obligations as they become due, as well as when required
by regulatory provisions.  Loans may be placed on non-accrual status regardless of whether or not such loans are considered past due.  When interest accrual
is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed.  Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received in excess of
the principal due.  Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments
are reasonably assured.
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An age analysis of past due loans still accruing and non-accrual loans is as follows:
 
  

September 30, 2014
 

  
Loans past due, still accruing

 
Non-accrual

 

  
30-59 Days

 
60-89 Days

 
90+Days

 
Loans

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
         

Commercial
 

$ 30
 

$ 16
 

$ 5
 

$ 1,375
 

Commercial real estate
 

2,418
 

3,275
 

—
 

1,583
 

Real estate construction
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

917
 

Retail real estate
 

531
 

64
 

60
 

1,345
 

Retail other
 

6
 

10
 

—
 

—
 

Total Illinois/Indiana
 

$ 2,985
 

$ 3,365
 

$ 65
 

$ 5,220
 

          
Florida

         

Commercial
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

Commercial real estate
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

2,588
 

Real estate construction
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

91
 

Retail real estate
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

782
 

Retail other
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Total Florida
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 3,461
 

Total
 

$ 2,985
 

$ 3,365
 

$ 65
 

$ 8,681
 

          
  

December 31, 2013
 

  
Loans past due, still accruing

 
Non-accrual

 

  
30-59 Days

 
60-89 Days

 
90+Days

 
Loans

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 
         



Illinois/Indiana
Commercial

 

$ 906
 

$ 279
 

$ 92
 

$ 975
 

Commercial real estate
 

567
 

3,736
 

—
 

4,597
 

Real estate construction
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

3,862
 

Retail real estate
 

483
 

123
 

103
 

3,936
 

Retail other
 

20
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Total Illinois/Indiana
 

$ 1,976
 

$ 4,138
 

$ 195
 

$ 13,370
 

          
Florida

         

Commercial
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

Commercial real estate
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

3,073
 

Real estate construction
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Retail real estate
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

721
 

Retail other
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Total Florida
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 3,794
 

Total
 

$ 1,976
 

$ 4,138
 

$ 195
 

$ 17,164
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A loan is impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable the Company will be unable to collect scheduled principal and interest
payments when due according to the terms of the loan agreement.  Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment status,
collateral value, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due.  Loans that experience insignificant payment delays
and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired.  Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-
by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the
delay, the borrower’s prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed.  The following loans are assessed for
impairment by the Company: loans 60 days or more past due and over $0.25 million, loans graded 8 over $0.5 million and loans graded 9 or 10.
 
Impairment is measured on a loan-by-loan basis for commercial and construction loans by either the present value of the expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, the loan’s observable market price, or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent.  Large
groups of smaller balance homogenous loans are collectively evaluated for impairment.  Accordingly, the Company does not separately identify individual
consumer and residential loans for impairment disclosures unless such loans are the subject of a restructuring agreement.
 
The gross interest income that would have been recorded in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 if impaired loans had been current in
accordance with their original terms was $0.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively.  The amount of interest collected on those loans and recognized on a
cash basis that was included in interest income was insignificant for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014.
 
The Company’s loan portfolio includes certain loans that have been modified in a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”), where concessions have been granted
to borrowers who have experienced financial difficulties. The Company will restructure loans for its customers who appear to be able to meet the terms of
their loan over the long term, but who may be unable to meet the terms of the loan in the near term due to individual circumstances.
 
The Company considers the customer’s past performance, previous and current credit history, the individual circumstances surrounding the current difficulties
and the customer’s plan to meet the terms of the loan in the future prior to restructuring the terms of the loan.  Generally, all five primary areas of lending are
restructured through short-term interest rate relief, short-term principal payment relief, short-term principal and interest payment relief, or forbearance (debt
forgiveness).  Once a restructured loan has gone 90+ days past due or is placed on non-accrual status, it is included in the non-performing loan totals. A
summary of restructured loans as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is as follows:
 

  
September 30, 2014

 
December 31, 2013

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Restructured loans:
     

In compliance with modified terms
 

$ 11,050
 

$ 11,511
 

30 – 89 days past due
 

—
 

380
 

Included in non-performing loans
 

2,253
 

5,919
 

Total
 

$ 13,303
 

$ 17,810
 

 
All TDRs are considered to be impaired for purposes of assessing the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and for financial reporting purposes.  When
the Company modifies a loan in a TDR, it evaluates any possible impairment similar to other impaired loans based on present value of the expected future
cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, the loan’s observable market price, or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral
dependent.  If the Company determines that the value of the TDR is less than the recorded investment in the loan, impairment is recognized through an
allowance estimate in the period of the modification and in periods subsequent to the modification.
 
There were no performing loans classified as TDRs during the three months ended September 30, 2014.  Performing loans classified as TDRs during the nine
months ended September 30, 2014 were insignificant.
 
Performing loans classified as TDRs during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 included one commercial real estate modification in
Illinois/Indiana for short-term principal payment relief, with a recorded investment of $0.2 million.  Performing loans classified as TDRs during the nine
months ended September 30, 2013 also included one commercial real estate modification in Florida for short-term interest rate relief, with a recorded
investment of $0.1 million.
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The gross interest income that would have been recorded in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 if performing TDRs had been in
accordance with their original terms instead of modified terms was insignificant.
 
There were no TDRs that were classified as non-performing and had payment defaults (a default occurs when a loan is 90 days or more past due or transferred
to non-accrual) during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014.
 
TDRs that were classified as non-performing and had payment defaults during the three months ended September 30, 2013 consisted of one Florida retail real
estate modification totaling $0.1 million.  TDRs that were classified as non-performing and had payment defaults during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 consisted of one Illinois/Indiana commercial real estate modification totaling $1.7 million, one Illinois/Indiana real estate construction
modification totaling $0.3 million, four Illinois/Indiana retail real estate modifications totaling $1.1 million and two Florida retail real estate modifications
totaling $0.2 million.
 
The following tables provide details of impaired loans, segregated by category and geography. The unpaid contractual principal balance represents the
recorded balance prior to any partial charge-offs.  The recorded investment represents customer balances net of any partial charge-offs recognized on the
loan.  The average recorded investment is calculated using the most recent four quarters.

 
  

September 30, 2014
 

  

Unpaid
Contractual

Principal
Balance

 

Recorded
Investment

with No
Allowance

 

Recorded
Investment

with
Allowance

 

Total
Recorded

Investment
 

Related
Allowance

 

Average
Recorded

Investment
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Commercial
 

$ 3,294
 

$ 1,703
 

$ 707
 

$ 2,410
 

$ 590
 

$ 2,618
 

Commercial real estate
 

5,477
 

1,705
 

2,316
 

4,021
 

1,139
 

6,495
 

Real estate construction
 

918
 

808
 

110
 

918
 

48
 

3,190
 

Retail real estate
 

2,842
 

2,457
 

25
 

2,482
 

25
 

3,592
 

Retail other
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Total Illinois/Indiana
 

$ 12,531
 

$ 6,673
 

$ 3,158
 

$ 9,831
 

$ 1,802
 

$ 15,895
 

              
Florida

             

Commercial
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 2
 

Commercial real estate
 

4,737
 

3,365
 

1,286
 

4,651
 

382
 

4,966
 

Real estate construction
 

634
 

634
 

—
 

634
 

—
 

461
 

Retail real estate
 

10,215
 

8,885
 

537
 

9,422
 

337
 

9,504
 

Retail other
 

8
 

—
 

8
 

8
 

8
 

3
 

Total Florida
 

$ 15,594
 

$ 12,884
 

$ 1,831
 

$ 14,715
 

$ 727
 

$ 14,936
 

Total
 

$ 28,125
 

$ 19,557
 

$ 4,989
 

$ 24,546
 

$ 2,529
 

$ 30,831
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December 31, 2013
 

  

Unpaid
Contractual

Principal
Balance

 

Recorded
Investment

with No
Allowance

 

Recorded
Investment

with
Allowance

 

Total
Recorded

Investment
 

Related
Allowance

 

Average
Recorded

Investment
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Commercial
 

$ 2,825
 

$ 1,684
 

$ 602
 

$ 2,286
 

$ 485
 

$ 4,169
 

Commercial real estate
 

8,866
 

3,671
 

3,740
 

7,411
 

1,977
 

10,335
 

Real estate construction
 

4,932
 

2,292
 

1,570
 

3,862
 

468
 

5,889
 

Retail real estate
 

5,583
 

3,267
 

2,010
 

5,277
 

604
 

5,296
 

Retail other
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Total Illinois/Indiana
 

$ 22,206
 

$ 10,914
 

$ 7,922
 

$ 18,836
 

$ 3,534
 

$ 25,689
 

              
Florida

             

Commercial
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

Commercial real estate
 

7,108
 

3,946
 

1,319
 

5,265
 

416
 

6,662
 

Real estate construction
 

417
 

417
 

—
 

417
 

—
 

1,294
 

Retail real estate
 

10,346
 

9,005
 

537
 

9,542
 

337
 

11,079
 

Retail other
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Total Florida
 

$ 17,871
 

$ 13,368
 

$ 1,856
 

$ 15,224
 

$ 753
 

$ 19,035
 

Total
 

$ 40,077
 

$ 24,282
 

$ 9,778
 

$ 34,060
 

$ 4,287
 

$ 44,724
 

 
Management’s opinion as to the ultimate collectability of loans is subject to estimates regarding future cash flows from operations and the value of property,
real and personal, pledged as collateral.  These estimates are affected by changing economic conditions and the economic prospects of borrowers.
 
Allowance for Loan Losses
 
The allowance for loan losses represents an estimate of the amount of losses believed inherent in the Company’s loan portfolio at the balance sheet date.  The
allowance for loan losses is evaluated geographically, by class of loans.  The allowance calculation involves a high degree of estimation that management
attempts to mitigate through the use of objective historical data where available. Loan losses are charged against the allowance for loan losses when
management believes the uncollectibility of the loan balance is confirmed.  Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance.  Overall, the
Company believes the allowance methodology is consistent with prior periods and the balance was adequate to cover the estimated losses in the Company’s
loan portfolio at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013.
 



The general portion of the Company’s allowance contains two components: (i) a component for historical loss ratios, and (ii) a component for adversely
graded loans.  The historical loss ratio component is an annualized loss rate calculated using a sum-of-years digits weighted 20-quarter historical average.
 
The Company’s component for adversely graded loans attempts to quantify the additional risk of loss inherent in the grade 8 and grade 9 portfolios.  The
grade 9 portfolio has an additional allocation placed on those loans determined by a one-year charge-off percentage for the respective loan type/geography. 
The minimum additional reserve on a grade 9 loan was 3.00% as of each of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, which is an estimate of the
additional loss inherent in these loan grades based upon a review of overall historical charge-offs.  As of September 30, 2014, the Company believed this
minimum reserve remained adequate.
 
Grade 8 loans have an additional allocation placed on them determined by the trend difference of the respective loan type/geography’s rolling 12- and 20-
quarter historical loss trends. If the rolling 12-quarter average is higher (more current information) than the rolling 20-quarter average, the Company adds the
additional amount to the allocation.  The minimum additional amount for grade 8 loans was 1.00% as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, based
upon a review of the differences between the rolling 12- and 20-quarter historical loss averages by region.  As of September 30, 2014, the Company believed
this minimum additional amount remained adequate.
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The specific portion of the Company’s allowance relates to loans that are impaired, which includes non-performing loans, TDRs and other loans determined
to be impaired.  The impaired loans are subtracted from the general loans and are allocated specific reserves as discussed above.
 
Impaired loans are reported at the fair value of the underlying collateral, less estimated costs to sell, if repayment is expected solely from the collateral.
Collateral values are estimated using a combination of observable inputs, including recent appraisals discounted for collateral specific changes and current
market conditions, and unobservable inputs based on customized discounting criteria.
 
The general quantitative allocation based upon historical charge off rates is adjusted for qualitative factors based on current general economic conditions and
other qualitative risk factors both internal and external to the Company. In general, such valuation allowances are determined by evaluating, among other
things:  (i) Management & Staff; (ii) Loan Underwriting, Policy and Procedures; (iii) Internal/External Audit & Loan Review; (iv) Valuation of Underlying
Collateral; (v) Macro and Local Economic Factor; (vi) Impact of Competition, Legal & Regulatory Issues; (vii) Nature and Volume of Loan Portfolio;
(viii) Concentrations of Credit; (ix) Net Charge-Off Trend; and (x) Non-Accrual, Past Due and Classified Trend.  Management evaluates the degree of risk
that each one of these components has on the quality of the loan portfolio on a quarterly basis.  Based on each component’s risk factor, a qualitative
adjustment to the reserve may be applied to the appropriate loan categories.
 
During the third quarter of 2014, the Company adjusted Illinois/Indiana qualitative factors relating to Loan Underwriting, Policy and Procedures, Macro and
Local Economic Factor, Nature and Volume of Loan Portfolio, and Net Charge-Off Trend.  Additionally, the Company adjusted Florida qualitative factors
relating to Loan Underwriting, Policy and Procedures, Macro and Local Economic Factor, and Net Charge-Off Trend.  The adjustment of these factors
increased our allowance requirements by $5.3 million at September 30, 2014 compared to the method used for June 30, 2014.  Further, during the first quarter
of 2014, the Company adjusted Illinois/Indiana and Florida qualitative factors relating to Net Charge-Off Trend compared to the method used for
December 31, 2013.  Adjustments to increase these qualitative factors were made in the third and first quarters of 2014 to recognize perceived changing
degrees of risk, offset decreasing quantitative factors and reflect management’s evaluation of risk.  The Company will continue to monitor its qualitative
factors on a quarterly basis.
 
The following table details activity on the allowance for loan losses.  Allocation of a portion of the allowance to one category does not preclude its
availability to absorb losses in other categories.
 
  

As of and for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
 

  
Commercial

 

Commercial
Real Estate

 

Real Estate
Construction

 

Retail Real
Estate

 
Retail Other

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Beginning balance
 

$ 7,695
 

$ 15,426
 

$ 2,776
 

$ 10,802
 

$ 238
 

$ 36,937
 

Provision for loan loss
 

1,031
 

2,208
 

(623) (1,986) 130
 

760
 

Charged-off
 

(121) —
 

—
 

(388) (114) (623)
Recoveries

 

29
 

39
 

—
 

120
 

44
 

232
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 8,634
 

$ 17,673
 

$ 2,153
 

$ 8,548
 

$ 298
 

$ 37,306
 

              
Florida

             

Beginning balance
 

$ 1,782
 

$ 4,976
 

$ 175
 

$ 3,554
 

$ 4
 

$ 10,491
 

Provision for loan loss
 

(539) 116
 

5
 

(345) 3
 

(760)
Charged-off

 

(6) —
 

—
 

(55) (1) (62)
Recoveries

 

18
 

—
 

—
 

15
 

6
 

39
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 1,255
 

$ 5,092
 

$ 180
 

$ 3,169
 

$ 12
 

$ 9,708
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As of and for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
 

  
Commercial

 

Commercial
Real Estate

 

Real Estate
Construction

 

Retail Real
Estate

 
Retail Other

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Beginning balance
 

$ 8,452
 

$ 16,379
 

$ 2,540
 

$ 6,862
 

$ 216
 

$ 34,449
 

Provision for loan loss
 

879
 

2,388
 

(241) 3,540
 

242
 

6,808
 

Charged-off
 

(825) (1,173) (657) (2,079) (306) (5,040)
Recoveries

 

128
 

79
 

511
 

225
 

146
 

1,089
 

       



Ending Balance $ 8,634 $ 17,673 $ 2,153 $ 8,548 $ 298 $ 37,306
              
Florida

             

Beginning balance
 

$ 1,926
 

$ 5,733
 

$ 1,168
 

$ 4,287
 

$ 4
 

$ 13,118
 

Provision for loan loss
 

(807) (912) (1,983) (1,096) (10) (4,808)
Charged-off

 

(26) —
 

—
 

(192) (1) (219)
Recoveries

 

162
 

271
 

995
 

170
 

19
 

1,617
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 1,255
 

$ 5,092
 

$ 180
 

$ 3,169
 

$ 12
 

$ 9,708
 

 
  

As of and for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013
 

  
Commercial

 

Commercial
Real Estate

 

Real Estate
Construction

 

Retail Real
Estate

 
Retail Other

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Beginning balance
 

$ 7,514
 

$ 13,723
 

$ 2,514
 

$ 8,256
 

$ 240
 

$ 32,247
 

Provision for loan loss
 

363
 

316
 

(241) 1,024
 

49
 

1,511
 

Charged-off
 

(241) (44) —
 

(446) (117) (848)
Recoveries

 

37
 

145
 

21
 

112
 

59
 

374
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 7,673
 

$ 14,140
 

$ 2,294
 

$ 8,946
 

$ 231
 

$ 33,284
 

              
Florida

             

Beginning balance
 

$ 1,505
 

$ 7,656
 

$ 2,693
 

$ 4,387
 

$ 3
 

$ 16,244
 

Provision for loan loss
 

687
 

1,504
 

(1,690) (9) (3) 489
 

Charged-off
 

—
 

(2,298) 2
 

(56) (2) (2,354)
Recoveries

 

22
 

2
 

225
 

47
 

5
 

301
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 2,214
 

$ 6,864
 

$ 1,230
 

$ 4,369
 

$ 3
 

$ 14,680
 

              
  

As of and for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013
 

  
Commercial

 

Commercial
Real Estate

 

Real Estate
Construction

 

Retail Real
Estate

 
Retail Other

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Beginning balance
 

$ 6,597
 

$ 15,023
 

$ 2,527
 

$ 8,110
 

$ 322
 

$ 32,579
 

Provision for loan loss
 

1,617
 

(371) 558
 

1,592
 

14
 

3,410
 

Charged-off
 

(663) (954) (1,071) (1,068) (404) (4,160)
Recoveries

 

122
 

442
 

280
 

312
 

299
 

1,455
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 7,673
 

$ 14,140
 

$ 2,294
 

$ 8,946
 

$ 231
 

$ 33,284
 

              
Florida

             

Beginning balance
 

$ 1,437
 

$ 6,062
 

$ 2,315
 

$ 5,614
 

$ 5
 

$ 15,433
 

Provision for loan loss
 

722
 

3,356
 

(1,332) (143) (13) 2,590
 

Charged-off
 

—
 

(2,543) (55) (1,615) (7) (4,220)
Recoveries

 

55
 

(11) 302
 

513
 

18
 

877
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 2,214
 

$ 6,864
 

$ 1,230
 

$ 4,369
 

$ 3
 

$ 14,680
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The following table presents the allowance for loan losses and recorded investments in loans by category and geography:
 
  

As of September 30, 2014
 

  
Commercial

 

Commercial
Real Estate

 

Real Estate
Construction

 

Retail Real
Estate

 
Retail Other

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Amount allocated to:
             

Loans individually evaluated for
impairment

 

$ 590
 

$ 1,139
 

$ 48
 

$ 25
 

$ —
 

$ 1,802
 

Loans collectively evaluated for
impairment

 

8,044
 

16,534
 

2,105
 

8,523
 

298
 

35,504
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 8,634
 

$ 17,673
 

$ 2,153
 

$ 8,548
 

$ 298
 

$ 37,306
 

              
Loans:

             

Loans individually evaluated for
impairment

 

$ 2,410
 

$ 4,021
 

$ 918
 

$ 2,482
 

$ —
 

$ 9,831
 

Loans collectively evaluated for
impairment

 

543,619
 

965,262
 

61,856
 

467,921
 

10,007
 

2,048,665
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 546,029
 

$ 969,283
 

$ 62,774
 

$ 470,403
 

$ 10,007
 

$ 2,058,496
 

              
Florida

             

Amount allocated to:
             

Loans individually evaluated for
impairment

 

$ —
 

$ 382
 

$ —
 

$ 337
 

$ 8
 

$ 727
 

Loans collectively evaluated for
impairment

 

1,255
 

4,710
 

180
 

2,832
 

4
 

8,981
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 1,255
 

$ 5,092
 

$ 180
 

$ 3,169
 

$ 12
 

$ 9,708
 



              
Loans:

             

Loans individually evaluated for
impairment

 

$ —
 

$ 4,651
 

$ 634
 

$ 9,422
 

$ 8
 

$ 14,715
 

Loans collectively evaluated for
impairment

 

18,794
 

163,550
 

16,411
 

95,316
 

543
 

294,614
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 18,794
 

$ 168,201
 

$ 17,045
 

$ 104,738
 

$ 551
 

$ 309,329
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As of December 31, 2013
 

  
Commercial

 

Commercial
Real Estate

 

Real Estate
Construction

 

Retail Real
Estate

 

Retail
Other

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Illinois/Indiana
             

Amount allocated to:
             

Loans individually evaluated for
impairment

 

$ 485
 

$ 1,977
 

$ 468
 

$ 604
 

$ —
 

$ 3,534
 

Loans collectively evaluated for
impairment

 

7,967
 

14,402
 

2,072
 

6,258
 

216
 

30,915
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 8,452
 

$ 16,379
 

$ 2,540
 

$ 6,862
 

$ 216
 

$ 34,449
 

              
Loans:

             

Loans individually evaluated for
impairment

 

$ 2,286
 

$ 7,411
 

$ 3,862
 

$ 5,277
 

$ —
 

$ 18,836
 

Loans collectively evaluated for
impairment

 

557,790
 

924,607
 

57,567
 

413,020
 

8,515
 

1,961,499
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 560,076
 

$ 932,018
 

$ 61,429
 

$ 418,297
 

$ 8,515
 

$ 1,980,335
 

              
Florida

             

Amount allocated to:
             

Loans individually evaluated for
impairment

 

$ —
 

$ 416
 

$ —
 

$ 337
 

$ —
 

$ 753
 

Loans collectively evaluated for
impairment

 

1,926
 

5,317
 

1,168
 

3,950
 

4
 

12,365
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 1,926
 

$ 5,733
 

$ 1,168
 

$ 4,287
 

$ 4
 

$ 13,118
 

              
Loans:

             

Loans individually evaluated for
impairment

 

$ —
 

$ 5,265
 

$ 417
 

$ 9,542
 

$ —
 

$ 15,224
 

Loans collectively evaluated for
impairment

 

20,536
 

154,990
 

17,009
 

92,814
 

552
 

285,901
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 20,536
 

$ 160,255
 

$ 17,426
 

$ 102,356
 

$ 552
 

$ 301,125
 

 
Note 5: Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase
 
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, which are classified as secured borrowings, generally mature either daily or within one year from the
transaction date.  Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are reflected at the amount of cash received in connection with the transaction.  The
underlying securities are held by the Company’s safekeeping agent.  The Company may be required to provide additional collateral based on the fair value of
the underlying securities.  The following table sets forth the distribution of securities sold under agreements to repurchase and weighted average interest rates:
 

  

September 30,
2014

 

December 31,
2013

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Balance at end of period
 

$ 157,282
 

$ 172,348
 

Weighted average interest rate at end of period
 

0.11% 0.13%
Maximum outstanding at any month end in year-to-date period

 

$ 157,282
 

$ 172,348
 

Average daily balance for the year-to-date period
 

$ 137,424
 

$ 137,777
 

Weighted average interest rate during period (1)
 

0.11% 0.14%
 

(1)The weighted average interest rate is computed by dividing total interest for the year-to-date period by the average daily balance outstanding.
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Note 6:  Earnings Per Common Share
 
Earnings per common share have been computed as follows:
 

  

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

  
2014

 
2013

 
2014

 
2013

 

  
(in thousands, except per share data)

 



          
Net income available to common stockholders

 

$ 8,927
 

$ 7,024
 

$ 24,636
 

$ 19,081
 

Shares:
         

Weighted average common shares outstanding
 

86,920
 

86,801
 

86,894
 

86,745
 

          
Dilutive effect of outstanding options, warrants and restricted

stock units as determined by the application of the treasury
stock method

 

419
 

275
 

368
 

299
 

          
Weighted average common shares outstanding, as adjusted for

diluted earnings per share calculation
 

87,339
 

87,076
 

87,262
 

87,044
 

          
Basic earnings per common share

 

$ 0.10
 

$ 0.08
 

$ 0.28
 

$ 0.22
 

          
Diluted earnings per common share

 

$ 0.10
 

$ 0.08
 

$ 0.28
 

$ 0.22
 

 
Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding.
 
Diluted earnings per common share is computed using the treasury stock method and reflects the potential dilution that could occur if the Company’s
outstanding stock options were exercised and restricted stock units were vested.  Stock options and restricted stock units for which the exercise or the grant
price exceeds the average market price over the period have an anti-dilutive effect and are excluded from the calculation.  At September 30, 2014, 457,630
outstanding options, 573,833 warrants, and 353,976 restricted stock units were anti-dilutive and excluded from the calculation of common stock equivalents. 
At September 30, 2013, 648,529 outstanding options, 573,833 warrants, and 380,252 restricted stock units were anti-dilutive and excluded from the
calculation of common stock equivalents.
 
Note 7:  Stock-based Compensation
 
The Company grants share-based compensation awards to its employees and members of its board of directors as provided for under the Company’s 2010
Equity Incentive Plan. The Company currently grants share-based compensation in the form of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and deferred stock units
(“DSUs”).  The Company also has outstanding stock options granted prior to 2011.  Under the terms of the Company’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, the
Company is allowed, but not required, to source stock option exercises and grants of RSUs and DSUs from its inventory of treasury stock.  As of
September 30, 2014, the Company held 1,442,257 shares in treasury, with 895,655 additional shares authorized for repurchase under its stock repurchase
plan.  The repurchase plan has no expiration date and expires when the Company has repurchased all of the remaining authorized shares.
 
A description of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan can be found in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The
Company’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan is designed to encourage ownership of its common stock by its employees and directors, to provide additional
incentive for them to promote the success of its business, and to attract and retain talented personnel.  All of the Company’s employees and directors, and
those of its subsidiaries, are eligible to receive awards under the plan.
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A summary of the status of and changes in the Company’s stock option awards for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 follows:
 

    
Weighted-

 
Weighted-

 

    
Average

 
Average

 

  
Shares

 

Exercise
Price

 

Remaining Contractual
Term

 

        
Outstanding at beginning of year

 

696,379
 

$ 17.22
   

Granted
 

—
 

—
   

Exercised
 

—
 

—
   

Forfeited
 

186,249
 

19.67
   

Outstanding at end of period
 

510,130
 

$ 16.33
 

1.97
 

Exercisable at end of period
 

510,130
 

$ 16.33
 

1.97
 

 
The Company did not record any stock option compensation expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 or 2013.
 
A summary of the changes in the Company’s stock unit awards for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, is as follows:
 

    
Director

   
Weighted-

 

  
Restricted

 
Deferred

   
Average

 

  
Stock

 
Stock

   
Grant Date

 

  
Units

 
Units

 
Total

 
Fair Value

 

Non-vested at beginning of year
 

914,968
 

34,014
 

948,982
 

$ 4.96
 

Granted
 

304,277
 

49,699
 

353,976
 

5.84
 

Dividend Equivalents Earned
 

25,150
 

1,051
 

26,201
 

5.53
 

Vested
 

(15,728) (29,491) (45,219) 5.02
 

Forfeited
 

(44,109) —
 

(44,109) 4.73
 

Non-vested at end of period
 

1,184,558
 

55,273
 

1,239,831
 

$ 5.23
 

Outstanding at end of period
 

1,184,558
 

144,822
 

1,329,380
 

$ 5.22
 

 
All recipients earn quarterly dividend equivalents on their respective units. These dividend equivalents are not paid out during the vesting period, but instead
entitle the recipients to additional units. Therefore, dividends earned each quarter compound based upon the updated unit balances.  Upon vesting/delivery,
shares are expected to be issued from treasury.



 
On June 23, 2014, under the terms of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, the Company granted 304,277 RSUs to members of management.  As the stock price on
the grant date of June 23, 2014 was $5.84, total compensation cost to be recognized is $1.8 million.  This cost will be recognized over a period of two to five
years.   Subsequent to each requisite service period, the awards will vest 100%.
 
Additionally, on June 23, 2014, under the terms of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, the Company granted 36,000 DSUs to directors.  As the stock price on the
grant date of June 23, 2014 was $5.84, total compensation cost to be recognized is $0.2 million. This cost will be recognized over the requisite service period
of one year from the date of grant or the next annual shareholders’ meeting; whichever is earlier. The Company also granted 13,699 DSUs to the Chairman of
the Board.  As the stock price on the grant date of June 23, 2014 was $5.84, total compensation cost to be recognized is $0.1 million. This cost will be
recognized over a period of five years.  Subsequent to the requisite service period, the awards will vest 100%. These DSUs generally are subject to the same
terms as RSUs under the Company’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, except that, following vesting, settlement occurs within 30 days following the earlier of
separation from the Board or a change in control of the Company.  Subsequent to vesting and prior to delivery, these units will continue to earn dividend
equivalents.
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The Company recognized $0.3 million of compensation expense related to non-vested stock units for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013. 
The Company recognized $0.8 million and $0.7 million of compensation expense related to non-vested stock units for the nine months ended September 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively.  As of September 30, 2014, there was $3.9 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to these non-vested stock
units.  This cost is expected to be recognized over a period of 3.7 years.
 
Note 8:  Income Taxes
 
At September 30, 2014, the Company was under examination by the Illinois Department of Revenue for the Company’s 2011 and 2012 income tax filings.
 
Note 9:  Outstanding Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
 
Legal Matters
 
The Company is a party to legal actions which arise in the normal course of its business activities.  In the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of
these matters is not expected to have a material effect on the financial position or the results of operations of the Company.
 
Credit Commitments and Contingencies
 
The Company is a party to credit-related financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its
customers.  These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit.  Those instruments involve, to varying degrees,
elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 
The Company’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of those commitments.  The Company uses the same credit policies in
making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments.  A summary of the contractual amount of the Company’s
exposure to off-balance-sheet risk relating to the Company’s commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit follows:
 
  

September 30, 2014
 

December 31, 2013
 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Financial instruments whose contract amounts represent credit risk:
     

Commitments to extend credit
 

$ 575,586
 

$ 527,614
 

Standby letters of credit
 

13,601
 

10,155
 

 
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as no condition established in the contract has been violated.  These commitments
are generally at variable interest rates and generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee.  The
commitments for equity lines of credit may expire without being drawn upon.  Therefore, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future
cash requirements.  The amount of collateral obtained, if it is deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of credit, is based on management’s credit
evaluation of the customer.
 
Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Company to guarantee the performance of a customer’s obligation to a third party.  Those
guarantees are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements, including bond financing and similar transactions and primarily have
terms of one year or less.  The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. 
The Company holds collateral, which may include accounts receivable, inventory, property and equipment, and income producing properties, supporting
those commitments if deemed necessary.  In the event the customer does not perform in accordance with the terms of the agreement with the third party, the
Company would be required to fund the commitment.  The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make is
represented by the contractual amount shown in the summary above.  If the commitment is funded, the Company would be entitled to seek recovery from the
customer.  As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, no amounts were recorded as liabilities for the Company’s potential obligations under these
guarantees.
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Note 10:  Reportable Segments and Related Information
 
The Company has three reportable segments, Busey Bank, FirsTech and Busey Wealth Management.  Busey Bank provides a full range of banking services to
individual and corporate customers through its branch network in downstate Illinois, through its branch in Indianapolis, Indiana, and through its branch
network in southwest Florida.  FirsTech provides remittance processing for online bill payments, lockbox and walk-in payments.  Busey Wealth Management



is the parent company of Busey Trust Company, which provides a full range of asset management, investment and fiduciary services to individuals,
businesses and foundations, tax preparation and philanthropic advisory services.
 
The Company’s three reportable segments are strategic business units that are separately managed as they offer different products and services and have
different marketing strategies.
 
The segment financial information provided below has been derived from the internal accounting system used by management to monitor and manage the
financial performance of the Company.  The accounting policies of the three segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Following is a summary of selected financial information for the Company’s business segments:
 
  

Goodwill
 

Total Assets
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2014

 
2013

 
2014

 
2013

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 
(dollars in thousands)

 

Goodwill & Total Assets:
         

Busey Bank
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 3,446,041
 

$ 3,456,555
 

FirsTech
 

8,992
 

8,992
 

28,135
 

27,253
 

Busey Wealth Management
 

11,694
 

11,694
 

30,273
 

28,548
 

All Other
 

—
 

—
 

16,468
 

27,219
 

Total
 

$ 20,686
 

$ 20,686
 

$ 3,520,917
 

$ 3,539,575
 

 
  

Three Months Ended September 30,
 

Nine Months Ended September 30,
 

  
2014

 
2013

 
2014

 
2013

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 
(dollars in thousands)

 

Interest Income:
         

Busey Bank
 

$ 27,430
 

$ 27,167
 

$ 80,184
 

$ 81,597
 

FirsTech
 

14
 

13
 

39
 

39
 

Busey Wealth Management
 

74
 

62
 

214
 

179
 

All Other
 

(7) (6) (19) (4)
Total interest income

 

$ 27,511
 

$ 27,236
 

$ 80,418
 

$ 81,811
 

          
Interest Expense:

         

Busey Bank
 

$ 1,312
 

$ 1,709
 

$ 4,072
 

$ 5,858
 

FirsTech
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Busey Wealth Management
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

All Other
 

288
 

294
 

857
 

892
 

Total interest expense
 

$ 1,600
 

$ 2,003
 

$ 4,929
 

$ 6,750
 

          
Other Income:

         

Busey Bank
 

$ 7,917
 

$ 9,447
 

$ 24,705
 

$ 29,542
 

FirsTech
 

2,412
 

2,167
 

7,208
 

6,445
 

Busey Wealth Management
 

4,426
 

4,540
 

14,077
 

13,286
 

All Other
 

(551) (524) (1,788) (1,219)
Total other income

 

$ 14,204
 

$ 15,630
 

$ 44,202
 

$ 48,054
 

          
Net Income:

         

Busey Bank
 

$ 8,195
 

$ 6,963
 

$ 22,910
 

$ 19,243
 

FirsTech
 

322
 

259
 

957
 

807
 

Busey Wealth Management
 

1,176
 

1,173
 

3,579
 

3,126
 

All Other
 

(584) (462) (2,265) (1,370)
Total net income

 

$ 9,109
 

$ 7,933
 

$ 25,181
 

$ 21,806
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Note 11: Derivative Financial Instruments
 
Starting in the first quarter of 2014, the Company began entering into loan agreements that settled in non-U.S. dollar denominations.  The foreign loan
balance, gross, translated into U.S. dollars as of September 30, 2014 was $1.4 million.
 
Foreign Currency Derivatives. The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts that are not designated as hedging instruments to mitigate the
economic effect of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on certain non-U.S. dollar denominated loans.  Due to the foreign loan activity beginning
in 2014, the Company implemented a new accounting policy based on existing accounting standards. Because the foreign currency forward contracts do not
meet hedge accounting requirements, gains and losses due to changes in their fair values are recognized in other income.
 
The notional amount and fair values of open foreign currency forward contracts were as follows:
 

  
September 30, 2014

 
December 31, 2013

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Forward contracts – foreign exchange:
     
   



Notional amount $ 1,392 $ —
Other assets – estimated fair value

 

13
 

—
 

Other liabilities – estimated fair value
 

—
 

—
 

 
The amount of gains and losses relating to foreign currency forward contracts included in other income for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2014 was insignificant.
 
Foreign currency forward contracts involve the risk of dealing with counterparties and their ability to meet contractual terms.  We believe the risk of incurring
losses due to nonperformance by our counterparties is manageable.
 
As of September 30, 2014, the Company had no other interest rate futures, forwards, swaps or option contracts, or other financial instruments with similar
characteristics with the exception of rate lock commitments on mortgage loans to be held for sale, which netted to an insignificant amount.
 
Note 12: Fair Value Measurements
 
The fair value of an asset or liability is the price that would be received by selling that asset or paid in transferring that liability in an orderly transaction
occurring in the principal market (or most advantageous market in the absence of a principal market) for such asset or liability. In estimating fair value, the
Company utilizes valuation techniques that are consistent with the market approach, the income approach and/or the cost approach. Such valuation techniques
are consistently applied. Inputs to valuation techniques include the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. FASB ASC
Topic 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:
 
Level 1 Inputs - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement
date.
 
Level 2 Inputs - Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These might
include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active,
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such as interest rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit risks, etc.) or inputs
that are derived principally from or corroborated by market data by correlation or other means.
 
Level 3 Inputs - Unobservable inputs for determining the fair values of assets or liabilities that reflect the Company’s own assumptions about the assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities.
 
A description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value, as well as the general classification of such instruments pursuant to
the valuation hierarchy, is set forth below. These valuation methodologies were applied to those Company assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value.
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There were no transfers between levels during the quarter ended September 30, 2014.
 
In general, fair value is based upon quoted market prices, when available. If such quoted market prices are not available, fair values are measured utilizing
independent valuation techniques of identical or similar securities for which significant assumptions are derived primarily from or corroborated by observable
data. Valuation adjustments may be made to ensure that financial instruments are recorded at fair value. These adjustments may include amounts to reflect,
among other things, counterparty credit quality and the company’s creditworthiness as well as unobservable parameters. Any such valuation adjustments are
applied consistently over time. The Company’s valuation methodologies may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable
value or reflective of future fair values. While management believes the Company’s valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate
of fair value at the reporting date.  Furthermore, the reported fair value amounts have not been comprehensively revalued since the presentation dates and,
therefore, estimates of fair value after the balance sheet date may differ significantly from the amounts presented herein.

 
Securities Available for Sale. Securities classified as available for sale are reported at fair value utilizing level 1 and level 2 measurements. For mutual funds
and other equity securities, unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets are utilized to determine fair value at the measurement date and
have been classified as level 1 in the ASC 820 fair value hierarchy.  For all other securities, the Company obtains fair value measurements from an
independent pricing service. The independent pricing service evaluations are based on market data.  The independent pricing service utilizes evaluated pricing
models that vary by asset class and incorporate available trade, bid and other market information.  Because many fixed income securities do not trade on a
daily basis, the independent pricing service evaluated pricing applications apply available information as applicable through processes such as benchmark
curves, benchmarking of like securities, sector groupings, and matrix pricing, to prepare evaluations.  In addition, the independent pricing service uses model
processes, such as the Option Adjusted Spread model, to assess interest rate impact and develop prepayment scenarios.  The models and processes take into
account market convention.  For each asset class, a team of evaluators gathers information from market sources and integrates relevant credit information,
perceived market movements and sector news into the evaluated pricing applications and models.
 
The market inputs that the independent pricing service normally seeks for evaluations of securities, listed in approximate order of priority, include: benchmark
yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers and reference data including market
research publications.  The independent pricing service also monitors market indicators, industry and economic events.  Information of this nature is a trigger
to acquire further market data.  For certain security types, additional inputs may be used or some of the market inputs may not be applicable.  Evaluators may
prioritize inputs differently on any given day for any security based on market conditions, and not all inputs listed are available for use in the evaluation
process for each security evaluation on a given day.  Because the data utilized was observable, the securities have been classified as level 2 in the ASC 820
fair value hierarchy.
 
Derivative Assets and Derivative Liabilities. Derivative assets and derivative liabilities are reported at fair value utilizing level 2 measurements.  Derivative
instruments with positive fair values are reported as an asset and derivative instruments with negative fair value are reported as liabilities.  The fair value of
derivative assets and liabilities is determined based on prices obtained from a third party.  Values of derivative assets and liabilities are primarily based on
observable inputs and are classified as level 2 in the ASC 820 fair value hierarchy.
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The following table summarizes financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, segregated by the level of the valuation inputs within the fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value:
 
  

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Level 3
 

Total
 

  
Inputs

 
Inputs

 
Inputs

 
Fair Value

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

September 30, 2014
         

Securities available for sale
         

U.S. Treasury securities
 

$ —
 

$ 50,577
 

$ —
 

$ 50,577
 

Obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies
 

—
 

188,636
 

—
 

188,636
 

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
 

—
 

237,162
 

—
 

237,162
 

Residential mortgage-backed securities
 

—
 

245,572
 

—
 

245,572
 

Corporate debt securities
 

—
 

73,958
 

—
 

73,958
 

Mutual funds and other equity securities
 

7,160
 

—
 

—
 

7,160
 

Derivative assets
         

Foreign currency forward contracts
 

—
 

13
 

—
 

13
 

Derivative liabilities
         

Foreign currency forward contracts
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

          
December 31, 2013

         

Securities available for sale
         

U.S. Treasury securities
 

$ —
 

$ 102,640
 

$ —
 

$ 102,640
 

Obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies
 

—
 

257,411
 

—
 

257,411
 

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
 

—
 

272,152
 

—
 

272,152
 

Residential mortgage-backed securities
 

—
 

177,735
 

—
 

177,735
 

Corporate debt securities
 

—
 

25,506
 

—
 

25,506
 

Mutual funds and other equity securities
 

5,866
 

—
 

—
 

5,866
 

 
Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis; that is, the instruments are not measured at fair value on an
ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances (for example, when there is evidence of impairment).
 
Impaired Loans. The Company does not record loans at fair value on a recurring basis. However, periodically, a loan is considered impaired and is reported at
the fair value of the underlying collateral, less estimated costs to sell, if repayment is expected solely from the collateral.  Impaired loans measured at fair
value typically consist of loans on non-accrual status and restructured loans in compliance with modified terms.  Collateral values are estimated using a
combination of observable inputs, including recent appraisals, and unobservable inputs based on customized discounting criteria. Due to the significance of
the unobservable inputs, all impaired loan fair values have been classified as level 3 in the ASC 820 fair value hierarchy.
 
OREO.  Non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities measured at fair value include OREO (upon initial recognition or subsequent impairment). OREO
properties are measured using a combination of observable inputs, including recent appraisals, and unobservable inputs based on customized discounting
criteria. Due to the significance of the unobservable inputs, all OREO fair values have been classified as level 3 in the ASC 820 fair value hierarchy.
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The following table summarizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013,
segregated by the level of the valuation inputs within the fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value:
 
  

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Level 3
 

Total
 

  
Inputs

 
Inputs

 
Inputs

 
Fair Value

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

September 30, 2014
         

Impaired loans
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 2,460
 

$ 2,460
 

OREO
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

          
December 31, 2013

         

Impaired loans
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 5,491
 

$ 5,491
 

OREO
 

—
 

—
 

1,134
 

1,134
 

 
The following table presents additional quantitative information about assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis for which the Company has
utilized level 3 inputs to determine fair value:
 
  

Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements
  

Fair Value
 

Valuation
 

Unobservable
 

Range
  

Estimate
 

Techniques
 

Input
 

(Weighted Average)
  

(dollars in thousands)
      

September 30, 2014
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         
Impaired loans

 

$ 2,460
 

Appraisal of collateral
 

Appraisal adjustments
 

-0.6% to -100.0%
(-48.0%)

OREO
 

—
 

Appraisal of collateral
 

Appraisal adjustments
 

-%
(-%)

December 31, 2013
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         
    



Impaired loans $ 5,491 Appraisal of collateral Appraisal adjustments -0.4% to -100.0%
(-36.0%)

OREO
 

1,134
 

Appraisal of collateral
 

Appraisal adjustments
 

-6.6% to -100.0%
(-47.9%)
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The estimated fair values of financial instruments that are reported at amortized cost in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, segregated by the level
of the valuation inputs within the fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value, were as follows:
 
  

September 30, 2014
 

December 31, 2013
 

  
Carrying

 
Fair

 
Carrying

 
Fair

 

  
Amount

 
Value

 
Amount

 
Value

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Financial assets:
         

Level 2 inputs:
         

Cash and due from banks
 

$ 179,724
 

$ 179,724
 

$ 231,603
 

$ 231,603
 

Securities held to maturity
 

2,384
 

2,421
 

834
 

831
 

Loans held for sale
 

12,090
 

12,355
 

13,840
 

14,103
 

Accrued interest receivable
 

12,219
 

12,219
 

11,148
 

11,148
 

Level 3 inputs:
         

Loans, net
 

2,320,811
 

2,323,621
 

2,233,893
 

2,236,841
 

          
Financial liabilities:

         

Level 2 inputs:
         

Deposits
 

$ 2,825,394
 

$ 2,825,499
 

$ 2,869,138
 

$ 2,870,870
 

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
 

157,282
 

157,282
 

172,348
 

172,348
 

Long-term debt
 

30,000
 

30,000
 

—
 

—
 

Junior subordinated debt owed to unconsolidated
trusts

 

55,000
 

55,000
 

55,000
 

55,000
 

Accrued interest payable
 

527
 

527
 

673
 

673
 

 
The fair value of loans, net reflects general changes in the interest rate curve used to calculate fair values based on cash flows.
 
FASB ASC Topic 825 requires disclosure of the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including those financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured and reported at fair value on a recurring basis or non-recurring basis. A detailed description of the valuation methodologies used in
estimating the fair value of financial instruments is set forth in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.
 
During the third quarter of 2014, the Company executed $30.0 million in Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) overnight discount note indexed advances. 
The variable rate notes range in maturity from seven to ten years with options to prepay at par prior to maturity.
 
Note 13: Pending Acquisitions
 
On September 25, 2014, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) by and among First Busey, FBC Acquisition
LLC, a newly-formed Nevada limited liability corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of First Busey, and Herget Financial Corp., a Delaware corporation
(“Herget Financial”), pursuant to which First Busey will acquire Herget Financial and its wholly-owned bank subsidiary, Herget Bank, National Association
(“Herget Bank”).  Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, First Busey will acquire 100% of Herget Financial’s outstanding common stock for aggregate
cash consideration of $34.1 million. Each share of Herget Financial common stock will be entitled to receive $588.00 in cash. The merger consideration is
subject to certain downward adjustments as set forth in the Merger Agreement. It is anticipated that Herget Bank will be merged with and into First Busey’s
bank subsidiary, Busey Bank, upon completion of the transaction. At that time, Herget Bank’s banking offices will become branches of Busey Bank. As of
September 30, 2014, Herget Financial and Herget Bank had total consolidated assets of $275.1 million.  The merger is anticipated to be completed in early
2015, and is subject to the satisfaction of the closing conditions in the Merger Agreement and the approval of the appropriate regulatory authorities.
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ITEM 2.   MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

The following is management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition of First Busey Corporation and its subsidiaries (referred to herein as “First
Busey,” “Company,” “we,” or “our”) at September 30, 2014 (unaudited), as compared with June 30, 2014 (unaudited), December 31, 2013 and September 30,
2013 (unaudited), and the results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 (unaudited), and, in certain instances, the
three months ended June 30, 2014 (unaudited).  Management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this quarterly report, as well as the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013.
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
 
Operating Results
 
First Busey Corporation’s net income for the third quarter of 2014 was $9.1 million and net income available to common stockholders was $8.9 million, or
$0.10 per fully-diluted common share.  Net income increased from the third quarter of 2013, when the Company reported net income of $7.9 million and net
income available to common stockholders of $7.0 million, or $0.08 per fully-diluted common share.  Net income available to common stockholders also grew



12% on a linked-quarter basis.  For the second quarter of 2014, the Company reported net income of $8.2 million and net income available to common
stockholders of $8.0 million, or $0.09 per fully-diluted common share.
 
The Company’s year-to-date net income through September 30, 2014 was $25.2 million and net income available to common stockholders was $24.6 million,
or $0.28 per fully-diluted common share, compared to net income of $21.8 million and net income available to common stockholders of $19.1 million, or
$0.22 per fully-diluted common share, for the comparable period of 2013.
 
Net interest income of $25.9 million in the third quarter of 2014 increased from $25.0 million in the second quarter of 2014, and $25.2 million recorded in the
third quarter of 2013.  Net interest income for the first nine months of 2014 was $75.5 million compared to $75.1 million for the same period of 2013.  Gross
loans at September 30, 2014 increased $55.8 million from June 30, 2014, despite a drop in held for sale loans of $8.2 million during the period.
 
Robust loan growth during 2013 pushed Small Business Lending Fund qualified credits above certain thresholds required to meaningfully reduce costs of the
Company’s preferred stock dividend beginning in 2014.  Dividends paid on the preferred stock totaled $0.5 million for the first nine months of 2014
compared to $2.7 million for the comparable period of 2013.  In addition, credit quality and related costs continued to improve.  As net charge-offs and non-
performing loans trended significantly lower, the provision for loan loss fell to zero in the third quarter of 2014, a decrease from $1.0 million in the second
quarter of 2014 and $2.0 million in the third quarter of 2013.  For the first nine months of 2014, the provision for loan loss was $2.0 million, compared to $6.0
million for the same period of 2013.  With a continued commitment to the quality of assets and the strength of our balance sheet, near-term loan losses are
expected to remain at lower levels.
 
Busey Wealth Management’s net income of $1.2 million for the third quarter of 2014 seasonally declined from $1.4 million for the second quarter of 2014 but
was comparable to the third quarter of 2013.  Busey Wealth Management’s net income for the first nine months of 2014 was $3.6 million as compared to $3.1
million for the first nine months of 2013.  Assets under care increased to $5.0 billion as of September 30, 2014 compared to $4.7 billion at September 30,
2013.  FirsTech’s net income of $0.3 million for the third quarter of 2014 was comparable to the second quarter of 2014 and increased from the third quarter
of 2013 by 24.3%.  FirsTech’s year-to-date net income of $1.0 million increased from $0.8 million for the comparable period of 2013, primarily due to growth
in electronic processing revenues, including online and mobile services.
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Asset Quality
 
While much internal focus has been directed toward organic growth, the Company’s commitment to credit quality remains strong, as evidenced by another
quarter of meaningful progress across a range of credit indicators.  As of September 30, 2014, the Company reported non-performing loans of $8.7 million,
the lowest level in over six years.  Net charge-offs for the third quarter of 2014 also reflected yet another low at $0.4 million for the quarter, compared to $1.0
million for second quarter of 2014 and $2.5 million for the third quarter of 2013.  Net charge-offs for the first nine months of 2014 were $2.6 million,
compared to $6.0 million for the same period of 2013.  When determining whether to record a third quarter provision expense, the Company considered
standard GAAP measures along with a $2.0 million recovery that was recorded early in the fourth quarter of 2014.  While these improvements are
encouraging, many asset quality metrics remain dependent upon market-specific economic conditions, and specific measures may fluctuate from quarter to
quarter. The key metrics are as follows:
 

SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(dollars in thousands)

 
  

As of and for the Three Months Ended
 

  
September 30,

 
June 30,

 
December 31,

 
September 30,

 

  
2014

 
2014

 
2013

 
2013

 

ASSET QUALITY
         

Gross loans(1)
 

$ 2,379,915
 

$ 2,324,068
 

$ 2,295,300
 

$ 2,250,605
 

Commercial loans(2)
 

1,782,126
 

1,737,751
 

1,751,740
 

1,695,583
 

Allowance for loan losses
 

47,014
 

47,428
 

47,567
 

47,964
 

Non-performing loans
         

Non-accrual loans
 

8,681
 

11,232
 

17,164
 

18,489
 

Loans 90+ days past due
 

65
 

235
 

195
 

199
 

Non-performing loans, segregated by geography
         

Illinois/ Indiana
 

5,285
 

8,273
 

13,565
 

14,451
 

Florida
 

3,461
 

3,194
 

3,794
 

4,237
 

Loans 30-89 days past due
 

6,350
 

1,766
 

6,114
 

2,283
 

Other non-performing assets
 

216
 

1,622
 

2,133
 

2,156
 

Non-performing assets to total loans and non-performing
assets

 

0.4% 0.6% 0.9% 0.9%
Allowance as a percentage of non-performing loans

 

537.6% 413.6% 274.0% 256.7%
Allowance for loan losses to loans

 

2.0% 2.0% 2.1% 2.1%
 

(1)         Includes loans held for sale.
(2)         Includes loans categorized as commercial, commercial real estate and real estate construction.
 
Gross loans at September 30, 2014 increased $55.8 million from June 30, 2014. Gross loans increased to $2.4 billion at September 30, 2014 from $2.3 billion
at each of June 30, 2014, December 31, 2013 and September 30, 2013.  Commercial loans increased to $1.8 billion as of September 30, 2014, which
represents an increase of 2.6% from June 30, 2014 and 5.1% from September 30, 2013.
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Economic Conditions of Markets
 
Our primary markets, which are in micro-urban communities in downstate Illinois, are distinct from the smaller rural populations of Illinois and have strong
industrial, academic or healthcare employment bases.  Our primary downstate Illinois markets of Champaign, Macon, McLean and Peoria counties are
anchored by several strong, familiar and stable organizations.
 
Champaign County is home to the University of Illinois — Urbana/Champaign (“U of I”), the University’s primary campus.  U of I has in excess of 44,000
students.  Additionally, Champaign County healthcare providers serve a significant area of downstate Illinois and western Indiana.  Macon County is home to
the North American headquarters for Archer Daniels Midland (“ADM”), a Fortune 100 company and one of the largest agricultural processors in the world. 
ADM’s presence in Macon County supports many derivative businesses in the agricultural processing arena.  Additionally, Macon County is home to Millikin
University, and its healthcare providers serve a significant role in the market.  McLean County is home to State Farm, Country Financial, Illinois State
University and Illinois Wesleyan University.  State Farm, a Fortune 100 company, is the largest employer in McLean County, and Country Financial and the
universities provide additional stability to a growing area of downstate Illinois.  Peoria County is home to Caterpillar, a Fortune 100 company, and Bradley
University, in addition to a large healthcare presence serving much of the western portion of downstate Illinois.  The institutions noted above, coupled with a
large agricultural sector, anchor the communities in which they are located, and have provided a comparatively stable foundation for housing, employment
and small business.
 
The State of Illinois, where the largest portion of the Company’s customer base is located, continues to be one of the most troubled of any state in the United
States with pension under-funding, continued budget deficits and a declining credit outlook.  Additionally, the Company is located in markets with significant
universities and healthcare companies, which rely heavily on state funding and contracts.  Payment lapses by the State of Illinois to its vendors and
government sponsored entities may have negative effects on our primary market areas.
 
Southwest Florida has shown continuing signs of improvement in areas such as job growth and home sales over the last few years.  In addition, median sales
prices of homes in Florida continue to be on the rise.  Although we have seen recent improvement in certain economic indicators, we expect it will still take
southwest Florida a few more years to return to peak economic strength.  In 2013, Hertz Global Holdings, a Fortune 500 company, announced its intent to
move its headquarters from New Jersey to southwest Florida, building a new world headquarters in Lee County.  It is estimated that the new headquarters will
bring at least 700 jobs to the area.
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OPERATING PERFORMANCE
 
NET INTEREST INCOME
 
Net interest income is the difference between interest income and fees earned on earning assets and interest expense incurred on interest-bearing liabilities. 
Interest rate levels and volume fluctuations within earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities impact net interest income.  Net interest margin is tax-
equivalent net interest income as a percent of average earning assets.
 
Certain assets with tax favorable treatment are evaluated on a tax-equivalent basis.  Tax-equivalent basis assumes a federal income tax rate of 35%.  Tax
favorable assets generally have lower contractual pre-tax yields than fully taxable assets.  A tax-equivalent analysis is performed by adding the tax savings to
the earnings on tax favorable assets.  After factoring in the tax favorable effects of these assets, the yields may be more appropriately evaluated against
alternative earning assets.  In addition to yield, various other risks are factored into the evaluation process.
 
The following tables show the consolidated average balance sheets, detailing the major categories of assets and liabilities, the interest income earned on
interest-earning assets, the interest expense paid for the interest-bearing liabilities, and the related interest rates for the periods shown.  The tables also show,
for the periods indicated, a summary of the changes in interest earned and interest expense resulting from changes in volume and rates for the major
components of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities.  All average information is provided on a daily average basis.
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AVERAGE BALANCE SHEETS AND INTEREST RATES

THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 AND 2013
 

              
Change in income/

 

  
2014

 
2013

 
expense due to(1)

 

  
Average

 
Income/

 
Yield/

 
Average

 
Income/

 
Yield/

 
Average

 
Average

 
Total

 

  
Balance

 
Expense

 
Rate(3)

 
Balance

 
Expense

 
Rate(3)

 
Volume

 
Yield/Rate

 
Change

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Assets
                   

Interest-bearing bank deposits
 

$ 104,158
 

$ 67
 

0.26% $ 114,012
 

$ 74
 

0.26% $ (6) $ (1) $ (7)
Investment securities

                   

U.S. Government obligations
 

252,385
 

802
 

1.26% 405,316
 

1,339
 

1.31% (488) (49) (537)
Obligations of states and political

subdivisions(1)
 

241,237
 

1,605
 

2.64% 295,024
 

1,975
 

2.66% (358) (12) (370)
Other securities

 
336,882

 
1,921

 
2.26% 224,293

 
1,278

 
2.26% 642

 
1

 
643

 

Loans(1) (2)
 

2,345,718
 

23,620
 

3.99% 2,162,138
 

23,162
 

4.25% 1,897
 

(1,439) 458
 

Total interest-earning assets(1)
 

$ 3,280,380
 

$ 28,015
 

3.39% $ 3,200,783
 

$ 27,828
 

3.45% $ 1,687
 

$ (1,500) $ 187
 

                    
Cash and due from banks

 
85,678

     
111,168

           

Premises and equipment
 

64,947
     

68,230
           

Allowance for loan losses
 

(47,679)
    

(48,393)
          

Other assets
 

141,798
     

160,572
           

                    
Total Assets

 

$ 3,525,124
     

$ 3,492,360
           

                    
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

                   

Interest-bearing transaction deposits
 

$ 47,010
 

$ 7
 

0.06% $ 48,595
 

$ 7
 

0.06% $ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

Savings deposits
 

212,061
 

10
 

0.02% 203,836
 

11
 

0.02% —
 

(1) (1)
Money market deposits

 
1,480,081

 
439

 
0.12% 1,468,892

 
420

 
0.11% 3

 
16

 
19

 
     



Time deposits 526,226 804 0.61% 618,181 1,218 0.78% (165) (249) (414)
Short-term borrowings:

                   

Federal funds purchased
 

1,114
 

1
 

0.36% —
 

—
 

—% 1
 

—
 

1
 

Repurchase agreements
 

146,230
 

40
 

0.11% 129,485
 

44
 

0.13% 5
 

(9) (4)
Other

 
272

 
—

 
—% —

 
—

 
—% —

 
—

 
—

 

Long-term debt
 

4,826
 

1
 

0.08% —
 

—
 

—% 1
 

—
 

1
 

Junior subordinated debt owed to
unconsolidated trusts

 
55,000

 
298

 
2.15% 55,000

 
303

 
2.19% —

 
(5) (5)

Total interest-bearing liabilities
 

$ 2,472,820
 

$ 1,600
 

0.26% $ 2,523,989
 

$ 2,003
 

0.31% $ (155) $ (248) $ (403)
                    

Net interest spread(1)
     

3.13%
    

3.14%
      

                    
Noninterest-bearing deposits

 
601,220

     
529,480

           

Other liabilities
 

24,725
     

29,299
           

Stockholders’ equity
 

426,359
     

409,592
           

                    
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

 

$ 3,525,124
     

$ 3,492,360
           

                    
Interest income / earning assets(1)

 
$ 3,280,380

 
$ 28,015

 
3.39% $ 3,200,783

 
$ 27,828

 
3.45%

      

Interest expense / earning assets
 

$ 3,280,380
 

$ 1,600
 

0.20% $ 3,200,783
 

$ 2,003
 

0.25%
      

                    
Net interest margin(1)

   

$ 26,415
 

3.19%
  

$ 25,825
 

3.20% $ 1,842
 

$ (1,252) $ 590
 

 

(1)          On a tax-equivalent basis assuming a federal income tax rate of 35%.
(2)          Non-accrual loans have been included in average loans.
(3)          Annualized.
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AVERAGE BALANCE SHEETS AND INTEREST RATES
NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 AND 2013

 
              

Change in income/
 

  
2014

 
2013

 
expense due to(1)

 

  
Average

 
Income/

 
Yield/

 
Average

 
Income/

 
Yield/

 
Average

 
Average

 
Total

 

  
Balance

 
Expense

 
Rate(3)

 
Balance

 
Expense

 
Rate(3)

 
Volume

 
Yield/Rate

 
Change

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Assets
                   

Interest-bearing bank deposits
 

$ 146,744
 

$ 282
 

0.26% $ 208,275
 

$ 387
 

0.25% $ (117) $ 12
 

$ (105)
Investment securities

                   

U.S. Government obligations
 

287,383
 

2,785
 

1.30% 434,160
 

4,456
 

1.37% (1,434) (237) (1,671)
Obligations of states and political

subdivisions(1)
 

250,281
 

4,966
 

2.65% 288,273
 

5,786
 

2.68% (755) (65) (820)
Other securities

 
303,544

 
5,194

 
2.29% 227,662

 
3,507

 
2.06% 1,266

 
421

 
1,687

 

Loans(1) (2)
 

2,277,343
 

68,717
 

4.03% 2,094,640
 

69,457
 

4.43% 5,790
 

(6,530) (740)
Total interest-earning assets(1)

 
$ 3,265,295

 

$ 81,944
 

3.36% $ 3,253,010
 

$ 83,593
 

3.44% $ 4,750
 

$ (6,399) $ (1,649)
                    

Cash and due from banks
 

90,436
     

90,865
           

Premises and equipment
 

65,256
     

69,783
           

Allowance for loan losses
 

(47,857)
    

(48,455)
          

Other assets
 

145,688
     

166,487
           

                    
Total Assets

 

$ 3,518,818
     

$ 3,531,690
           

                    
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

                   

Interest-bearing transaction deposits
 

$ 48,495
 

$ 20
 

0.06% $ 49,274
 

$ 24
 

0.07% $ —
 

$ (4) $ (4)
Savings deposits

 
213,932

 
31

 
0.02% 208,722
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0.03% 1

 
(16) (15)

Money market deposits
 

1,478,982
 

1,285
 

0.12% 1,469,850
 

1,348
 

0.12% 8
 

(71) (63)
Time deposits

 
548,005

 
2,592

 
0.63% 646,666

 
4,159

 
0.86% (573) (994) (1,567)

Short-term borrowings:
                   

Federal funds purchased
 

375
 

1
 

0.36% —
 

—
 

—% 1
 

—
 

1
 

Repurchase agreements
 

137,424
 

114
 

0.11% 131,093
 

128
 

0.13% 6
 

(20) (14)
Other

 
91

 
—

 
—% —

 
15

 
—% —

 
(15) (15)

Long-term debt
 

1,626
 

1
 

0.08% 3,062
 

125
 

5.46% (40) (84) (124)
Junior subordinated debt owed to

unconsolidated trusts
 

55,000
 

885
 

2.15% 55,000
 

905
 

2.20% —
 

(20) (20)
Total interest-bearing liabilities

 
$ 2,483,930

 

$ 4,929
 

0.27% $ 2,563,667
 

$ 6,750
 

0.35% $ (597) $ (1,224) $ (1,821)
                    

Net interest spread(1)
     

3.09%
    

3.09%
      

                    
Noninterest-bearing deposits

 
587,265

     
528,544

           

Other liabilities
 

25,529
     

28,562
           

Stockholders’ equity
 

422,094
     

410,917
           

                    
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

 

$ 3,518,818
     

$ 3,531,690
           

                    
Interest income / earning assets(1)

 
$ 3,265,295

 
$ 81,944

 
3.36% $ 3,253,010

 
$ 83,593

 
3.44%

      

Interest expense / earning assets
 

$ 3,265,295
 

$ 4,929
 

0.21% $ 3,253,010
 

$ 6,750
 

0.28%
      

                    
Net interest margin(1)

   

$ 77,015
 

3.15%
  

$ 76,843
 

3.16% $ 5,347
 

$ (5,175) $ 172
 

 

(1)          On a tax-equivalent basis assuming a federal income tax rate of 35%.
(2)          Non-accrual loans have been included in average loans.
(3)          Annualized.
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Total average earning assets increased for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods of 2013.  Average
loans increased $183.6 million and $182.7 million for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 compared to the same periods of 2013,
respectively.  Average interest-bearing bank deposits and investment securities both decreased for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014



as compared to the same periods of 2013.  Loans generally have notably higher yields compared to interest-bearing bank deposits and investment securities,
leading to a positive effect on net interest margin.  Despite our increasing average loan balances, which positively influenced net interest margin, a highly
competitive loan environment and a prolonged period of low interest rates continued to put downward pressure on yields and margins.
 
Total average interest-bearing liability balances decreased for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods of
2013.  Time deposits were the largest factor, decreasing $92.0 million and $98.7 million for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014
compared to the same periods of 2013, respectively.
 
Interest income, on a tax-equivalent basis, increased $0.2 million for the three month period ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same period of
2013.  Interest income, on a tax-equivalent basis, decreased $1.6 million for the nine month period ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same period
of 2013.  The interest income increase for the three month period ended September 30, 2014 was primarily a result of higher average loan balances.  The
interest income decline for the nine month period ended September 30, 2014 related primarily to lower yields earned on assets in a low interest rate
environment.  Interest expense decreased $0.4 million and $1.8 million for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the
same periods of 2013, respectively. The interest expense decline was primarily a result of decreases in interest rates offered by the Company on certain
deposit products, particularly time deposits, as the interest rate environment remains low.

 
Net interest margin
 
Net interest margin, our net interest income expressed as a percentage of average earning assets stated on a tax-equivalent basis, held relatively steady at
3.19% for the three month period ended September 30, 2014 compared to 3.20% for the same period in 2013 and was also relatively stable at 3.15% for the
nine month period ended September 30, 2014 compared to 3.16% for the same period in 2013.
 
Quarterly net interest margins for 2014 and 2013 are as follows:
 

  
2014

 
2013

 

First Quarter
 

3.13% 3.10%
Second Quarter

 

3.13% 3.17%
Third Quarter

 

3.19% 3.20%
Fourth Quarter

 

—
 

3.12%
 
The net interest spread, which represents the difference between the average rate earned on earning assets and the average rate paid on interest-bearing
liabilities, also on a tax-equivalent basis, was 3.13% for the three month period ended September 30, 2014, compared to 3.14% for the same period in 2013
and was 3.09% for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 and 2013.
 
We continue to experience downward pressure on our yield in interest-earning assets resulting from a protracted period of historically low rates and
heightened competition for assets, which has been experienced throughout the banking industry.  The development of a stronger asset mix from increased
loan balances, while actively bringing down interest expense and optimizing funding costs, remains a focus.  We believe improvements in margin will be
achieved through continued deployment of our liquid funds at higher yields as we expect to redeploy cash and securities into our loan portfolio at improved
yields as the economy continues to strengthen.
 
Management attempts to mitigate the effects of an unpredictable interest-rate environment through effective portfolio management, prudent loan underwriting
and operational efficiencies.  Please refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2013 for accounting policies underlying the recognition of interest income and expense.
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OTHER INCOME

 

  

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

  
2014

 
2013

 

%
Change

 
2014

 
2013

 

%
Change

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Trust fees
 

$ 4,182
 

$ 4,035
 

3.6% $ 14,879
 

$ 13,956
 

6.6%
Commissions and brokers’ fees, net

 

676
 

710
 

(4.8)% 2,023
 

1,819
 

11.2%
Remittance processing

 

2,394
 

2,105
 

13.7% 7,120
 

6,288
 

13.2%
Service charges on deposit accounts

 

3,175
 

3,126
 

1.6% 8,981
 

8,876
 

1.2%
Other service charges and fees

 

1,575
 

1,486
 

6.0% 4,681
 

4,452
 

5.1%
Gain on sales of loans

 

1,339
 

2,684
 

(50.1)% 3,554
 

8,944
 

(60.3)%
Security (losses) gains, net

 

—
 

82
 

(100.0)% 40
 

82
 

(51.2)%
Other

 

863
 

1,402
 

(38.4)% 2,924
 

3,637
 

(19.6)%
Total other income

 

$ 14,204
 

$ 15,630
 

(9.1)% $ 44,202
 

$ 48,054
 

(8.0)%
 
Total other income decreased $1.4 million and $3.9 million for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods
in 2013, respectively, primarily from decreased gains on sales of loans as the industry is experiencing a general slowdown in mortgage production, partially
offset by an aggregate increase in trust fees and commissions and brokers’ fees, net as well as in remittance processing.
 
Combined wealth management revenue, consisting of trust fees and commissions and brokers’ fees, net, increased for the three and nine month periods ended
September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods in 2013.  The increase was led by organic growth, which increased assets under care (“AUC”), and
positive market trends.  AUC increased to $5.0 billion as of September 30, 2014 compared to $4.7 billion at September 30, 2013.  Continued growth in new
AUC driven by our wealth management teams suggest future income will also be positively impacted as wealth management revenues are typically highly
correlated to AUC.  Furthermore, the Company believes the boutique services offered by Trevett Capital Partners within its suite of wealth services broadens
its business base and enhances its ability to further develop revenue sources.
 



Remittance processing revenue relates to our payment processing company, FirsTech.  FirsTech’s revenue increased $0.3 million for the three month period
ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same period in 2013 and $0.8 million for the nine month period ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the
same period in 2013, primarily due to growth in electronic processing revenues, including online and mobile services.  FirsTech adds important diversity to
our revenue stream while widening our array of service offerings to larger commercial clients within our footprint and nationally.
 
Overall, service charges on deposit accounts combined with other service charges and fees increased for the three and nine month periods ended
September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods in 2013.  Evolving regulation, product changes and changing behaviors by our client base may impact
the revenue derived from charges on deposit accounts going forward.
 
Gain on sales of loans decreased for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods in 2013 due to lower
refinance volume as a result of market-based influences.  Retail real estate portfolio balances were higher at September 30, 2014 compared to September 30,
2013, excluding held for sale loans.  Total mortgage production is reflected in both the gain on loans sold and the balances of loans retained in the retail real
estate portfolio, and the mix of sales versus retention may vary over time.
 
Other income decreased for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods in 2013.  The decrease was
primarily due to income fluctuation in the Company’s private equity investment funds and fixed asset gains in 2013 compared to minimal activity in 2014.
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OTHER EXPENSE

 

  

Three Months Ended
September 30

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30

 

  
2014

 
2013

 

%
Change

 
2014

 
2013

 

%
Change

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Compensation expense:
             

Salaries and wages
 

$ 12,591
 

$ 13,001
 

(3.2)% $ 37,418
 

$ 39,342
 

(4.9)%
Employee benefits

 

2,263
 

2,580
 

(12.3)% 7,542
 

8,754
 

(13.8)%
Total compensation expense

 

$ 14,854
 

$ 15,581
 

(4.7)% $ 44,960
 

$ 48,096
 

(6.5)%
              
Net occupancy expense of premises

 

2,086
 

2,055
 

1.5% 6,384
 

6,340
 

0.7%
Furniture and equipment expenses

 

1,250
 

1,211
 

3.2% 3,607
 

3,687
 

(2.2)%
Data processing

 

2,600
 

2,606
 

(0.2)% 8,099
 

7,813
 

3.7%
Amortization of intangible assets

 

701
 

783
 

(10.5)% 2,181
 

2,349
 

(7.2)%
Regulatory expense

 

503
 

545
 

(7.7)% 1,559
 

1,808
 

(13.8)%
OREO expense

 

16
 

(207) 107.7% 87
 

394
 

(77.9)%
Other

 

4,288
 

4,784
 

(10.4)% 12,862
 

14,239
 

(9.7)%
Total other expense

 

$ 26,298
 

$ 27,358
 

(3.9)% $ 79,739
 

$ 84,726
 

(5.9)%
              
Income taxes

 

$ 4,708
 

$ 3,572
 

31.8% $ 12,771
 

$ 10,583
 

20.7%
Effective rate on income taxes

 

34.1% 31.0%
  

33.7% 32.7%
  

              
Efficiency ratio

 

63.0% 64.2%
  

64.0% 66.0%
  

              
Full-time equivalent employees as of period-end

 

801
 

857
         

 
Total other expense decreased $1.1 million and $5.0 million for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods
in 2013, respectively, as the Company remains focused on cost control and productivity, which broadly reduced operating expenses.
 
Total compensation expense decreased $0.7 million for the three month period ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same period in 2013 and $3.1
million for the nine month period ended September 30, 2014 compared to the same period in 2013.  Employee benefits fluctuate as a function of changes in
salaries and wages.  An ongoing commitment to seek sensible opportunities to reduce cost and enhance productivity resulted in personnel reductions and
other cost containment efforts that have contributed to positive expense trends.
 
Combined occupancy expenses and furniture and equipment expenses increased for the three month period ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the
same period in 2013 but decreased slightly for the nine month period ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same period in 2013.  We continue to
evaluate our operations for appropriate cost control measures while seeking improvements in service delivery to our customers.
 
Data processing expense was steady for the three month period ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same period in 2013 but increased for the nine
month period ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same period in 2013.  As the Company manages data processing expense, it continues to enhance
its mobile and internet banking services and prioritize strategies to mitigate the risk from cybercriminals through the use of new technology, industry best
practices and customer education.  A portion of the increase in data processing expense was also related to supporting new sources of revenue growth at
FirsTech.
 
Amortization of intangible assets expense decreased for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods in 2013
as we are now in the seventh year of amortization arising from our merger with Main Street Trust, Inc.
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Regulatory expense decreased for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods in 2013.  We anticipate that
our regulatory expenses will remain close to current levels for the near future.



 
Our costs associated with OREO, such as collateral preservation and legal fees, increased for the three months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the
same period in 2013 but decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same period in 2013.  This expense fluctuates based on
the management of commercial properties and the operating activity associated with the properties that we hold throughout the year.
 
Other expense decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the same periods in 2013 primarily as a result of a
widespread reduction in expenses due to an enhanced emphasis on cost control.
 
The effective rates of income taxes, or income taxes divided by income before taxes, of 34.1% and 33.7% for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2014, respectively, were lower than the combined federal and state statutory rate of approximately 41% due to amounts of tax preferred interest income, such
as municipal bond interest and bank owned life insurance income, accounting for a portion of our taxable income.  As taxable income increases, we expect
our effective tax rate to increase.  Under current law, Illinois net operating loss carryover limitations expired in 2014 and the corporate income tax rate is
scheduled for reduction effective January 1, 2015.  The Company continues to monitor evolving state tax legislation and its potential impact on operations on
an ongoing basis.
 
The efficiency ratio represents total other expense, less amortization charges, as a percentage of tax-equivalent net interest income plus other income, less
security gains and losses.  The efficiency ratio, which is a non-GAAP financial measure commonly used by management and the investment community in
the banking industry, measures the amount of expense that is incurred to generate a dollar of revenue. The efficiency ratio of 63.0% for the three month period
ended September 30, 2014 improved from 64.2% in the comparable period in 2013.  The efficiency ratio for the first nine months of 2014 was 64.0%, an
improvement from 66.0% for the same period of 2013.  The process of examining appropriate avenues to improve efficiency is expected to continue as a
focus in future periods with an emphasis on revenue growth.
 
FINANCIAL CONDITION
SIGNIFICANT BALANCE SHEET ITEMS
 

  

September 30,
2014

 

December 31,
2013

 
% Change

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Assets
       

Securities available for sale
 

$ 803,065
 

$ 841,310
 

(4.5)%
Securities held to maturity

 

2,384
 

834
 

185.9%
Loans, net, including loans held for sale

 

2,332,901
 

2,247,733
 

3.8%
        
Total assets

 

$ 3,520,917
 

$ 3,539,575
 

(0.5)%
        
Liabilities

       

Deposits:
       

Noninterest-bearing
 

$ 579,550
 

$ 547,531
 

5.8%
Interest-bearing

 

2,245,844
 

2,321,607
 

(3.3)%
Total deposits

 

$ 2,825,394
 

$ 2,869,138
 

(1.5)%
        
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase

 

$ 157,282
 

$ 172,348
 

(8.7)%
Long-term debt

 

30,000
 

—
 

100.0%
        
Total liabilities

 

$ 3,090,889
 

$ 3,124,211
 

(1.1)%
        
Stockholders’ equity

 

$ 430,028
 

$ 415,364
 

3.5%
 
First Busey’s balance sheet at September 30, 2014 slightly decreased as compared with its balance sheet at December 31, 2013.  Total securities decreased by
$36.7 million at September 30, 2014 compared to December 31, 2013. Net loans, including loans held for sale, increased by $85.2 million, or 3.8%, during
the same period, as loan demand in commercial real estate and retail real estate continued to improve in the third quarter.
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Total liabilities decreased by $33.3 million, or 1.1%, at September 30, 2014 compared to December 31, 2013.  Noninterest-bearing deposits increased by
$32.0 million, or 5.8%, at September 30, 2014 compared to December 31, 2013, while interest-bearing deposits decreased by $75.8 million, or 3.3%, at
September 30, 2014 compared to December 31, 2013.  Securities sold under agreements to repurchase decreased by $15.1 million, or 8.7%, due to changing
customer preferences and normal fluctuations in balances.  The Company executed $30.0 million of long-term debt in the third quarter of 2014 which is at
variable rates and prepayable, as part of ongoing balance sheet strategy.  The Company remained strongly core deposit funded at 76.1% of total assets as of
September 30, 2014, with solid liquidity and significant market share in the communities it serves.
 
Stockholders’ equity increased to $430.0 million at September 30, 2014 as compared to $415.4 million at December 31, 2013.  This increase was primarily
the result of earnings in the first nine months of 2014, partially offset by dividends paid on preferred and common stock.
 
ASSET QUALITY
 
Loan Portfolio
Geographic distributions of loans by category were as follows:
 
  

September 30, 2014
 

  
Illinois

 
Florida

 
Indiana

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Commercial
 

$ 520,002
 

$ 18,794
 

$ 26,027
 

$ 564,823
 

Commercial real estate
 

850,819
 

168,201
 

118,464
 

1,137,484
 

Real estate construction
 

47,155
 

17,045
 

15,619
 

79,819
 

Retail real estate 468,818 104,971 13,442 587,231



Retail other
 

9,929
 

551
 

78
 

10,558
 

Total
 

$ 1,896,723
 

$ 309,562
 

$ 173,630
 

$ 2,379,915
 

          
Less held for sale(1)

       

12,090
 

        

$ 2,367,825
 

Less allowance for loan losses
       

47,014
 

Net loans
       

$ 2,320,811
 

 

(1) Loans held for sale are included in retail real estate.
 
  

December 31, 2013
 

  
Illinois

 
Florida

 
Indiana

 
Total

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Commercial
 

$ 530,174
 

$ 20,536
 

$ 29,902
 

$ 580,612
 

Commercial real estate
 

800,568
 

160,255
 

131,450
 

1,092,273
 

Real estate construction
 

55,190
 

17,426
 

6,239
 

78,855
 

Retail real estate
 

419,801
 

103,104
 

11,588
 

534,493
 

Retail other
 

8,422
 

552
 

93
 

9,067
 

Total
 

$ 1,814,155
 

$ 301,873
 

$ 179,272
 

$ 2,295,300
 

          
Less held for sale(1)

       

13,840
 

        

$ 2,281,460
 

Less allowance for loan losses
       

47,567
 

Net loans
       

$ 2,233,893
 

 

(1) Loans held for sale are included in retail real estate.
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The total loan portfolio, gross, as of September 30, 2014 increased $84.6 million from December 31, 2013; gross commercial balances (consisting of
commercial, commercial real estate and real estate construction loans) increased $30.4 million from December 31, 2013.  Loans held for sale decreased by
$1.8 million as of September 30, 2014 from December 31, 2013.   Retail real estate and retail other, less loans held for sale, increased $56.0 million as of
September 30, 2014 from December 31, 2013 as challenging conditions across the mortgage industry began to moderate during the second quarter of 2014, a
trend which continued in the third quarter as well.  Achieving meaningful organic growth remains a focus for us, and our commitment to credit quality
remains strong, as evidenced by another quarter of meaningful progress across a range of credit indicators as discussed further below.

 
Allowance for loan losses
 
Our allowance for loan losses was $47.0 million, or 2.0% of loans, at September 30, 2014, compared to $47.6 million, or 2.1% of loans, at December 31,
2013.
 
Typically, when we move loans into nonaccrual status, the loans are collateral dependent and charged down through the allowance for loan losses to the fair
value of our interest in the underlying collateral less estimated costs to sell.  Our loan portfolio is collateralized primarily by real estate.
 
We continue to attempt to identify problem loan situations on a proactive basis.  Once problem loans are identified, adjustments to the provision for loan
losses are made based upon all information available at that time.  The provision reflects management’s analysis of additional allowance for loan losses
necessary to cover probable losses in our loan portfolio.
 
As of September 30, 2014, management believed the level of the allowance and coverage of non-performing loans to be appropriate based upon the
information available.   However, additional losses may be identified in our loan portfolio as new information is obtained.  We may need to provide for
additional loan losses in the future as management continues to identify potential problem loans and gains further information concerning existing problem
loans.
 
First Busey does not originate or hold any Alt-A or subprime loans or investments.
 
Provision for Loan Losses
 
The provision for loan losses is a current charge against income and represents an amount which management believes is sufficient to maintain an appropriate
allowance for known and probable losses in the loan portfolio.  In assessing the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses, management considers the
size and quality of the loan portfolio measured against prevailing economic conditions, regulatory guidelines, historical loan loss experience and credit quality
of the portfolio.  When a determination is made by management to charge-off a loan balance, such write-off is charged against the allowance for loan losses.
 
As net charge-offs and non-performing loans trended significantly lower, the provision for loan loss fell to zero in the third quarter of 2014 compared to $2.0
million in the same period of 2013.  Our provision for loan losses was $2.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and $6.0 million for the
same period of 2013. The relative provision expenses during 2014 and 2013 were reflective of management’s determination of the appropriate level of reserve
relative to risk in the portfolio in 2014.
 
Sensitive assets include non-accrual loans, loans on our classified loan reports and other loans identified as having more than reasonable potential for loss. 
Management reviews sensitive assets on at least a quarterly basis for changes in each applicable customer’s ability to pay and changes in valuation of
underlying collateral in order to estimate probable losses.  The majority of these loans are being repaid in conformance with their contracts.
 
Non-performing Loans



 
Loans are considered past due if the required principal and interest payments have not been received as of the date such payments were due.  Loans are placed
on non-accrual status when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to meet payment obligations as they become due, as well as when required
by regulatory provisions.  Loans may be placed on non-accrual status regardless of whether or not such loans are considered past due.  Loans are returned to
accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.
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The following table sets forth information concerning non-performing loans as of each of the dates indicated:
 

  

September 30,
2014

 

June 30,
 2014

 

March 31,
2014

 

December 31,
2013

 

  
(dollars in thousands)

 

Non-accrual loans
 

$ 8,681
 

$ 11,232
 

$ 14,340
 

$ 17,164
 

Loans 90+ days past due and still accruing
 

65
 

235
 

—
 

195
 

Total non-performing loans
 

$ 8,746
 

$ 11,467
 

$ 14,340
 

$ 17,359
 

          
OREO

 

$ 216
 

$ 1,622
 

$ 1,937
 

$ 2,133
 

          
Total non-performing assets

 

$ 8,962
 

$ 13,089
 

$ 16,277
 

$ 19,492
 

          
Allowance for loan losses

 

$ 47,014
 

$ 47,428
 

$ 47,426
 

$ 47,567
 

Allowance for loan losses to loans
 

2.0% 2.0% 2.1% 2.1%
Allowance for loan losses to non-performing loans

 

537.6% 413.6% 330.7% 274.0%
Non-performing loans to loans, before allowance for loan losses

 

0.4% 0.5% 0.6% 0.8%
Non-performing loans and OREO to loans, before allowance for

loan losses
 

0.4% 0.6% 0.7% 0.9%
 

We continue to drive positive trends across a range of credit indicators.  Total non-performing assets were $9.0 million at September 30, 2014, compared to
$19.5 million at December 31, 2013.  While these improvements are encouraging, many asset quality metrics remain dependent upon market-specific
economic conditions, and specific measures may fluctuate from quarter to quarter.
 
As of September 30, 2014, the Bank had charged-off $3.6 million of principal balance on loans that were on non-accrual status at September 30, 2014.  Partial
charge-offs reduce the reported principal of the balance of the loan, whereas, a specific allocation of allowance for loan losses does not reduce the reported
principal balance of the loan.  Non-accrual loans are reported net of charge-offs, but include related specific allocations of the allowance for loan losses.  In
summary, if we had not charged-off $3.6 million in loans, our non-accrual loans would have been that amount greater than the $8.7 million reported.
 
Potential Problem Loans
 
Potential problem loans are those loans which are not categorized as impaired, restructured, non-accrual or 90+ days past due, but where current information
indicates that the borrower may not be able to comply with present loan repayment terms.  Management assesses the potential for loss on such loans as it
would with other problem loans and has considered the effect of any potential loss in determining its provision for probable loan losses.  Potential problem
loans of $34.7 million at September 30, 2014 were less than the $50.1 million reported at December 31, 2013.  The balance of potential problem loans is a
reflection of continued economic challenges; however, we do not believe the potential losses will be as great as seen in the past.  Management continues to
monitor these credits and anticipates that restructurings, guarantees, additional collateral or other planned actions will result in full repayment of the debts. 
As of September 30, 2014, management identified no other loans that represent or result from trends or uncertainties which management reasonably expected
to materially impact future operating results, liquidity or capital resources.  As of September 30, 2014, management was not aware of any information about
any other credits which caused management to have serious doubts as to the ability of such borrower(s) to comply with the loan repayment terms.
 
LIQUIDITY
 
Liquidity management is the process by which we ensure that adequate liquid funds are available to meet the present and future cash flow obligations arising
in the daily operations of our business.  These financial obligations consist of needs for funds to meet commitments to borrowers for extensions of credit,
fund capital expenditures, honor withdrawals by customers, pay dividends to stockholders and pay operating expenses.  Our most liquid assets are cash and
due from banks, interest-bearing bank deposits, and, if needed, federal funds sold.  The balances of these assets are dependent on the Company’s operating,
investing, lending, and financing activities during any given period.

 
50

 
First Busey’s primary sources of funds consist of deposits, investment maturities and sales, loan principal repayments, and capital funds.  Additional liquidity
is provided by repurchase agreements, the ability to borrow from the Federal Reserve and the FHLB, and brokered deposits.  Management intends to satisfy
long-term liquidity needs primarily through retention of capital funds.
 
During the third quarter of 2014, as part of its ongoing balance sheet strategy, the Company undertook a modest level of long-term debt due to low interest
rates and attractive funding options available in the market.  The Company executed $30.0 million in FHLB overnight discount note indexed advances.  The
variable rate notes range in maturity from seven to ten years with options to prepay at par prior to maturity.

 
Based upon the level of investment securities that reprice within 30 days and 90 days, as of September 30, 2014, management believed that adequate liquidity
existed to meet all projected cash flow obligations.  We seek to achieve a satisfactory degree of liquidity by actively managing both assets and liabilities. 
Asset management guides the proportion of liquid assets to total assets, while liability management monitors future funding requirements and prices liabilities
accordingly.
 



OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
 
At September 30, 2014, the Company had outstanding standby letters of credit of $13.6 million and commitments to extend credit of $575.6 million to its
customers.  Since these commitments generally have fixed expiration dates and many will expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment level does
not necessarily represent future cash requirements.  These commitments are made in the ordinary course of business to meet the financing needs of the
Company’s customers.  As of September 30, 2014, no amounts were recorded as liabilities for the Company’s potential obligations under these commitments.
 
CAPITAL RESOURCES
 
The ability of the Company to pay cash dividends to its stockholders and to service its debt historically was dependent on the receipt of cash dividends from
its subsidiaries.  However, Busey Bank sustained significant losses during 2008 and 2009 resulting in pressure on its capital, which was relieved through
injections of capital from the Company.  State chartered banks have certain statutory and regulatory restrictions on the amount of cash dividends they may
pay.  Due to the significant losses in the past and the Company’s desire to maintain a strong capital position at Busey Bank, no dividends have been paid from
Busey Bank since 2009.  Until such time as retained earnings have been restored, Busey Bank will not be permitted to pay dividends, and we will need to
request permission from Busey Bank’s primary regulator to distribute any capital out of Busey Bank.  On January 22, 2013, with the approval of its primary
regulator, Busey Bank transferred $50.0 million to the Company, representing a return of capital and associated surplus as a result of an amendment to Busey
Bank’s charter.  Further, on October 22, 2014, with the approval of its primary regulator, Busey Bank transferred $60.0 million to the Company, representing
a return of capital and associated surplus as a result of a further amendment to Busey Bank’s charter.
 
The Company and Busey Bank are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal and state banking agencies that involve the quantitative
measure of their assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items, as calculated under regulatory accounting practices.  Quantitative measures established
by regulations to ensure capital adequacy require the Company and Busey Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of
total and Tier I capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined in the regulations), and, for the Bank, Tier 1 capital (as defined in the
regulations) to average assets (as defined in the regulations).  Failure to meet minimum capital requirements may cause regulatory bodies to initiate certain
discretionary and/or mandatory actions that, if undertaken, may have a direct material effect on our financial statements.  The Company, as a financial holding
company, is required to be “well capitalized” in the two capital categories based on risk-weighted assets, as shown in the table below.  As of September 30,
2014, the Company and Busey Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they were subject, including the guidelines to be considered “well
capitalized.”
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Minimum

 
Minimum To Be

 
 

 
Actual

 
Capital Requirement

 
Well Capitalized

 
 

 
Amount

 
Ratio

 
Amount

 
Ratio

 
Amount

 
Ratio

 
 

 
(dollars in thousands)

 

As of September 30, 2014:
             

Total Capital (to Risk
Weighted Assets)

             

Consolidated
 

$ 483,817
 

18.66% $ 207,403
 

8.00% $ 259,254
 

10.00%
Busey Bank

 

$ 439,163
 

17.06% $ 205,960
 

8.00% $ 257,449
 

10.00%
              
Tier I Capital (to Risk

Weighted Assets)
             

Consolidated
 

$ 450,451
 

17.37% $ 103,702
 

4.00% $ 155,552
 

6.00%
Busey Bank

 

$ 406,020
 

15.77% $ 102,980
 

4.00% $ 154,470
 

6.00%
              
Tier I Capital (to Average

Assets)
             

Consolidated
 

$ 450,451
 

12.92% $ 139,404
 

4.00% N/A
 

N/A
 

Busey Bank
 

$ 406,020
 

11.79% $ 137,770
 

4.00% $ 172,212
 

5.00%
 

On July 21, 2010, President Obama signed the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) into law, which
required the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System to establish minimum capital levels for bank holding companies on a consolidated basis that
are as stringent as those required for insured depository institutions.  The components of Tier 1 capital will be restricted to capital instruments that are
currently considered to be Tier 1 capital for insured depository institutions.  As a result, the proceeds of trust preferred securities will be excluded from Tier 1
capital unless such securities were issued prior to May 19, 2010 by bank holding companies with less than $15 billion of assets. As the Company has assets of
less than $15 billion, it will be able to maintain its trust preferred proceeds as Tier 1 capital but it will have to comply with new capital mandates in other
respects, and it will not be able to raise Tier 1 capital through the issuance of trust preferred securities.
 
In July 2013, the U.S. federal banking authorities approved the implementation of the Basel III regulatory capital reforms and issued rules effecting certain
changes required by the Dodd-Frank Act (the “Basel III Rules”).  The Basel III Rules are applicable to all U.S. banks that are subject to minimum capital
requirements, as well as to bank and savings and loan holding companies other than “small bank holding companies” (generally bank holding companies with
consolidated assets of less than $500 million).  The Basel III Rules not only increase most of the required minimum regulatory capital ratios, but they also
introduce a new Common Equity Tier 1 Capital ratio and the concept of a capital conservation buffer.  The Basel III Rules also expand the definition of
capital as in effect currently by establishing criteria that instruments must meet to be considered Additional Tier 1 Capital (Tier 1 Capital in addition to
Common Equity) and Tier 2 Capital.  A number of instruments that now generally qualify as Tier 1 Capital will not qualify, or their qualifications will change
when the Basel III Rules are fully implemented.  The Basel III Rules also permit banking organizations with less than $15.0 billion in assets to retain, through
a one-time election, the existing treatment for accumulated other comprehensive income, which currently does not affect regulatory capital.  The Basel III
Rules have maintained the general structure of the current prompt corrective action framework, while incorporating the increased requirements. The prompt
corrective action guidelines were also revised to add the Common Equity Tier 1 Capital ratio.  In order to be a “well-capitalized” depository institution under
the new regime, a bank and holding company must maintain a Common Equity Tier 1 Capital ratio of 6.5% or more; a Tier 1 Capital ratio of 8% or more; a
Total Capital ratio of 10% or more; and a leverage ratio of 5% or more.  Generally, financial institutions become subject to the new Basel III Rules on
January 1, 2015, with phase-in periods for many of the changes.  Management has reviewed the effects of the Basel III Rules on the Company’s and the
Bank’s capital positions and is positioning the Company to satisfy the new requirements.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
Statements made in this report, other than those concerning historical financial information, may be considered forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to the financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future
performance and business of First Busey.  Forward-looking statements, which may be based upon beliefs, expectations and assumptions of First Busey’s
management and on information currently available to management, are generally identifiable by the use of words such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,”
“plan,” “intend,” “estimate,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should” or other similar expressions.  Additionally, all statements in this document, including
forward-looking statements, speak only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no obligation to update any statement in light of new information or
future events.  A number of factors, many of which are beyond our ability to control or predict, could cause actual results to differ materially from those in
our forward-looking statements.  These factors include, among others, the following: (i) the strength of the local and national economy; (ii) the economic
impact of any future terrorist threats or attacks; (iii) changes in state and federal laws, regulations and governmental policies concerning First Busey’s general
business (including the impact of the Dodd-Frank Act and the extensive regulations to be promulgated thereunder, as well as the Basel III Rules); (iv) changes
in interest rates and prepayment rates of First Busey’s assets; (v) increased competition in the financial services sector and the inability to attract new
customers; (vi) changes in technology and the ability to develop and maintain secure and reliable electronic systems; (vii) the loss of key executives or
employees; (viii) changes in consumer spending; (ix) unexpected results of acquisitions; (x) unexpected outcomes of existing or new litigation involving First
Busey;  (xi) changes in accounting policies and practices; and (xii) the economic impact of exceptional weather occurrences such as tornadoes, hurricanes,
floods, and blizzards.  These risks and uncertainties should be considered in evaluating forward-looking statements and undue reliance should not be placed
on such statements.  Additional information concerning First Busey and its business, including additional factors that could materially affect its financial
results, is included in First Busey’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
Critical Accounting Estimates
 
Critical accounting estimates are those that are critical to the portrayal and understanding of First Busey’s financial condition and results of operations and
require management to make assumptions that are difficult, subjective or complex.  These estimates involve judgments, estimates and uncertainties that are
susceptible to change.  In the event that different assumptions or conditions were to prevail, and depending on the severity of such changes, the possibility of
a materially different financial condition or materially different results of operations is a reasonable likelihood.
 
Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The
majority of these accounting policies do not require management to make difficult, subjective or complex judgments or estimates or the variability of the
estimates is not material.  However, the following policies could be deemed critical:
 
Fair Value of Investment Securities. Securities are classified as held to maturity when First Busey has the ability and management has the positive intent to
hold those securities to maturity.  Accordingly, they are stated at cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts. First Busey had $2.4
million of securities classified as held to maturity at September 30, 2014.  First Busey had no securities classified as trading at September 30, 2014. 
Securities are classified as available for sale when First Busey may decide to sell those securities due to changes in market interest rates, liquidity needs,
changes in yields on alternative investments, and for other reasons.  They are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, reported in
other comprehensive income.  As of September 30, 2014, First Busey had $803.1 million of securities classified as available for sale.  For equity securities,
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets are utilized to determine fair value at the measurement date.  For all other securities, we obtain
fair value measurements from an independent pricing service. The fair value measurements consider observable data that may include dealer quotes, market
spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury yield curve, live trading levels, trade execution data, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information and the
security’s terms and conditions, among other things.   Due to the limited nature of the market for certain securities, the fair value and potential sale proceeds
could be materially different in the event of a sale.
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Realized securities gains or losses are reported in security gains (losses), net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The cost of securities sold is based on
the specific identification method. Declines in the fair value of available for sale securities below their amortized cost are evaluated to determine whether the
loss is temporary or other-than-temporary.  If the Company (a) has the intent to sell a debt security or (b) will more-likely-than-not be required to sell the debt
security before its anticipated recovery, then the Company recognizes the entire unrealized loss in earnings as an other-than-temporary loss.  If neither of
these conditions are met, the Company evaluates whether a credit loss exists.  The impairment is separated into the amount of the total impairment related to
the credit loss and the amount of total impairment related to all other factors.  The amount of the total other-than-temporary impairment related to the credit
loss is recognized in earnings, and the amount related to all other factors is recognized in other comprehensive income.
 
The Company also evaluates whether the decline in fair value of an equity security is temporary or other-than-temporary.  In determining whether an
unrealized loss on an equity security is temporary or other-than-temporary, management considers various factors including the magnitude and duration of the
impairment, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and the intent and ability of the Company to hold the equity security to forecasted
recovery.
 
Allowance for Loan Losses. First Busey has established an allowance for loan losses which represents its estimate of the probable losses inherent in the loan
portfolio as of the date of the financial statements and reduces the total loans outstanding by an estimate of uncollectible loans.  Loans deemed uncollectible
are charged against and reduce the allowance.  A provision for loan losses is charged to current expense.  This provision acts to replenish the allowance for
loan losses and to maintain the allowance at a level that management deems adequate.
 
To determine the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses, a formal analysis is completed quarterly to assess the risk within the loan portfolio.  This
assessment is reviewed by senior management of Busey Bank and the Company.  The analysis includes a review of historical performance, dollar amount and
trends of past due loans, dollar amount and trends in non-performing loans, certain impaired loans, and loans identified as sensitive assets.  Sensitive assets
include non-accrual loans, past-due loans, loans on First Busey’s watch loan reports and other loans identified as having probable potential for loss.
 
The allowance consists of specific and general components.  The specific component considers loans that are classified as impaired.  For such loans that are
classified as impaired, an allowance is established when the discounted cash flows (or collateral value or observable market price) of the impaired loan is



lower than the carrying amount of that loan.  The general component covers non-classified loans and classified loans not considered impaired, and is based on
historical loss experience adjusted for qualitative factors.  Other adjustments may be made to the allowance for pools of loans after an assessment of internal
or external influences on credit quality that are not fully reflected in the historical loss experience.
 
A loan is considered to be impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable First Busey will not be able to collect all principal and
interest amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement.  When a loan becomes impaired, management generally calculates the
impairment based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate.  If the loan is collateral dependent, the fair
value of the collateral is used to measure the amount of impairment.  The amount of impairment and any subsequent changes are recorded through a charge to
the provision for loan losses.  For collateral dependent loans, First Busey has determined the required allowance on these loans based upon the estimated fair
value, net of selling costs, of the applicable collateral.  The required allowance or actual losses on these impaired loans could differ significantly if the
ultimate fair value of the collateral is significantly different from the fair value estimates used by First Busey in estimating such potential losses.
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Deferred Taxes.  We have maintained significant net deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences, the largest of which relates to the State of
Illinois net operating loss carryforward and the allowance for loan losses. For income tax return purposes, only actual charge-offs are deductible, not the
provision for loan losses. Under generally accepted accounting principles, a valuation allowance is required to be recognized if it is “more-likely-than-not”
that the deferred tax asset will not be realized. The determination of the recoverability of the deferred tax assets is highly subjective and dependent upon
judgment concerning management’s evaluation of both positive and negative evidence, the forecasts of future income, applicable tax planning strategies, and
assessments of the current and future economic and business conditions. We consider both positive and negative evidence regarding the ultimate
recoverability of our deferred tax assets. Positive evidence includes available tax planning strategies and the probability that taxable income will continue to
be generated in future periods, as it was in periods since March 31, 2010, while negative evidence includes a cumulative loss in 2009 and 2008 and certain
business and economic trends. We evaluated the recoverability of our net deferred tax assets and established a valuation allowance for certain state net
operating loss and credit carryforwards that are not expected to be fully realized. Management believes that it is more-likely-than-not that the other deferred
tax assets included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements will be fully realized. We determined that no valuation allowance was required for
any other deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2014, although there is no guarantee that those assets will be recognizable in future periods.
 
We assess the likelihood that any deferred tax assets will be realized through the reduction of taxes in future periods and establish a valuation allowance for
those assets for which recovery is not more-likely-than-not. In making this assessment, we must make judgments and estimates regarding the ability to realize
the asset through the future reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, future taxable income, and the possible application of future tax planning
strategies.  The Company’s evaluation gave consideration to the fact that all net operating loss carrybacks have been utilized.  Therefore, utilization of net
operating loss carryforwards are dependent on implementation of tax strategies and continued profitability.
 

ITEM 3.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

 
Market risk is the risk of changes in asset values due to movements in underlying market rates and prices.  Interest rate risk is the risk to earnings and capital
arising from movements in interest rates.  Interest rate risk is the most significant market risk affecting First Busey as other types of market risk, such as
foreign currency exchange rate risk and commodity price risk, have minimal impact or do not arise in the normal course of First Busey’s business activities.
 
The Bank has an asset-liability committee which meets at least quarterly to review current market conditions and attempts to structure the Bank’s balance
sheet to ensure stable net interest income despite potential changes in interest rates with all other variables constant.
 
As interest rate changes do not impact all categories of assets and liabilities equally or simultaneously, the asset-liability committee primarily relies on
balance sheet and income simulation analysis to determine the potential impact of changes in market interest rates on net interest income.  In these standard
simulation models, the balance sheet is projected over a year-one time horizon and a year-two time horizon, and net interest income is calculated under
current market rates and then assuming permanent instantaneous shifts of +/-100, +/-200, +/-300 and +/-400 basis points.  Management measures such
changes assuming immediate and sustained shifts in the federal funds rate and other market rate indices and the corresponding shifts in other non-market rate
indices based on their historical changes relative to changes in the federal funds rate and other market indices.  The model assumes assets and liabilities
remain constant at the measurement date balances.  The model uses repricing frequency on all variable-rate assets and liabilities.  Prepayment speeds on loans
have been adjusted to incorporate expected prepayment speeds in both a declining and rising rate environment.  As of September 30, 2014 and December 31,
2013, due to the current low interest rate environment, a downward adjustment in federal fund rates was not meaningful.
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Utilizing this measurement concept, the interest rate risk of First Busey due to an immediate and sustained change in interest rates, expressed as a change in
net interest income as a percentage of the net interest income calculated in the constant base model, was as follows:
 
  

Year-One: Basis Point Changes
 

  
-400

 
-300

 
-200

 
-100

 
+100

 
+200

 
+300

 
+400

 

                  
September 30, 2014

 

NA
 

NA
 

NA
 

NA
 

(2.62)% (5.23)% (8.21)% (11.44)%
                  
December 31, 2013

 

NA
 

NA
 

NA
 

NA
 

(3.55)% (6.91)% (10.62)% (14.60)%
 
  

Year-Two: Basis Point Changes
 

  
-400

 
-300

 
-200

 
-100

 
+100

 
+200

 
+300

 
+400

 

                  
September 30, 2014

 

NA
 

NA
 

NA
 

NA
 

0.30% 0.20% (0.49)% (1.66)%
                  
December 31, 2013

 

NA
 

NA
 

NA
 

NA
 

0.54% 0.63% 0.15% (0.88)%
 



The risk is monitored and managed within approved policy limits.  The calculation of potential effects of hypothetical interest rate changes was based on
numerous assumptions and should not be relied upon as indicative of actual results.  Actual results will differ from simulated results due to timing, magnitude
and frequency of interest rate changes as well as changes in market conditions and management strategies.  The above results do not take into account any
management action to mitigate potential risk.
 

ITEM 4.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
An evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) was carried out as of September 30, 2014, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and several other members of our senior management. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that, as of September 30, 2014, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that the information we are required to disclose in the
reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) accumulated and communicated to our management (including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer) to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure, and (ii) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
During the quarter ended September 30, 2014, First Busey did not make any changes in its internal control over financial reporting or other factors that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting.
 
On May 14, 2013, the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) issued an updated version of its Internal Control -
Integrated Framework (“2013 Framework”).  Originally issued in 1992 (“1992 Framework”), the framework helps organizations design, implement and
evaluate the effectiveness of internal control concepts and simplify their use and application.  The 1992 Framework will remain effective during the transition,
which extends to December 15, 2014, after which time COSO will consider it as superseded by the 2013 Framework.  As of September 30, 2014, First Busey
continues to utilize the 1992 Framework and is in the process of transitioning to the 2013 Framework.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

 
ITEM 1.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

 
As part of the ordinary course of business, First Busey and its subsidiaries are parties to litigation that is incidental to their regular business activities.
 
There is no material pending litigation, other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business, in which First Busey or any of its subsidiaries is
involved or of which any of their property is the subject.  Furthermore, there is no pending legal proceeding that is adverse to First Busey in which any
director, officer or affiliate of First Busey, or any associate of any such director or officer, is a party or has a material interest.
 

ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS
 

There have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed in Item 1A of Part I of the Company’s 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

ITEM 2.  UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 

Repurchases
 
There were no purchases made by or on behalf of First Busey of shares of its common stock during the quarter ended September 30, 2014.
 
On January 22, 2008, First Busey announced that its board of directors had authorized the repurchase of 1,000,000 shares of common stock.  First Busey’s
repurchase plan has no expiration date and is active until all the shares are repurchased or action is taken by the board of directors to discontinue the plan.  As
of September 30, 2014, under the Company’s stock repurchase plan, 895,655 shares remained authorized for repurchase.
 

ITEM 3.  DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITES
 

None.
 

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 

Not Applicable.
 

ITEM 5.  OTHER INFORMATION
 

(a)         None.
 
(b)         None.
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ITEM 6.  EXHIBITS

 



*2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 25, 2014, by and among First Busey Corporation, FBC Acquisition LLC and Herget
Financial Corp. (Schedules and other similar attachments have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K).

   
*31.1

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a).
   

*31.2
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a).
   

*32.1
 

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, from the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer.

   
*32.2

 

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, from the Company’s
Chief Financial Officer.

   
*101

 

Interactive Data File
   

 

 

Interactive data files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013;
(ii) Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013; (iii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013; (iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’
Equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013; (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended
September 30, 2014 and 2013; and (vi) Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

 

*Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION
(Registrant)

 
 

By: /s/ VAN A. DUKEMAN
   
  

Van A. Dukeman 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal executive officer)

   
 

By: /s/ ROBIN N. ELLIOTT
   
  

Robin N. Elliott 
Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal financial and accounting officer)

 
Date:  November 6, 2014
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

 
THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (together with all exhibits and schedules, this “Agreement”) is entered into as of September 25,

2014, by and among First Busey Corporation, a Nevada corporation (“Acquiror”), FBC Acquisition LLC, a Nevada limited liability company and wholly-
owned subsidiary of Acquiror (“Merger Sub”), and Herget Financial Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”).

 
RECITALS



 
A.            The parties to this Agreement desire to effect a merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company (the “Merger”) in accordance with this

Agreement and the applicable provisions of the NRS and the DGCL, with the Company as the surviving entity in the Merger (sometimes referred to in such
capacity as the “Surviving Entity”).

 
B.            The respective boards of directors of the Company and Acquiror, and the sole member of Merger Sub, have approved the Merger upon the

terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the NRS and the DGCL, approved and declared the
advisability of this Agreement and have determined that consummation of the Merger in accordance with the terms of this Agreement is in the best interests
of their respective companies and shareholders (or member, in the case of Merger Sub).

 
C.            The parties desire to make certain representations, warranties and agreements in connection with the Merger and the other transactions

contemplated by this Agreement and also agree to certain prescribed conditions to the Merger and other transactions.
 

AGREEMENTS
 

In consideration of the foregoing premises and the following mutual promises, covenants and agreements, the parties hereby agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE 1
THE MERGER

 
Section 1.1            The Merger.  Provided that this Agreement shall not prior thereto have been terminated in accordance with its express terms, upon

the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the NRS and the DGCL, at the Effective Time,
Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company pursuant to the provisions of, and with the effects provided in, the NRS and the DGCL, the separate
corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company will be the Surviving Entity.

 
Section 1.2            Effective Time; Closing.
 

(a)           Provided that this Agreement shall not prior thereto have been terminated in accordance with its express terms, the closing of the
Merger (the “Closing”) shall occur through the mail or at a place that is mutually acceptable to Acquiror and the Company, or if they fail to agree, at the
offices of Barack Ferrazzano Kirschbaum & Nagelberg LLP, located at

 

 
200 West Madison Street, Suite 3900, Chicago, Illinois 60606, at 10:00 a.m., local time, on the date that is within ten (10) Business Days after the satisfaction
or waiver (subject to applicable Legal Requirements) of the latest to occur of the conditions set forth in Article 8 and Article 9 (other than those conditions
that by their nature are to be satisfied or waived at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions) or at such other time and place as
Acquiror and the Company may agree in writing (the “Closing Date”).  Notwithstanding the preceding, if the Closing Date would fall on a date that is after
December 15, 2014, the parties agree that the Closing Date will be no earlier than January 2, 2015.  Subject to the provisions of Article 10, failure to
consummate the Merger on the date and time and at the place determined pursuant to this Section 1.2 will not result in the termination of this Agreement and
will not relieve any party of any obligation under this Agreement.

 
(b)           The parties hereto agree to file on the Closing Date articles of merger with the Nevada Secretary of State (the “Nevada Articles of

Merger”), and a certificate of merger with the Delaware Secretary of State (the “Delaware Certificate of Merger”), in each case executed in accordance
with applicable Legal Requirements.  The Merger shall become effective as of the date and time to be agreed upon by the parties and specified in the Nevada
Articles of Merger and the Delaware Certificate of Merger (the “Effective Time”).

 
Section 1.3            Effects of the Merger.  At the Effective Time, the effects of the Merger shall be as provided in this Agreement, the Nevada

Articles of Merger, the Delaware Certificate of Merger and the applicable provisions of the NRS and DGCL.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
at the Effective Time, all of the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company shall be vested in the Surviving Entity, and all debts,
liabilities and duties of the Company shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of the Surviving Entity.

 
Section 1.4            Organizational Documents of the Surviving Entity.  The articles of organization and operating agreement of Merger Sub, as in

effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the articles of organization and operating agreement of the Surviving Entity until thereafter amended
in accordance with the provisions thereof and applicable Legal Requirements.

 
Section 1.5            Manager of the Surviving Entity.  The manager of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the manager of

the Surviving Entity.
 

Section 1.6            Bank Merger.  The parties will cooperate and use their reasonable best efforts to effect the Bank Merger at a time to be
determined following the Merger.  At the effective time of the Bank Merger, the separate corporate existence of the Bank will terminate.  Acquiror Bank will
be the surviving bank and will continue its corporate existence under applicable Legal Requirements.  The Bank Merger shall be accomplished pursuant to a
merger agreement containing such terms and conditions as are ordinary and customary for affiliated bank merger transactions of such type.

 
Section 1.7            Absence of Control.  Subject to any specific provisions of this Agreement, it is the intent of the parties to this Agreement that

neither Acquiror nor the Company by reason of this Agreement shall be deemed (until consummation of the Contemplated Transactions) to control, directly
or indirectly, the other party or any of its
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respective Subsidiaries and shall not exercise, or be deemed to exercise, directly or indirectly, a controlling influence over the management or policies of such
other party or any of its respective Subsidiaries.

 



Section 1.8            Alternative Structure.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, before the Effective Time, the
parties may mutually agree to change the method of effecting the Contemplated Transactions if and to the extent that it deems such a change to be desirable;
provided, that:  (a) any such change shall not affect the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger to holders of Company Common Stock; and
(b) no such change shall (i) alter or change the amount or kind of the consideration to be issued to holders of Company Common Stock as consideration in the
Merger or (ii) materially impede or delay consummation of the Merger.  If the parties agree to make such a change, they shall execute appropriate documents
to reflect the change.

 
ARTICLE 2

CONVERSION OF SECURITIES IN THE MERGER
 

Section 2.1            Merger Consideration; Conversion of Stock.  At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part
of Acquiror, Merger Sub, the Company or the holder of any of the following securities:

 
(a)           Each membership interest of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be unaffected by the

Merger and shall thereafter represent one membership interest of the Surviving Entity.
 
(b)           Each Outstanding Company Share (other than an Outstanding Company Share to be cancelled and retired pursuant to

Section 2.1(c) and Dissenting Shares) shall be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration Per Share and thereupon shall no longer be
outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and shall cease to exist.  Each certificate previously evidencing any Outstanding Company Share (a
“Company Stock Certificate”) (other than shares cancelled and retired pursuant to Section 2.1(c) and Dissenting Shares) shall thereafter represent only the
right to receive, upon surrender of such certificate in accordance with Section 2.2, the Merger Consideration Per Share.  The holders of Company Stock
Certificates shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or by law.

 
(c)           Each share of Company Common Stock held as treasury stock or otherwise held by the Company or the Bank (other than in a

fiduciary capacity), if any, immediately prior to the Effective Time shall automatically be cancelled and retired and cease to exist, and no portion of the
Merger Consideration shall be exchanged therefor.

 
Section 2.2            Exchange of Certificates.
 

(a)   The parties to this Agreement agree: (i) that Computershare Trust Company, N.A. shall serve, pursuant to the terms of an exchange
agent agreement mutually acceptable to the parties, as the exchange agent for purposes of this Agreement (the “Exchange Agent”); and (ii) to execute and
deliver the exchange agent agreement at or prior to the Effective Time.
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Acquiror shall be solely responsible for the payment of any fees and expenses of the Exchange Agent.

 
(b)           At least five (5) days prior to the Effective Time, Acquiror shall authorize the issuance of and shall make available to the Exchange

Agent, for the benefit of the holders of Company Stock Certificates for exchange in accordance with this Article 2, sufficient cash for payment of the Merger
Consideration pursuant to Section 2.1.  Such amount of cash is referred to in this Article 2 as the “Conversion Fund.”

 
(c)           At least ten (10) days prior to the Effective Time, Acquiror shall cause the Exchange Agent to mail to each holder of record of one

or more Company Stock Certificates a letter of transmittal (“Letter of Transmittal”), in a form to be agreed by the parties, which specifies, among other
things, that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to Company Stock Certificates shall pass, only upon delivery of such certificates to the
Exchange Agent, together with instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Company Stock Certificates pursuant to this Agreement.

 
(d)           Upon proper surrender of a Company Stock Certificate for exchange to the Exchange Agent, together with a properly completed

and duly executed Letter of Transmittal, the holder of such Company Stock Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor his, her or its portion
of the Merger Consideration deliverable in respect of the shares of Company Common Stock represented by such Company Stock Certificate; thereupon such
Company Stock Certificate shall forthwith be cancelled.  No interest will be paid or accrued on any portion of the Merger Consideration deliverable upon
surrender of a Company Stock Certificate.

 
(e)           If a holder of Company Stock Certificates surrenders the Company Stock Certificates and a properly executed Letter of Transmittal

to the Exchange Agent at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, then, on the Closing Date, the Exchange Agent will deliver to such holder of
Company Stock Certificates his or her or its portion of the Merger Consideration deliverable in respect of the shares of Company Common Stock represented
by such Company Stock Certificates.  If a holder of Company Stock Certificates surrenders such Company Stock Certificates and a properly executed Letter
of Transmittal to the Exchange Agent at any time after five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, then the Exchange Agent will promptly, but in no
event later than five (5) Business Days following receipt of such Company Stock Certificates and Letter of Transmittal, deliver to such holder of Company
Stock Certificates his or her or its portion of the Merger Consideration deliverable in respect of the shares of Company Common Stock represented by such
Company Stock Certificates.

 
(f)            After the Effective Time, there shall be no transfers on the stock transfer books of the Company of Outstanding Company Shares.
 
(g)           Any portion of the Conversion Fund that remains unclaimed by the shareholders of the Company twelve (12) months after the

Effective Time shall be paid to the Surviving Entity, or its successors in interest.  Any shareholders of the Company who have not theretofore complied with
this Article 2 shall thereafter look only to the Surviving Entity, or its successors in interest, for the payment of the Merger Consideration Per Share
deliverable in
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respect of such shareholders’ shares of Company Common Stock.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of Acquiror, the Surviving Entity, the Exchange
Agent or any other person shall be liable to any former holder of shares of Company Common Stock for any amount delivered in good faith to a public



official pursuant to applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar laws.
 
(h)           In the event any Company Stock Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact

by the person claiming such Company Stock Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Surviving Entity, the posting by such person of a
bond in such amount as the Exchange Agent may determine is reasonably necessary as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect
to such Company Stock Certificate, the Exchange Agent will issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Company Stock Certificate, and in
accordance with this Article 2, the Merger Consideration Per Share deliverable in respect thereof pursuant to this Agreement.

 
Section 2.3            Dissenting Shares.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, shares of Company Common Stock

that are outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that are held by any Person who is entitled to demand and properly demands appraisal of
such Dissenting Shares pursuant to, and who complies in all respects with, Section 262 of the DGCL (the “Dissenting Shares”) shall not be converted into
the right to receive the Merger Consideration as provided in Section 2.1 and the holders of such Dissenting Shares shall be entitled only to such rights as may
be granted to such holders pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL; provided, however, that if any such holder shall fail to perfect or otherwise shall waive,
withdraw or lose the right to appraisal under Section 262 of the DGCL, then such Dissenting Shares shall be deemed to have been converted as of the
Effective Time into, and to have become exchangeable solely for the right to receive, the Merger Consideration as provided in this Article 2.

 
Section 2.4            Purchase Price Adjustments.

 
(a)   If the Transaction Costs are equal to or less than $1.423 million, there will be no adjustment to the Merger Consideration.
 
(b)   If the Transaction Costs are greater than $1.423 million, the Merger Consideration shall be decreased by the amount the Transaction

Costs exceed $1.423 million.
 
(c)   “Transaction Costs” means all gross pre-tax transaction costs of the Company or the Bank necessary to consummate, or incurred or

accrued (or required to be accrued in accordance with GAAP) in connection with, the Contemplated Transactions, including, but not limited to: (i) the
aggregate fees and expenses of attorneys, accountants, consultants, brokers, finders, financial advisors and other professional advisors incurred by the
Company or the Bank in connection the Contemplated Transactions; (ii) any payments due under any change of control or severance agreements, retention or
stay bonus programs, or other similar arrangements, including without limitation the agreements listed on Schedule 1; (iii) the cost of any termination fees
paid or required to be paid as a result of a termination of any Contract in connection with the closing of the transaction; and (iv) any Remediation Cost, each
as set forth on Schedule 2.
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ARTICLE 3

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY
 

Except as Previously Disclosed, the Company hereby represents and warrants to Acquiror as follows:
 
Section 3.1            Company Organization.  The Company:  (a) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws

of the State of Delaware and is also in good standing in each other jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted or the properties or assets owned
or leased by it makes such qualification necessary; (b) is registered with the Federal Reserve as a bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company
Act of 1956, as amended; and (c) has full power and authority, corporate and otherwise, to operate as a bank holding company and to own, operate and lease
its properties as presently owned, operated and leased, and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted.  The Company has delivered or made
available to Acquiror copies of the Company Certificate of Incorporation and Company Bylaws and all amendments thereto, each of which are true, complete
and correct, and in full force and effect as of the date of this Agreement.  The Company has no Subsidiaries other than the Bank, Herget Service Co., an
Illinois corporation, and Herget Mortgage Corp., an Illinois corporation.

 
Section 3.2            Company Subsidiary Organization.  The Bank is a national bank duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the

laws of the U.S.  Herget Service Co. is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Illinois and is also in
good standing in each other jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted or the properties or assets owned or leased by it makes such
qualification necessary.  Herget Mortgage Corp. is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Illinois
and is also in good standing in each other jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted or the properties or assets owned or leased by it makes
such qualification necessary.  Each Subsidiary of the Company has full power and authority, corporate and otherwise, to own, operate and lease its properties
as presently owned, operated and leased, and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted, and is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing
in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted or the properties or assets owned or leased by it makes such qualification necessary.  The
deposit accounts of the Bank are insured by the FDIC through the Deposit Insurance Fund to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirements,
and all premiums and assessments required to be paid in connection therewith have been paid when due. The Company has delivered or made available to
Acquiror copies of the charter (or similar organizational documents) and bylaws of each Subsidiary of the Company and all amendments thereto, each of
which are true, complete and correct and in full force and effect as of the date of this Agreement.
 

Section 3.3            Authorization; Enforceability.  The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its
obligations under this Agreement.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company, and the consummation by it of its
obligations under this Agreement, have been authorized by all necessary corporate action, subject to the Company Shareholder Approval, and, subject to the
receipt of the Requisite Regulatory Approvals, this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the
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Company enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other Legal
Requirements affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity.

 
Section 3.4            No Conflict.  Neither the execution nor delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation or performance of any of the

Contemplated Transactions will, directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time):  (a) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any



provision of the articles of incorporation or charter (or similar organizational documents) or bylaws, each as in effect on the date hereof, or any currently
effective resolution adopted by the board of directors or shareholders of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (b) contravene, conflict with or result in a
violation of, or give any Regulatory Authority or other Person the valid and enforceable right to challenge any of the Contemplated Transactions or to
exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under, any Legal Requirement or any Order to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or any of their
respective assets that are owned or used by them, may be subject, except for any contravention, conflict or violation that is permissible by virtue of obtaining
the Requisite Regulatory Approvals; (c) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of, or give any Person the right to declare
a default or exercise any remedy under, or to accelerate the maturity or performance of, or to cancel, terminate or modify any Company Material Contract; or
(d) result in the creation of any material lien, charge or encumbrance upon or with respect to any of the assets owned or used by the Company or its
Subsidiaries.  Except for the Requisite Regulatory Approvals and the Company Shareholder Approval, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is or
will be required to give any notice to or obtain any consent from any Person in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the
consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions.
 

Section 3.5            Company Capitalization.
 

(a)           The authorized capital stock of the Company currently consists exclusively of 200,000 shares of Company Common Stock, of
which, as of June 30, 2014 (the “Company Capitalization Date”), 57,993 shares were issued and outstanding; and (ii) 40,000 shares of the Company’s
preferred stock, $100.00 par value per share (“Company Preferred Stock”), of which no shares were designated and outstanding as of the Company
Capitalization Date.  The Company does not have outstanding any bonds, debentures, notes or other debt obligations having the right to vote (or convertible
into, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) with the shareholders of the Company on any matter.  All of the issued and outstanding shares of
Company Common Stock have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable.

 
(b)           No equity-based awards were outstanding as of the Company Capitalization Date.  Since the Company Capitalization Date through

the date hereof, the Company has not:  (i) issued or repurchased any shares of Company Common Stock or Company Preferred Stock or other equity
securities of the Company; or (ii) issued or awarded any options, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted stock units, deferred equity units,
awards based on the value of Company Common Stock or any other equity-based awards.  From the Company Capitalization Date through the date of this
Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has: (A) accelerated the vesting of or lapsing of restrictions with
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respect to any stock-based compensation awards or long-term incentive compensation awards; (B) with respect to executive officers of the Company or its
Subsidiaries, entered into or amended any employment, severance, change in control or similar agreement (including any agreement providing for the
reimbursement of excise taxes under Section 4999 of the Code); or (C) adopted or materially amended any Company Benefit Plan.

 
(c)   None of the shares of Company Common Stock were issued in violation of any federal or state securities laws or any other applicable

Legal Requirement.  Except as set forth in Section 3.5(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedules, as of the date of this Agreement there are:  (i) no outstanding
subscriptions, Contracts, conversion privileges, options, warrants, calls or other rights obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, sell or
otherwise dispose of, or to purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, any shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; and (ii) no
contractual obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of Company Common Stock or any
equity security of the Company or its Subsidiaries or any securities representing the right to purchase or otherwise receive any shares of capital stock or any
other equity security of the Company or its Subsidiaries.  Except as permitted by this Agreement, since the Company Capitalization Date, no shares of
Company Common Stock have been purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired, directly or indirectly, by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and no
dividends or other distributions payable in any equity securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been declared, set aside, made or paid to the
shareholders of the Company.  The Company does not own, nor has any Contract to acquire, any equity interests or other securities of any Person or any
direct or indirect equity or ownership interest in any other business.
 

Section 3.6            Company Subsidiary Capitalization.  All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity ownership interests
of each Subsidiary of the Company are owned by the Company, directly or indirectly, free and clear of any material liens, pledges, charges, claims and
security interests and similar encumbrances, and all of such shares or equity ownership interests are duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and
nonassessable.  No Subsidiary of the Company has or is bound by any outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, commitments or agreements of any
character calling for the purchase or issuance of any shares of capital stock or any other equity security of such Subsidiary or any securities representing the
right to purchase or otherwise receive any shares of capital stock or any other equity security of such Subsidiary.  No Subsidiary of the Company owns or has
any Contract to acquire, any equity interests or other securities of any Person or any direct or indirect equity or ownership interest in any other business.

 
Section 3.7            Financial Statements and Reports; Regulatory Filings.
 

(a)           True and complete copies of the following financial statements (collectively, the “Company Financial Statements”) have been
made available to Acquiror:  (i) the audited consolidated balance sheets of Company and its Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, and the
related statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the fiscal years then ended; and (ii) the unaudited consolidated interim
balance sheet of Company and its Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2014 and the related statement of income for the six-month period then ended.
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(b)           The Company Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with GAAP, except in each case as indicated in such

statements or the notes thereto, and comply in all material respects with all applicable Legal Requirements.  The Company Financial Statements are complete
and correct in all material respects and fairly and accurately present the respective financial position, assets, liabilities and results of operations of the
Company and its Subsidiaries at the respective dates of and for the periods referred to in the Company Financial Statements, subject to normal year-end audit
adjustments in the case of unaudited Company Financial Statements.  The Company Financial Statements do not include any assets or omit to state any
liabilities, absolute or contingent, or other facts, which inclusion or omission would render the Company Financial Statements misleading in any material
respect as of the respective dates thereof and for the periods referred to therein.  As of the date hereof, BKD, LLP has not resigned (or informed Company that
it intends to resign) or been dismissed as independent registered public accountants of the Company as a result of or in connection with any disagreements
with the Company on a matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure.

 



(c)           The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has filed all forms, reports and documents required to be filed since January 1, 2012,
with all applicable federal or state securities or banking authorities.  Such forms, reports and documents:  (i) complied as to form with applicable Legal
Requirements; and (ii) did not at the time they were filed, after giving effect to any amendment thereto filed prior to the date hereof, contain an untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except that information filed as of a later date (but before the date of this Agreement) is deemed
to modify information as of an earlier date.

 
Section 3.8              Books and Records.  The books of account, minute books, stock record books and other records of the Company and its

Subsidiaries are complete and correct in all material respects and have been maintained in accordance with the Company’s business practices and all
applicable Legal Requirements, including the maintenance of an adequate system of internal controls required by such Legal Requirements.  The minute
books of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries contain accurate and complete records in all material respects of all meetings held of, and corporate action
taken by, its respective shareholders, boards of directors and committees of the boards of directors.  At the Closing, all of those books and records will be in
the possession of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

 
Section 3.9              Properties.  The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has good and marketable title to all assets and properties, whether real or

personal, tangible or intangible, that it purports to own, subject to no liens, mortgages, security interests, encumbrances or charges of any kind except:  (a) as
noted in the most recent Company Financial Statements; (b) statutory liens for Taxes not yet delinquent or being contested in good faith by appropriate
Proceedings and for which appropriate reserves have been established and reflected on the Company Financial Statements; (c) pledges or liens required to be
granted in connection with the acceptance of government deposits, granted in connection with repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements or otherwise
incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business; (d) easements, rights of way, and other similar encumbrances that do not materially affect the use of the
properties or assets subject thereto or affected thereby or otherwise materially impair business operations at
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such properties; and (e) minor defects and irregularities in title and encumbrances that do not materially impair the use thereof for the purposes for which they
are held (collectively, the “Permitted Exceptions”).  The Company and each of its Subsidiaries as lessee has the right under valid and existing leases to
occupy, use, possess and control any and all of the respective property leased by it, and each such lease is valid and without default thereunder by the lessee
or, to the Knowledge of the Company, the lessor.  All buildings and structures owned by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries lie wholly within the
boundaries of the real property owned or validly leased by it, and do not encroach upon the property of, or otherwise conflict with the property rights of, any
other Person.

 
Section 3.10         Loans; Loan Loss Reserve.
 

(a)           Each loan, loan agreement, note, lease or other borrowing agreement by the Bank, any participation therein, and any guaranty,
renewal or extension thereof (the “Company Loans”) reflected as an asset on any of the Company Financial Statements or reports filed with the Regulatory
Authorities is evidenced by documentation that is customary and legally sufficient in all material respects and constitutes, to the Knowledge of the Company,
the legal, valid and binding obligation of the obligor named therein, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that the enforceability
thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally or equitable principles or doctrines.

 
(b)           All Company Loans originated or purchased by the Bank were made or purchased in all material respects in accordance with the

policies of the board of directors of the Bank and in the Ordinary Course of Business of the Bank.  The Bank’s interest in all Company Loans is free and clear
of any security interest, lien, encumbrance or other charge, and the Bank has complied in all material respects with all Legal Requirements relating to such
Company Loans.

 
(c)           Except as set forth in Section 3.10(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedules, the Bank is not a party to any Company Loan: 

(i) under the terms of which the obligor is more than ninety (90) days delinquent in payment of principal or interest or in default of any other material
provision as of the dates shown thereon or for which the Bank has discontinued the accrual of interest; (ii) that has been classified as “substandard,”
“doubtful,” “loss,” “other loans especially mentioned” or any comparable classifications by the Bank; (iii) that has been listed on any “watch list” or similar
internal report of the Bank; (iv) that has been the subject of any notice from any obligor of adverse environmental conditions potentially affecting the value of
any collateral for such Company Loan; or (v) with respect to which the Bank is aware of potential violations of any Environmental Laws that may have
occurred on the property serving as collateral for such Company Loan or by any obligor of such Company Loan.

 
(d)           The Bank’s allowance for loan and lease losses reflected in the Company Financial Statements (including footnotes thereto) was

determined and calculated on the basis of the Bank’s quarterly review and evaluation of the portfolio of Company Loans under the requirements of GAAP
and Legal Requirements, was established in a manner consistent with the Bank’s internal policies, and, in the reasonable judgment of the Bank, was adequate
in all material respects under the requirements of GAAP and all Legal Requirements to provide for
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possible losses, net of recoveries relating to Company Loans previously charged-off, on outstanding Company Loans.

 
(e)           To the Knowledge of the Company:  (i) none of the Company Loans is subject to any material offset or claim of offset; and (ii) the

aggregate loan balances in excess of the Bank’s allowance for loan and lease losses are, based on past loan loss experience, collectible in accordance with
their terms (except as limited above) and all uncollectible loans have been charged off.

 
Section 3.11         Taxes.
 

(a)           The Company and each of its Subsidiaries have duly and timely filed all Tax Returns required to be filed by them on or before the
Closing Date for all taxable or reporting periods ending on or before the Closing Date, and each such Tax Return is true, correct and complete in all material
respects.  The Company and each of its Subsidiaries have paid, or made adequate provision for the payment of, all Taxes (whether or not reflected in Tax
Returns as filed or to be filed) due and payable by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries, or claimed to be due and payable by any Regulatory Authority,



and are not delinquent in the payment of any Tax, except such Taxes as are being contested in good faith and as to which adequate reserves have been
provided.

 
(b)           There is no claim or assessment pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company and its

Subsidiaries for any Taxes that they owe.  No audit, examination or investigation related to Taxes paid or payable by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries
is presently being conducted or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened by any Regulatory Authority.  Neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries are the
beneficiary of any extension of time within which to file any Tax Return, and there are no liens for Taxes (other than Taxes not yet due and payable) upon any
of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ assets.  Neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries has executed an extension or waiver of any statute of limitations on
the assessment or collection of any Tax that is currently in effect.  None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party to a tax sharing, tax allocation or
similar agreement.

 
(c)           The Company and each of its Subsidiaries have delivered or made available to Acquiror true, correct and complete copies of all

Tax Returns relating to income taxes and franchise taxes owed by the Company and its Subsidiaries with respect to the last three (3) fiscal years.
 
(d)           The Company has been a validly-electing S corporation within the meaning of Sections 1361 and 1362 of the Code at all times

since 1997 and will be an S corporation up to and including the date of Closing.  The Bank has been a “qualified subchapter S subsidiary” within the meaning
of Section 1361(b)(3)(B) of the Code (a “QSub”) at all times during its existence and will be a QSub up to and including the date of Closing.

 
(e)   None of the Company or its Subsidiaries has, within the past ten (10) years, (i) acquired assets from another corporation in a transaction

in which the Company’s tax basis in the acquired assets was determined, in whole or in part, by reference to the tax basis of the
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acquired assets in the hands of the transferor, or (ii) acquired the stock of any corporation that is or was a QSub.

 
(f)            To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries have not:  (i) engaged in or been a party to any

“listed transaction” as defined in Section 6707A(c)(2) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b)(2); (ii) failed to properly report any
“reportable transaction” within the meaning as defined in Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b); or engaged in any
transaction that could affect the Tax liability for any Tax Returns not closed by applicable statute of limitations which a “significant purpose of such
transaction was the avoidance or evasion of U.S. federal income tax” for purposes of Sections 6662, 6662A, 6011, 6111 or 6707A of the Code or of the
regulations of the U.S. Department of the Treasury promulgated thereunder or pursuant to notices or other guidance published by the IRS (irrespective of the
effective dates).
 

Section 3.12         Employee Benefits.
 

(a)           Section 3.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedules includes a complete and correct list of each Company Benefit Plan.  The
Company has delivered to Acquiror true and complete copies of the following with respect to each Company Benefit Plan:  (i) copies of each Company
Benefit Plan, and all related plan descriptions; (ii) the last three (3) years’ annual reports on Form 5500, including all schedules thereto and the opinions of
independent accountants; and (iii) other material plan documents, including:

 
(i)            all contracts with third party administrators, actuaries, investment managers, consultants, insurers, and independent

contractors;
 
(ii)           all notices and other communications that were given by the Company, any Subsidiary, or any Company Benefit Plan to

the IRS, the DOL or the PBGC pursuant to applicable law within the six (6) years preceding the date of this Agreement; and
 
(iii)          all notices or other communications that were given by the IRS, the PBGC, or the DOL to the Company, any Subsidiary,

or any Company Benefit Plan within the six (6) years preceding the date of this Agreement.
 

(b)           Except as set forth in Section 3.12(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedules, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement
nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will cause a payment, vesting, increase or acceleration of benefits or benefit entitlements under
any Company Benefit Plan or any other increase in the liabilities of the Company or any Subsidiary under any Company Benefit Plan as a result of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  No Company Benefit Plan provides for payment of any amount which, considered in the aggregate with
amounts payable pursuant to all other Company Benefit Plans, would result in any amount being non-deductible for federal income tax purposes by virtue of
Section 280G or 162(m) of the Code.

 
(c)           None of the Company or any Company ERISA Affiliate maintains or participates, or has ever maintained or participated, in a

multiemployer plan within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA.  None of the Company or any Company ERISA Affiliate has any liability for a plan that
is subject to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the
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Code.  None of the Company or any Company ERISA Affiliate or, to their knowledge, any director or employee of the Company or any Company ERISA
Affiliate, or any fiduciary of any Company Benefit Plan, has engaged in any transaction in violation of Section 406 or 407 of ERISA or, to the Company’s
Knowledge, any “prohibited transaction” (as defined in Section 4975(c)(1) of the Code) for which no exemption exists under Section 408(b) of ERISA or
Section 4975(d) of the Code in connection with such Company Benefit Plan.  No Company Benefit Plan is underfunded when comparing the present value of
accrued assets to the market value of plan assets.

 
(d)           Each Company Benefit Plan that is intended to qualify under Section 401 and related provisions of the Code is the subject of a

favorable determination letter from the IRS to the effect that it is so qualified under the Code and that its related funding instrument is tax exempt under
Section 501 of the Code (or the Company and its Subsidiaries are otherwise relying on an opinion letter issued to the prototype sponsor), and, to the



Company’s Knowledge, there are no facts or circumstances that would adversely affect the qualified status of any Company Benefit Plan or the tax-exempt
status of any related trust.

 
(e)           Each Company Benefit Plan is and has been administered in all material respects in compliance with its terms and with all

applicable Legal Requirements.
 
(f)            Other than routine claims for benefits made in the Ordinary Course of Business, there is no litigation, claim or assessment pending

or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened by, on behalf of, or against any Company Benefit Plan or against the administrators or trustees or other
fiduciaries of any Company Benefit Plan that alleges a violation of applicable state or federal law or violation of any Company Benefit Plan document or
related agreement.

 
(g)           No Company Benefit Plan fiduciary or any other person for whose actions the Company is responsible has, or has had, any liability

to any Company Benefit Plan participant, beneficiary or any other person under any provisions of ERISA or any other applicable Legal Requirement by
reason of any action or failure to act under any Company Benefit Plan, including any liability by any reason of any payment of, or failure to pay, benefits or
any other amounts or by reason of any credit or failure to give credit for any benefits or rights.

 
(h)           All accrued contributions and other payments to be made by the Company or any Subsidiary to any Company Benefit Plan

(i) through the date hereof have been made or reserves adequate for such purposes have been set aside therefor and reflected in the Company Financial
Statements and (ii) through the Closing Date shall have been made or reserves adequate for such purposes shall have been set aside therefore and reflected in
the Company Financial Statements.

 
(i)            Except as set forth in Section 3.12(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedules, there are no obligations under any Company Benefit

Plans to provide health or other welfare benefits to retirees or other former employees, directors, consultants or their dependents (other than rights under
Section 4980B of the Code or Section 601 of ERISA or comparable state laws).
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(j)            No condition exists as a result of which the Company or any Subsidiary would have any liability, whether absolute or contingent,

under any Company Benefit Plan with respect to any misclassification of a person performing services for the Company or any Subsidiary as an independent
contractor rather than as an employee.

 
(k)   Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have any liabilities to employees or former employees that are not reflected in the

employment contracts or benefit plans that have been delivered to Acquiror.
 
(l)    Each Company Benefit Plan may be amended, terminated or otherwise discontinued as of the Closing Date in accordance with its terms

without any liability to Acquiror or its ERISA Affiliates.
 

Section 3.13         Compliance with Legal Requirements.  The Company and each of its Subsidiaries hold all material licenses, certificates, permits,
franchises and rights from all appropriate Regulatory Authorities necessary for the conduct of their respective businesses.  The Company and each of its
Subsidiaries is, and at all times since January 1, 2012, has been, in compliance with each material Legal Requirement that is or was applicable to it or to the
conduct or operation of its respective businesses or the ownership or use of any of its respective assets.  Except as set forth in Section 3.13 of the Company
Disclosure Schedules, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received, at any time since January 1, 2012, any notice or other communication
(whether oral or written) from any Regulatory Authority or any other Person regarding:  (a) any actual, alleged, possible, or potential violation of, or failure to
comply with, any Legal Requirement; or (b) any actual, alleged, possible, or potential obligation on the part of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to
undertake, or to bear all or any portion of the cost of, any remedial action of any nature in connection with a failure to comply with any Legal Requirement.

 
Section 3.14         Legal Proceedings; Orders.
 

(a)           Since January 1, 2012, there have been, and currently are, no Proceedings or Orders pending, entered into or, to the Knowledge of
the Company, threatened against or affecting the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets, businesses, current or former directors or
executive officers, or the Contemplated Transactions, that have not been fully satisfied or terminated.  No officer, director, employee or agent of the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any Order that prohibits such officer, director, employee or agent from engaging in or continuing any conduct, activity
or practice relating to the businesses of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as currently conducted.

 
(b)           Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries:  (i) is subject to any cease and desist or other Order or enforcement action issued

by; (ii) is a party to any written agreement, consent agreement or memorandum of understanding with; (iii) is a party to any commitment letter or similar
undertaking to; (iv) is subject to any order or directive by; (v) is subject to any supervisory letter from; (vi) has been ordered to pay any civil money penalty,
which has not been paid, by; or (vii) has adopted any policies, procedures or board resolutions at the request of any Regulatory Authority that currently
restricts in any material respect the conduct of its business, in any manner relates to its capital adequacy, restricts its
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ability to pay dividends or interest or limits in any material manner its credit or risk management policies, its management or its business.  None of the
foregoing has been threatened by any Regulatory Authority.

 
Section 3.15         Absence of Certain Changes and Events.  Except as set forth in Section 3.15 of the Company Disclosure Schedules, since

December 31, 2013, the Company and its Subsidiaries have conducted their respective businesses only in the Ordinary Course of Business, and without
limiting the foregoing with respect to each, since December 31, 2013, there has not been any:
 

(a)           change in their authorized or issued capital stock; grant of any stock option or right to purchase shares of their capital stock;
issuance of any security convertible into such capital stock or evidences of indebtedness (except in connection with customer deposits); grant of any



registration rights; purchase, redemption, retirement or other acquisition by them of any shares of any such capital stock; or declaration or payment of any
dividend or other distribution or payment in respect of shares of their capital stock, except as reflected on the Company Financial Statements;

 
(b)           amendment to their articles of incorporation, charter or bylaws or adoption of any resolutions by their board of directors or

shareholders with respect to the same;
 
(c)           payment or increase of any bonus, salary or other compensation to any of their shareholders, directors, officers or employees,

except for normal increases in the Ordinary Course of Business or in accordance with any then-existing Company Benefit Plan, or entry into any employment,
consulting, non-competition, change in control, severance or similar Contract with any shareholder, director, officer or employee, except for the Contemplated
Transactions and except for any employment, consulting or similar agreement or arrangement that is not terminable at will or upon thirty (30) days’ notice or
less, without penalty or premium;

 
(d)           adoption, amendment (except for any amendment necessary to comply with any Legal Requirement) or termination of, or increase

in the payments to or benefits under, any Company Benefit Plan;
 
(e)           damage to or destruction or loss of any of their assets or property, whether or not covered by insurance and where the resulting

diminution in value individually or in the aggregate is greater than $50,000;
 
(f)            entry into, termination or extension of, or receipt of notice of termination of any joint venture or similar agreement pursuant to any

Contract or any similar transaction;
 
(g)           except for this Agreement, entry into any new, or modification, amendment, renewal or extension (through action or inaction) of

the terms of any existing, lease, Contract or license that has a term of more than one year or that involves the payment by the Bank of more than $50,000 in
the aggregate;

 
(h)           Company Loan or commitment to make any Company Loan other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
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(i)            Company Loan or commitment to make, renew, extend the term or increase the amount of any Company Loan to any Person if

such Company Loan or any other Company Loans to such Person or an Affiliate of such Person is on the “watch list” or similar internal report of the Bank, or
has been classified by the Bank or any Regulatory Authority as “substandard,” “doubtful,” “loss,” or “other loans specially mentioned” or listed as a
“potential problem loan”;

 
(j)            incurrence by them of any obligation or liability (fixed or contingent) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

 
(k)           sale (other than any sale in the Ordinary Course of Business), lease or other disposition of any of their assets or properties, or

mortgage, pledge or imposition of any lien or other encumbrance upon any of their material assets or properties, except:  (i) for Permitted Exceptions; or
(ii) as otherwise incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business;

 
(l)            cancellation or waiver by them of any claims or rights with a value in excess of $50,000;
 
(m)          any investment by them of a capital nature (e.g., construction of a structure or an addition to an existing structure on property

owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) individually or in the aggregate exceeding $50,000;
 
(n)           except for the Contemplated Transactions, merger or consolidation with or into any other Person, or acquisition of any stock,

equity interest or business of any other Person;
 
(o)           transaction for the borrowing or loaning of monies, or any increase in any outstanding indebtedness, other than in the Ordinary

Course of Business;
 
(p)           material change in any policies and practices with respect to liquidity management and cash flow planning, marketing, deposit

origination, lending, budgeting, profit and Tax planning, accounting or any other material aspect of their business or operations, except for such changes as
may be required in the opinion of the management of the Company or its Subsidiaries, as applicable, to respond to then-current market or economic
conditions or as may be required by any Regulatory Authorities;

 
(q)           filing of any applications for additional branches, opening of any new office or branch, closing of any current office or branch, or

relocation of operations from existing locations, except with respect to the Bank’s loan production office located in Peoria, Illinois;
 
(r)            discharge or satisfaction of any material lien or encumbrance on their assets or repayment of any material indebtedness for

borrowed money, except for obligations incurred and repaid in the Ordinary Course of Business;
 
(s)            entry into any Contract or agreement to buy, sell, exchange or otherwise deal in any assets or series of assets, including any

investment securities, but excluding OREO, individually or in the aggregate in excess of $50,000, except for the pledging of collateral to secure public funds
or entry into any repurchase agreements in the Ordinary Course of Business;
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(t)            purchase or other acquisition of any investments, direct or indirect, in any derivative securities, financial futures or commodities or

entry into any interest rate swap, floors and option agreements, or other similar interest rate management agreements;
 
(u)           hiring of any employee with an annual salary in excess of $50,000;



 
(v)           agreement, whether oral or written, by it to do any of the foregoing; or
 
(w)          event or events that have had or would reasonably be expected to have, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse

Effect on the Company.
 

Section 3.16         Material Contracts.  Except for Contracts evidencing Company Loans made by the Bank in the Ordinary Course of Business,
Section 3.16 of the Company Disclosure Schedules lists or describes the following with respect to the Company and each of its Subsidiaries (each such
agreement or document, a “Company Material Contract”), true, complete and correct copies of each of which have been delivered or made available to
Acquiror:

 
(a)           all interests in real property owned by them, including OREO, and the principal buildings and structures located thereon, together

with the address of such real estate, and each lease of real property to which it is a party, identifying the parties thereto, the annual rental payable, the
expiration date thereof and a brief description of the property covered, and in each case of either owned or leased real property, the proper identification, if
applicable, of each such property as a branch or main office or other office;

 
(b)           all loan and credit agreements, conditional sales Contracts or other title retention agreements or security agreements relating to

money borrowed by it, exclusive of deposit agreements with customers of the Bank entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business, agreements for the
purchase of federal funds and repurchase agreements;

 
(c)           each Contract that involves performance of services or delivery of goods or materials by it of an amount or value in excess of

$25,000;
 
(d)           each Contract that was not entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and that involves expenditures or receipts of it in excess

of $25,000;
 
(e)           each Contract not referred to elsewhere in this Section 3.16 that:  (i) relates to the future purchase of goods or services that

materially exceeds the requirements of its business at current levels or for normal operating purposes; or (ii) has a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or
its Subsidiaries;

 
(f)            each lease, rental, license, installment and conditional sale agreement and other Contract affecting the ownership of, leasing of,

title to or use of, any personal property (except personal property leases and installment and conditional sales agreements having aggregate payments of less
than $25,000);

 
(g)           each licensing agreement or other Contract with respect to patents, trademarks, copyrights, or other intellectual property, including

agreements with current or
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former employees, consultants or contractors regarding the appropriation or the nondisclosure of any of its intellectual property;

 
(h)           each collective bargaining agreement and other Contract to or with any labor union or other employee representative of a group of

employees;
 
(i)            each joint venture, partnership and other Contract (however named) involving a sharing of profits, losses, costs or liabilities by it

with any other Person;
 

(j)            each Contract containing covenants that in any way purport to restrict, in any material respect, the business activity of the
Company or its Subsidiaries or limit, in any material respect, the ability of the Company or its subsidiaries to engage in any line of business or to compete
with any Person;

 
(k)           each Contract providing for payments to or by any Person based on sales, purchases or profits, other than direct payments for

goods;
 
(l)            each employment agreement, consulting agreement, non-competition, severance or change in control agreement or similar

arrangement or plan with respect to any director or executive officer of the Bank;
 
(m)          the name of each Person who is or would be entitled pursuant to any Contract or Company Benefit Plan to receive any payment

from the Bank as a result of the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions (including any payment that is or would be due as a result of any actual or
constructive termination of a Person’s employment or position following such consummation) and the maximum amount of such payment;

 
(n)           each Contract entered into other than in the Ordinary Course of Business that contains or provides for an express undertaking by

the Bank to be responsible for consequential damages;
 
(o)           each Contract for capital expenditures in excess of $25,000;
 
(p)           each warranty, guaranty or other similar undertaking with respect to contractual performance extended by Company or any of its

Subsidiaries other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
 
(q)           each Company Benefit Plan; and
 
(r)            each amendment, supplement and modification in respect of any of the foregoing.
 



Section 3.17         No Defaults.  Each Company Material Contract is in full force and effect and is valid and enforceable in accordance with its terms,
except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other Legal Requirements affecting creditors’ rights generally and
subject to general principles of equity.  To the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that (with or without notice or lapse
of time) may contravene, conflict with or result in a material violation or breach of, or give the
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Company, any of its Subsidiaries or other Person the right to declare a default or exercise any remedy under, or to accelerate the maturity or performance of,
or to cancel, terminate or modify, any Company Material Contract.  Except in the Ordinary Course of Business with respect to any Company Loan, neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has given to or received from any other Person, at any time since January 1, 2012, any notice or other communication
(whether oral or written) regarding any actual, alleged, possible or potential violation or breach of, or default under, any Company Material Contract, that has
not been terminated or satisfied prior to the date of this Agreement.  Other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, there are no renegotiations of, attempts to
renegotiate or outstanding rights to renegotiate, any material amounts paid or payable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under current or completed
Company Material Contracts with any Person, and no such Person has made written demand for such renegotiation.

 
Section 3.18         Insurance.  Section 3.18 of the Company Disclosure Schedules lists all insurance policies and bonds owned or held by the

Company and its Subsidiaries with respect to their respective business, operations, properties or assets (including bankers’ blanket bond and insurance
providing benefits for employees), true and correct copies of which have been made available to Acquiror.  The Company and its Subsidiaries are insured
with licensed insurers against such risks and in such amounts as the management of the Company reasonably has determined to be prudent and consistent
with industry practice.  The Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with their insurance policies and are not in default under
any of the terms thereof.  Each such policy is outstanding and in full force and effect and, except for policies insuring against potential liabilities of officers,
directors and employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries, the Company or the relevant Subsidiary thereof is the sole beneficiary of such policies.  All
premiums and other payments due under any such policy have been paid, and all claims thereunder have been filed in due and timely fashion.  Section 3.18 of
the Company Disclosure Schedules lists and briefly describes all claims that have been filed under such insurance policies and bonds within the past three
(3) years that individually or in the aggregate exceed $25,000 and the current status of such claims.  All such claims have been filed in due and timely
fashion.  None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has had any insurance policy or bond cancelled or nonrenewed by the issuer of the policy or bond
within the past three (3) years.

 
Section 3.19         Compliance with Environmental Laws.  Except as set forth in Section 3.19 of the Company Disclosure Schedules, there are no

actions, suits, investigations, liabilities, inquiries, Proceedings or Orders involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets that
are pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, nor to the Knowledge of the Company is there any factual basis for any of the foregoing, as a
result of any asserted failure of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of, or any predecessor thereof, to comply with any Environmental Law.  No
environmental clearances or other governmental approvals are required for the conduct of the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions.  To the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is the owner of any
interest in real estate on which any substances have been used, stored, deposited, treated, recycled or disposed of, which substances if known to be present on,
at or under such property, would require clean up, removal or some other remedial action under any Environmental Law.  The Company and each
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Subsidiary of the Company has complied in all material respects with all Environmental Laws applicable to it and its business operations.

 
Section 3.20         Transactions with Affiliates.  Except as set forth in Section 3.20 of the Company Disclosure Schedules, no officer or director of

the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, any Immediate Family Member of any such Person, and no entity that any such Person “controls” within the meaning
of Regulation O of the Federal Reserve has (a) any Company Loan or any other agreement with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) any interest in
any material property, real, personal or mixed, tangible or intangible, used in or pertaining to, the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

 
Section 3.21         Brokerage Commissions.  Except for fees payable to Sheshunoff & Co. Investment Banking pursuant to an engagement letter as

set forth on Section 3.21 of the Company Disclosure Schedules, none of the Company or its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective Representatives, has
incurred any obligation or liability, contingent or otherwise, for brokerage or finders’ fees or agents’ commissions or other similar payment in connection with
this Agreement.

 
Section 3.22         Approval Delays.  To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no reason why the granting of any of the Requisite Regulatory

Approvals would be denied or unduly delayed.  The Bank’s most recent CRA rating was “satisfactory” or better.
 
Section 3.23         Labor Matters.
 

(a)           There are no collective bargaining agreements or other labor union Contracts applicable to any employees of the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries. There is no labor dispute, strike, work stoppage or lockout, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threat thereof, by or with respect to any
employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and there has been no labor dispute, strike, work stoppage or lockout in the previous three (3) years. 
There are no organizational efforts with respect to the formation of a collective bargaining unit presently being made, or to the Knowledge of the Company,
threatened, involving employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged or is engaging in
any unfair labor practice. The Company and its Subsidiaries are in substantial compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements respecting employment and
employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, wages, hours of work and occupational safety and health. No Proceeding asserting that the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries has committed an unfair labor practice (within the meaning of the National Labor Relations Act of 1935) or seeking to
compel the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to bargain with any labor organization as to wages or conditions of employment is pending or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, threatened with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries before the National Labor Relations Board, the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission or any other Regulatory Authority.

 
(b)           Except as set forth in Section 3.23(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedules, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a

party to, or otherwise bound by, any consent decree with, or citation by, any Regulatory Authority relating to employees or employment practices. None of the
Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of its or their
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executive officers has received within the past three (3) years any written notice of intent by any Regulatory Authority responsible for the enforcement of
labor or employment laws to conduct an investigation relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no such
investigation is in progress.
 

Section 3.24         Intellectual Property.  Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has the unrestricted right and authority, and the Surviving Entity
and its Subsidiaries will have the unrestricted right and authority from and after the Effective Time, to use all patents, trademarks, copyrights, service market,
trade name or other intellectual property owned by them as is necessary to enable them to conduct and to continue to conduct all material phases of the
businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries in the manner presently conducted by them, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, such use does not, and
will not, conflict with, infringe on or violate any patent, trademark, copyright, service mark, trade name or any other intellectual property right of any Person.

 
Section 3.25         Investments.
 

(a)           Section 3.25(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedules includes a complete and correct list and description as of June 30, 2014, of:
(i) all investment and debt securities, mortgage-backed and related securities, marketable equity securities and securities purchased under agreements to resell
that are owned by the Company or its Subsidiaries, other than, with respect to the Bank, in a fiduciary or agency capacity (the “Investment Securities”); and
(ii) any such Investment Securities that are pledged as collateral to another Person.  The Company and each Subsidiary has good and marketable title to all
Investment Securities held by it, free and clear of any liens, mortgages, security interests, encumbrances or charges, except for Permitted Exceptions and
except to the extent such Investment Securities are pledged in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with prudent banking practices to secure obligations
of the Company or the Bank.  The Investment Securities are valued on the books of the Company and the Bank in accordance with GAAP.

 
(b)           Except as set forth in Section 3.25(b) and as may be imposed by applicable securities laws, none of the Investment Securities is

subject to any restriction, whether contractual or statutory, that materially impairs the ability of the Company or a Subsidiary to dispose of such investment at
any time.  With respect to all material repurchase agreements to which the Company or a Subsidiary is a party, the Company or the Subsidiary, as the case
may be, has a valid, perfected first lien or security interest in the securities or other collateral securing each such repurchase agreement, and the value of the
collateral securing each such repurchase agreement equals or exceeds the amount of the debt secured by such collateral under such agreement.

 
(c)           None of the Company or its Subsidiaries has sold or otherwise disposed of any Investment Securities in a transaction in which the

acquiror of such Investment Securities or other person has the right, either conditionally or absolutely, to require the Company or a Subsidiary to repurchase
or otherwise reacquire any such Investment Securities.

 
(d)           There are no interest rate swaps, caps, floors, option agreements or other interest rate risk management arrangements to which the

Company or its Subsidiaries is bound.
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Section 3.26         Accuracy of Information Furnished.  Neither any representation nor warranty of the Company in, nor any Company Disclosure

Schedule to, this Agreement contains any untrue statement of a material fact, or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained
herein or therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  No notice given pursuant to Section 5.4 will contain any untrue
statement or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein or in this Agreement, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading.

 
ARTICLE 4

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF ACQUIROR AND MERGER SUB
 

Except as Previously Disclosed, Acquiror and Merger Sub hereby represent and warrant to the Company as follows:
 
Section 4.1            Organization.  Acquiror:  (a) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of

Nevada and is also in good standing in each other jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted or the properties or assets owned or leased by it
makes such qualification necessary; (b) is registered with the Federal Reserve as a financial holding company under the federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act; and
(c) has full power and authority, corporate and otherwise, to operate as a bank holding company and to own, operate and lease its properties as presently
owned, operated and leased, and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted.  The copies of the Acquiror Articles of Incorporation and the Acquiror
Bylaws and all amendments thereto set forth in the Acquiror SEC Reports are true, complete and correct, and in full force and effect as of the date of this
Agreement. Acquiror has no Subsidiaries other than as set forth in the Acquiror SEC Reports.

 
Section 4.2            Merger Sub Organization.  Merger Sub is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under

the laws of the State of Nevada. Merger Sub has full power and authority, corporate and otherwise, to own, operate and lease its properties as presently
owned, operated and leased, and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted, and is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in the State
of Nevada.  The articles of organization and the operating agreement of Merger Sub and all amendments thereto, which have been made available to the
Company, are true, complete and correct and in full force and effect as of the date of this Agreement.

 
Section 4.3            Authorization; Enforceability.  Acquiror and Merger Sub have the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and

perform their respective obligations under this Agreement.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Acquiror and Merger Sub, and the
consummation by them of their respective obligations under this Agreement, have been authorized by all necessary corporate action, subject to the receipt of
the Requisite Regulatory Approvals, and this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Acquiror and Merger Sub enforceable in
accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other Legal Requirements affecting
creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity.

 
Section 4.4            No Conflict.  Neither the execution nor delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation or performance of any of the

Contemplated Transactions will, directly or
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indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time):  (a) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any provision of the certificate of incorporation,
certificate of formation or charter (or similar organizational documents) or bylaws or operating agreement, each as in effect on the date hereof, or any
currently effective resolution adopted by the board of directors, stockholders, manager or members of, Acquiror, Merger Sub or any other of its Subsidiaries;
(b) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of, or give any Regulatory Authority or other Person the valid and enforceable right to challenge any of
the Contemplated Transactions or to exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under, any Legal Requirement or any Order to which Acquiror or any of its
Subsidiaries, or any of their respective assets that are owned or used by them, may be subject, except for any contravention, conflict or violation that is
permissible by virtue of obtaining the Requisite Regulatory Approvals; (c) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of, or
give any Person the right to declare a default or exercise any remedy under, or to accelerate the maturity or performance of, or to cancel, terminate or modify
any Acquiror Material Contract; or (d) result in the creation of any material lien, charge or encumbrance upon or with respect to any of the assets owned or
used by Acquiror or any of its Subsidiaries.  Except for the Requisite Regulatory Approvals, none of Acquiror, Merger Sub or any other Subsidiary of
Acquiror is or will be required to give any notice to or obtain any consent from any Person in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or
the consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions.

 
Section 4.5            Regulatory Matters.  Neither Acquiror nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any notice or communication from any state or

federal banking Regulatory Authority indicating that such agency or authority would, and Acquiror has no reason to believe any such agency or authority
would, object to, or withhold any approval or consent necessary for, the consummation by Acquiror of the Contemplated Transactions.  There are no pending
or, to the Acquiror’s Knowledge, threatened Proceedings against Acquiror or any of its Subsidiaries that would affect Acquiror’s ability to obtain the
regulatory approvals required in order to consummate the Contemplated Transactions.

 
Section 4.6            Brokerage Commissions.  Neither Acquiror nor Merger Sub has incurred any obligation or liability, contingent or otherwise, for

brokerage or finders’ fees or agents’ commissions or other similar payment in connection with this Agreement.
 
Section 4.7            Legal Proceedings; Orders.
 

(a)   No legal action, suit or proceeding or judicial, administrative or governmental investigation is pending or, to the Acquiror’s
Knowledge, threatened against the Acquiror that questions or might question the validity of this Agreement or the Contemplated Transaction, or any actions
taken or to be taken by the Acquiror pursuant hereto or seeks to enjoin or otherwise restrain the transactions contemplated hereby.  No officer, director,
employee or agent of Acquiror or any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any Order that prohibits such officer, director, employee or agent from engaging in or
continuing any conduct, activity or practice relating to the businesses of Acquiror or any of its Subsidiaries as currently conducted.

 
(b)   Neither Acquiror nor any of its Subsidiaries:  (i) is subject to any cease and desist or other Order or enforcement action issued by; (ii) is

a party to any written agreement, consent agreement or memorandum of understanding with; (iii) is a party to any commitment
 

23

 
letter or similar undertaking to; (iv) is subject to any order or directive by; (v) is subject to any supervisory letter from; (vi) has been ordered to pay any civil
money penalty, which has not been paid, by; or (vii) has adopted any policies, procedures or board resolutions at the request of any Regulatory Authority that
currently restricts in any material respect the conduct of its business, in any manner relates to its capital adequacy, restricts its ability to pay dividends or
interest or limits in any material manner its credit or risk management policies, its management or its business.  None of the foregoing has been threatened by
any Regulatory Authority.

 
Section 4.8            Approval Delays.  To the Knowledge of Acquiror, there is no reason why the granting of any of the Requisite Regulatory

Approvals would be denied or unduly delayed.  Acquiror Bank’s most recent CRA rating was “satisfactory” or better.
 
Section 4.9            Consents and Approvals.  The Acquiror Board (at a meeting called and duly held) approved and adopted this Agreement.  Except

as set forth in Section 4.9 of the Acquiror Disclosure Schedules, no approval, consent, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any
governmental authority or other third party is required on the part of Acquiror or Merger Sub in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of
this Agreement or the agreements contemplated hereby, or the completion by Acquiror and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

 
ARTICLE 5

THE COMPANY’S COVENANTS
 

Section 5.1            Access and Investigation.
 

(a)           During the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the Closing Date or the termination of this Agreement in
accordance with its terms, subject to any applicable Legal Requirement, Acquiror and its Representatives shall, at all times during normal business hours and
with reasonable advance notice, have such reasonable access to the facilities, operations, records and properties of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries
in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.1(a) as shall be necessary for the purpose of determining of the Company’s continued compliance with the
terms and conditions of this Agreement and preparing for the integration of Acquiror and the Company following the Effective Time.  Acquiror and its
Representatives may, during such period, make or cause to be made such reasonable investigation of the operations, records and properties of the Company
and each of its Subsidiaries and of their respective financial and legal conditions as Acquiror shall deem necessary or advisable to familiarize itself with such
records, properties and other matters; provided, however, that such access or investigation shall not interfere materially with the normal operations of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries.  Upon request, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries will furnish Acquiror or its Representatives attorneys’ responses
to auditors’ requests for information regarding the Company or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, and such financial and operating data and other
information reasonably requested by Acquiror (provided, such disclosure would not result in the waiver by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any
claim of attorney-client privilege).  No investigation by Acquiror or any of its Representatives shall affect the representations and warranties made by the
Company in this Agreement.  This Section 5.1(a) shall not require the disclosure of any information the disclosure of which to Acquiror, in the Company’s
reasonable judgment, would be prohibited by
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any applicable Legal Requirement or would result in the breach of any agreement with any third party in effect on the date of this Agreement.  If any of the
restrictions in the preceding sentence shall apply, the Company and Acquiror will make appropriate alternative disclosure arrangements, including adopting
additional specific procedures to protect the confidentiality of sensitive material and to ensure compliance with any applicable Legal Requirement.

 
(b)           Subject to the requirements of any Regulatory Authority, the Company shall allow, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to allow, a

Representative of Acquiror to attend, as an observer only, all meetings of the board of directors and committees of the board of directors of the Company or
its Subsidiaries, including any committee meetings.  The Company shall give, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to give, reasonable notice to Acquiror of any
such meeting and, if known, the agenda for or business to be discussed at such meeting.  Subject to the terms of this Section 5.2(b), the Company shall
provide, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to provide, to Acquiror all information provided to the directors on all such boards or members of such committees
in connection with all such meetings or otherwise provided to the directors or members, and to provide any other financial reports or other analysis prepared
for senior management of the Company or its Subsidiaries.  It is understood by the parties that Acquiror’s Representative is not a director and will not have
any voting rights with respect to matters discussed at these meetings and that Acquiror is not managing the business or affairs of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Acquiror shall not be permitted to attend any portion of a meeting and the Company shall not be required, with
respect to itself or any of its Subsidiaries, to provide Acquiror with any materials, to the extent such attendance or providing such materials (i) would violate
any applicable Legal Requirement, (ii) in any case where the Company has been advised by counsel that attendance by Acquiror or that Acquiror’s receipt of
such materials could result in the loss or waiver of the attorney-client privilege or similar protection of the Company Board or the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries or (iii) relate to this Agreement, the Merger, an Adverse Recommendation or any Unsolicited Proposal, Acquisition Transaction or Superior
Proposal.

 
(c)           All information obtained by Acquiror in accordance with this Section 5.1 shall be treated in confidence as provided in that certain

letter agreement dated June 11, 2014, between Acquiror and the Company (the “Confidentiality Agreement”).
 

Section 5.2            Operation of the Company and Company Subsidiaries.
 

(a)           Except as Previously Disclosed, as expressly contemplated by or permitted by this Agreement, as required by any applicable Legal
Requirement, or with the prior written consent of Acquiror, during the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the Closing Date or the
termination of this Agreement pursuant to its terms, the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to:  (i) conduct its business in the Ordinary
Course of Business in all material respects; (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain and preserve intact its business organization and
advantageous business relationships; and (iii) take no action that is intended to or would reasonably be expected to adversely affect or materially delay the
ability of the Company, Merger Sub or Acquiror to obtain any of the Requisite Regulatory Approvals, to perform its covenants and agreements under this
Agreement or to consummate the Contemplated Transactions.
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(b)                                 Except as Previously Disclosed, as expressly contemplated by or permitted by this Agreement, as required by any applicable Legal

Requirement, or with the prior written consent of Acquiror, during the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the Closing Date or the
termination of this Agreement pursuant to its terms, the Company will not, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries not to:

 
(i)                                     other than pursuant to the terms of a Contract to which the Company is party, each as outstanding on the date of this

Agreement:  (A) issue, sell or otherwise permit to become outstanding, or dispose of or encumber or pledge, or authorize or propose the creation of, any
additional shares of Company Common Stock; or (B) permit any additional shares of Company Common Stock to become subject to new grants;

 
(ii)                                  (A) make, declare, pay or set aside for payment any dividend on or in respect of, or declare or make any distribution on

any shares of Company Common Stock (other than dividends from its wholly owned Subsidiaries to it or another of its wholly owned Subsidiaries); or
(B) directly or indirectly adjust, split, combine, redeem, reclassify, purchase or otherwise acquire, any shares of Company Common Stock;

 
(iii)                               amend the terms of, waive any rights under, terminate, knowingly violate the terms of or enter into:  (A) any Company

Material Contract; (B) any material restriction on the ability of the Company or its Subsidiaries to conduct its business as it is presently being conducted; or
(C) any Contract or other binding obligation relating to any class of the Company Common Stock or rights associated therewith or any outstanding instrument
of indebtedness;

 
(iv)                              enter into loan transactions not in accordance with, or consistent with, past practices of the Bank;
 
(v)                                 (A) enter into any new credit or new lending relationships that would require an exception to the Bank’s loan policy as in

effect as of the date of this Agreement or that are not in strict compliance with the provisions of such loan policy; or (B) other than incident to a reasonable
loan restructuring, renewal or modification, extend additional credit to any Person and any director or officer of, or any owner of a material interest in, such
Person (any of the foregoing with respect to a Person being referred to as a “Borrowing Affiliate”) if such Person or such Borrowing Affiliate is the obligor
under any indebtedness to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which constitutes a nonperforming loan or against any part of such indebtedness the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries has established loss reserves or any part of which has been charged-off by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
provided, however, that if the Bank desires to take an action described in this Section 5.2(b)(v), the Bank will provide Acquiror with written notice (such
notice to contain sufficient detail and information to enable Acquiror to make an informed decision) of such desire, and Acquiror will have one (1) Business
Day to consent or not consent to the action; provided further, that if Acquiror does not respond to the Bank within the one (1) Business Day period, Acquiror
will be deemed to have consented to the action in question;

 
(vi)                              maintain an allowance for loan and lease losses which is not adequate in all material respects under the requirements of

GAAP to provide for possible losses,
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net of recoveries relating to Company Loans previously charged off, on Company Loans and leases outstanding (including accrued interest receivable);
 
(vii)                           fail to: (A) charge-off any Company Loans or leases that would be deemed uncollectible in accordance with GAAP or

any applicable Legal Requirement; or (B) place on non-accrual any Company Loans or leases that are past due greater than ninety (90) days;
 
(viii)                        sell, transfer, mortgage, encumber, license, let lapse, cancel, abandon or otherwise dispose of or discontinue any of its

assets, deposits, business or properties, except for sales, transfers, mortgages, encumbrances, licenses, lapses, cancellations, abandonments or other
dispositions or discontinuances in the Ordinary Course of Business and in a transaction that, together with other such transactions, is not material to the
Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;

 
(ix)                              buy or sell any security held, or intended to be held, for investment not in accordance with its current investment policy;
 
(x)                                 acquire (other than by way of foreclosures or acquisitions of control in a fiduciary or similar capacity or in satisfaction of

debts previously contracted in good faith, in each case in the Ordinary Course of Business) all or any portion of the assets, business, deposits or properties of
any other entity;

 
(xi)                              amend the Company Certificate of Incorporation or the Company Bylaws, or similar governing documents of any of its

Subsidiaries;
 
(xii)                           implement or adopt any change in its accounting principles, practices or methods, other than as may be required by

GAAP or applicable regulatory accounting requirements;
 
(xiii)                        except as permitted by this Agreement or as required by any applicable Legal Requirement or the terms of any Company

Benefit Plan existing as of the date hereof:  (A) increase in any manner the compensation or benefits of any of the current or former directors or employees of
the Company or its Subsidiaries (collectively, “Company Employees”), other than increases to Company Employees in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(B) become a party to, establish, amend, commence participation in, terminate or commit itself to the adoption of any stock option plan or other stock-based
compensation plan, compensation, severance, pension, retirement, profit-sharing, welfare benefit, or other employee benefit plan or agreement or employment
agreement with or for the benefit of any Company Employee (or newly hired employees), other than any extension (or initial contract with newly hired
employees) that ends not later than the Effective Time; (C) accelerate the vesting of or lapsing of restrictions with respect to any stock-based compensation or
other long-term incentive compensation under any Company Benefit Plans; (D) cause the funding of any rabbi trust or similar arrangement or take any action
to fund or in any other way secure the payment of compensation or benefits under any Company Benefit Plan; or (E) materially change any actuarial
assumptions used to calculate funding obligations with respect to any Company Benefit Plan that is required by applicable Legal Requirements to be funded
or change the manner in
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which contributions to such plans are made or the basis on which such contributions are determined, except as may be required by GAAP or applicable Legal
Requirement;

 
(xiv)                       incur or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
 
(xv)                          enter into any new line of business or materially change its lending, investment, underwriting, risk and asset liability

management and other banking and operating policies;
 
(xvi)                       settle any action, suit, claim or proceeding against it or any of its Subsidiaries, except for an action, suit, claim or

proceeding that is settled in an amount and for consideration not in excess of $50,000 and that would not:  (A) impose any material restriction on the business
of the Company or its Subsidiaries; or (B) create precedent for claims that is reasonably likely to be material to it or its Subsidiaries;

 
(xvii)                    make application for the opening, relocation or closing of any, or open, relocate or close any, branch office, loan

production office or other significant office or operations facility;
 
(xviii)                 make or change any material Tax elections, change or consent to any change in it or its Subsidiaries’ method of

accounting for Tax purposes (except as required by applicable Tax law), take any material position on any material Tax Return filed on or after the date of this
Agreement, settle or compromise any material Tax liability, claim or assessment, enter into any closing agreement, waive or extend any statute of limitations
with respect to a material amount of Taxes, surrender any right to claim a refund for a material amount of Taxes, or file any material amended Tax Return; or

 
(xix)                       agree to take, make any commitment to take, or adopt any resolutions of the Company Board in support of, any of the

actions prohibited by this Section 5.2.
 

Section 5.3                                   Negative Covenant.  Except as otherwise expressly permitted by this Agreement, between the date of this Agreement and the
Closing, the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, refrain, without the prior written consent of Acquiror, from taking any affirmative
action, or fail to take any reasonable action within its control, as a result of which any of the changes or events listed in Section 3.15 is likely to occur.

 
Section 5.4                                   Advice of Changes.  Between the date of this Agreement and Closing, the Company shall promptly notify Acquiror in writing if

the Company attains Knowledge of any fact or condition that causes or constitutes a breach of any of the representations and warranties of the Company as of
the date of this Agreement, or if the Company attains Knowledge of the occurrence after the date of this Agreement of any fact or condition that would
(except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement) cause or constitute a breach of any such representation or warranty had such representation or warranty
been made as of the time of occurrence or discovery of such fact or condition.  If any such fact or condition would require any change in the Company
Disclosure Schedules if the Company Disclosure Schedules were dated the date of the occurrence or discovery of any such fact or condition, the Company
will
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promptly deliver to Acquiror a supplement to the Company Disclosure Schedules specifying such change.  During the same period, the Company will
promptly notify Acquiror of the occurrence of any breach of any covenant of the Company in this Agreement or of the occurrence of any event that might
reasonably be expected to make the satisfaction of the conditions in Article 8 impossible or unlikely.

 
Section 5.5                                   Other Offers.  During the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the Closing Date or the termination of this

Agreement in accordance with its terms, the Company will not, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives not to, solicit,
initiate or knowingly encourage any inquiries or proposals from, discuss or negotiate with, provide any nonpublic information to, any Person (other than
Acquiror) relating to any potential Acquisition Transaction.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the Company Board (or applicable committee)
determines in good faith and after consultation with outside legal counsel that (a) an Unsolicited Proposal constitutes or is reasonably likely to result in a
Superior Proposal and (b) the failure to take any such action with respect to such Unsolicited Proposal is reasonably likely to result in a breach of its fiduciary
duties under any applicable Legal Requirement, the Company and its Representatives may:  (i) furnish information with respect to the Company and its
Subsidiaries to such Person making such Unsolicited Proposal pursuant to a customary confidentiality agreement; (ii) participate in discussions or
negotiations regarding such Unsolicited Proposal; and (iii) terminate this Agreement in order to enter into an agreement with respect to such Unsolicited
Proposal if, in the cause of clause (iii), the Company Board (or applicable committee) determines that such Unsolicited Proposal constitutes a Superior
Proposal; provided, however, that the Company may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 5.5 unless and until (x) five (5) Business Days
have elapsed following the delivery to Acquiror of a written notice of such determination by the Company Board (or applicable committee) and, during such
five (5) Business-Day period, the Company engages in good faith negotiations with Acquiror (if Acquiror so desires) so that the Unsolicited Proposal ceases
to constitute a Superior Proposal, and (y) at the end of such five (5) Business-Day period, the Company Board (or applicable committee) continues, in good
faith and after consultation with outside legal counsel, to believe the Unsolicited Proposal at issue constitutes a Superior Proposal.  In addition to the
foregoing obligations of the Company, the Company shall promptly advise Acquiror orally and subsequently in writing of any request for information with
respect to any Unsolicited Proposal or the Company’s receipt of an Acquisition Proposal, the material terms and conditions of such request or Unsolicited
Proposal and the identity of the Person making such request or Unsolicited Proposal.  The Company shall keep Acquiror reasonably informed of the status
and material terms (including amendments or proposed amendments) of any such request or Unsolicited Proposal, including the status of any discussions or
negotiations with respect to any Superior Proposal.

 
Section 5.6                                   Shareholders’ Meeting.  The Company shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable after the date of this Agreement, take all

action necessary, including as required by and in accordance with the DGCL, the Company Certificate of Incorporation and the Company Bylaws to duly call,
give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of its shareholders (the “Company Shareholders’ Meeting”) for the purpose of obtaining the Company
Shareholder Approval, including the preparation and mailing of the Proxy Statement to the Company’s shareholders.  The Company and the Company Board
will use their reasonable best efforts to obtain from its shareholders the votes required by the DGCL in favor of the adoption of this
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Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 5.6, the Proxy Statement shall include the recommendation of the Company Board that the
Company’s shareholders vote in favor of the adoption of this Agreement, and the Company Board will not withdraw, qualify or modify (or publicly propose
or resolve to withdraw, qualify or modify), in a manner adverse to Acquiror, the Company Board’s recommendation to the Company’s shareholders that the
Company’s shareholders vote in favor of the adoption of this Agreement (an “Adverse Recommendation”). However, if, at any time prior to the time the
Company Shareholder Approval is obtained, the Company Board, after consultation with outside counsel, determines in good faith that the failure to effect an
Adverse Recommendation would reasonably be expected to result in a violation of its fiduciary duties under Delaware law, then, in submitting this
Agreement at the Company Shareholders’ Meeting, the Company Board may do one or more of the following:  (a) submit this Agreement without
recommendation, in which case the Company Board may communicate the basis for its lack of a recommendation to the shareholders in the Proxy Statement
or an appropriate amendment or supplement thereto; or (b) make an Adverse Recommendation or publicly propose or resolve to make an Adverse
Recommendation, in which case the Company Board may include such Adverse Recommendation in the Proxy Statement or an appropriate amendment or
supplement thereto.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 5.6 shall limit the Company’s right to terminate this Agreement in accordance
with Section 5.5 with respect to a Superior Proposal.

 
Section 5.7                                   Information Provided to Acquiror.  The Company agrees that the information concerning the Company or any of its Subsidiaries

that is provided or to be provided by the Company to Acquiror for inclusion in any documents to be filed with any Regulatory Authority in connection with
the Contemplated Transactions will at the respective times such documents are filed, not be false or misleading with respect to any material fact, or omit to
state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have no responsibility for the truth or accuracy of any information with respect to Acquiror or any of its
Subsidiaries or any of their Affiliates contained in any document submitted to, or other communication with, any Regulatory Authority.

 
Section 5.8                                   Operating Functions.  Subject to any limitations imposed by any Regulatory Authority, the Company and the Bank shall

cooperate with Acquiror and Acquiror Bank in connection with planning for the efficient and orderly combination of the parties and the operation of Acquiror
Bank (including the former operations of the Bank) after the Bank Merger, and in preparing for the consolidation of appropriate operating functions to be
effective on the Effective Date or such later date as Acquiror may decide. The Company shall take any action Acquiror may reasonably request prior to the
Effective Time to facilitate the combination of the operations of the Bank with Acquiror Bank. Without limiting the foregoing, the Company shall provide
office space and support services (and other reasonably requested support and assistance) in connection with the foregoing, and senior officers of the
Company and Acquiror shall meet from time to time as the Company or Acquiror may reasonably request, to review the financial and operational affairs of
the Company and the Bank, and the Company shall give due consideration to Acquiror’s input on such matters, with the understanding that, notwithstanding
any other provision contained in this Agreement:  (a) neither Acquiror nor Acquiror Bank shall under any circumstance be permitted to exercise control of the
Company, the Bank or any of the Company’s other Subsidiaries prior to the Effective Time; (b) neither the Company nor any of its
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Subsidiaries shall be under any obligation to act in a manner that could reasonably be deemed to constitute anti-competitive behavior under federal or state
antitrust laws; and (c) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to agree to any material obligation that is not contingent upon the
consummation of the Merger.

 



Section 5.9                                   Voting and Support Agreement.  Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company shall cause to be
executed and delivered to Acquiror a voting and support agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, approving this Agreement and the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, executed by each member of the Company Board.

 
Section 5.10                            Company Benefit Plans.  At the request of Acquiror made not later than 30 calendar days before the Closing, the Company will

take all appropriate action to amend or terminate, prior to the Effective Time, any Company Benefit Plan; provided that the winding up of such Company
Benefit Plan may occur after the Effective Time.  Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall accrue the costs associated with any payments due under any
Company Benefit Plan, including without limitation any change of control or severance agreements, retention or stay bonus programs, or other similar
arrangements, including without limitation the agreements listed on Schedule 1.

 
Section 5.11                            Title to Real Estate.  As soon as practical after the date hereof, but in any event no later than thirty (30) days after the date hereof,

the Company shall obtain and deliver to Acquiror, with respect to all interests in real property owned by the Company and its Subsidiaries, an owner’s
preliminary report of title covering a date subsequent to the date hereof, issued by a title insurance company that is reasonably acceptable to Acquiror,
showing fee simple title in the Company or its Subsidiary in such real property with coverage over all standard exceptions and subject to no liens, mortgages,
security interests, encumbrances or charges of any kind except for any Permitted Exceptions.  The cost of obtaining any preliminary report of title discussed
in this Section 5.11 shall be borne by the Company.

 
Section 5.12                            Surveys.  Acquiror may, in its discretion, within forty-five (45) days after the date hereof, require the Company to provide, at

Acquiror’s expense and as soon as practicable prior to the Closing, a current American Land Title Association survey of any or all parcels of real property
owned by the Company and its Subsidiaries, other than property carried as OREO, disclosing no survey defects that would materially impair the use thereof
for the purposes for which it is held or materially impair the value of such property.

 
Section 5.13                            Environmental Investigation.
 

(a)                                 Acquiror may, in its discretion, within forty-five (45) days after the date of this Agreement, require the Company to order, at
Acquiror’s expense, a Phase I environmental site assessment to be delivered only to Acquiror for each parcel of real property in which the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries holds an interest (each a “Phase I Report”), conducted by an independent professional consultant reasonably acceptable to Acquiror to
determine if any real property in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries holds any interest contains or gives evidence of any adverse environmental
condition or any violations of Environmental Laws on any such property.  If a Phase I Report discloses any violations or adverse environmental
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conditions, or reports a reasonable suspicion thereof, then Acquiror may promptly obtain, at the Acquiror’s expense, a Phase II environmental report with
respect to any affected property which report shall contain an estimate of the cost of any remediation or other follow-up work that may be necessary to
address those violations or conditions in accordance with applicable Legal Requirements (each a “Phase II Report,” and collectively referred to with the
associated Phase I Report, an “Environmental Report”).  Acquiror shall have no duty to act upon any information produced by an Environmental Report for
the benefit of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any other Person, but shall provide such information to the Company upon the Company’s request.

 
(b)                                 Upon receipt of the estimate of the costs of all follow-up work to an Environmental Report, Acquiror and the Company shall

attempt to agree upon a course of action for remediation of any adverse environmental condition or violation suspected, found to exist, or that would tend to
be indicated by an Environmental Report.  The estimated total cost for completing all necessary work plans or removal or remediation actions is referred to
collectively as the “Remediation Cost.”  If the aggregate Remediation Cost for the total parcels of property in which the Company or its Subsidiaries holds
an interest exceeds $500,000, Acquiror or the Company may, at its sole option, terminate this Agreement.  In any event, the Remediation Cost shall be
accrued by the Company as a Transaction Cost pursuant to Section 2.4.

 
Section 5.14                            Additional Accruals and Reserves.  At Acquiror’s request, the Company will cause the Bank to establish such additional accruals

and reserves as may be necessary to conform the Bank’s accounting and credit loss reserve practices and methods to those of Acquiror and Acquiror’s plans
with respect to the conduct of the Bank’s business after the Merger; provided that no such additional accruals or reserves will impact the calculation of
minimum Adjusted Net Worth as contemplated under Section 8.11; and provided further, that Acquiror acknowledges that establishing such accruals and
reserves and provision for such costs and expenses will not (a) be deemed to cause the Company Financial Statements to have been prepared other than in
accordance with GAAP, (b) constitute or result in a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company, or (c) constitute a breach of any provision of this
Agreement by the Company.

 
ARTICLE 6

ACQUIROR’S COVENANTS
 

Section 6.1                                   Advice of Changes.  Between the date of this Agreement and Closing, Acquiror shall promptly notify the Company in writing if
Acquiror attains Knowledge of any fact or condition that causes or constitutes a breach of any of the representations and warranties of Acquiror as of the date
of this Agreement, or if Acquiror attains Knowledge of the occurrence after the date of this Agreement of any fact or condition that would (except as
expressly contemplated by this Agreement) cause or constitute a breach of any such representation or warranty had such representation or warranty been
made as of the time of occurrence or discovery of such fact or condition.  During the same period, Acquiror will promptly notify the Company of the
occurrence of any breach of any covenant of Acquiror in this Agreement or of the occurrence of any event that might reasonably be expected to make the
satisfaction of the conditions in Article 9 impossible or unlikely.
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Section 6.2                                   Indemnification.
 

(a)         Acquiror will, for a period of two (2) years after the Effective Time, indemnify and hold harmless each person entitled to
indemnification from the Company or the Bank against all liabilities arising out of actions or omissions occurring at or before the Effective Time (including
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) to the fullest extent permitted by law but only to the same extent and subject to the conditions set forth in



the respective Certificate of Incorporation (or similar organizational document) and Bylaws of the Company and the Bank and any indemnification
agreements entered into by the Company or the Bank before the date of this Agreement.

 
(b)         After the Effective Time, directors, officers and employees of the Company or the Bank who become directors, officers or employees

of Acquiror or its Subsidiaries, except for the indemnification rights provided for in Section 6.2(a), will have indemnification rights having prospective
application only.  The prospective indemnification rights will consist of such rights to which directors, officers and employees of Acquiror and its
Subsidiaries would be entitled under the charter and bylaw (in each case, or similar organizational document) of Acquiror or the particular Subsidiary of
Acquiror for which they are serving as an officer, director or employee and under such directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy as Acquiror may then
make available to officers, directors and employees of Acquiror and its Subsidiaries.  At the Effective Time, any executive officer or director of the Company
or the Bank who becomes an officer or director of Acquiror (including any Subsidiary of Acquiror) will be included in Acquiror’s directors’ and officers’
liability insurance policy.

 
ARTICLE 7

COVENANTS OF ALL PARTIES; ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS
 

Section 7.1                                   Regulatory Approvals.  Acquiror and the Company and their respective Subsidiaries will cooperate and use all reasonable best
efforts to as promptly as possible prepare and make all appropriate filings for and effect and obtain all Requisite Regulatory Approvals, and the parties will
comply with the terms of such Requisite Regulatory Approvals.  Each of Acquiror, Merger Sub and the Company will have the right to review in advance,
and to the extent practicable each will consult with the other, in each case subject to applicable Legal Requirements relating to the exchange of information,
with respect to all substantive written information submitted to any Regulatory Authority in connection with the Requisite Regulatory Approvals. In
exercising the foregoing right, each of the parties will act reasonably and as promptly as practicable.  Each party agrees that it will consult with the other party
with respect to obtaining all permits, consents, approvals and authorizations of all Regulatory Authorities necessary or advisable to consummate the
Contemplated Transactions, and each party will keep the other party apprised of the status of material matters relating to completion of the Contemplated
Transactions.  Acquiror and the Company will, upon request, furnish the other party with all information concerning itself, its Subsidiaries, directors, officers
and stockholders and such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with any filing, notice or application made by or on behalf
of such other party or any of its Subsidiaries with or to any Regulatory Authority in connection with the Contemplated Transactions (but excluding any
information contained therein regarding Acquiror and its business or operations for which confidential treatment has been or will be requested).
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Section 7.2                                   Publicity.  Neither the Company nor Acquiror shall, and neither the Company nor Acquiror shall permit any of its Subsidiaries to,

issue or cause the publication of any press release or other public announcement with respect to, or otherwise make any public statement or, except as
otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, any disclosure of nonpublic information to a third party, concerning, the Contemplated Transactions
without the prior consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of Acquiror, in the case of a proposed announcement, statement or disclosure
by the Company, or the Company, in the case of a proposed announcement, statement or disclosure by Acquiror; provided, however, that Acquiror and the
Company may, without the prior consent of the other, issue or cause the publication of any press release or other public announcement to the extent required
by applicable Legal Requirements or by the NASDAQ Rules.
 

Section 7.3                                   Reasonable Best Efforts; Cooperation.  Each of Acquiror and the Company agrees to exercise good faith and use its reasonable
best efforts to satisfy the various covenants and conditions to Closing in this Agreement, and to consummate the Contemplated Transactions as promptly as
practicable.  Neither Acquiror nor the Company will intentionally take or intentionally permit to be taken any action that would be a breach of the terms or
provisions of this Agreement.  Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, each of Acquiror and the Company will, and will cause each
Subsidiary of Acquiror and the Company, respectively, and all of their respective Affiliates and Representatives to, cooperate with respect to all filings that
any party is required by any applicable Legal Requirements to make in connection with the Contemplated Transactions.  Subject to applicable Legal
Requirements and the instructions of any Regulatory Authority, each party shall keep the other party reasonably apprised of the status of matters relating to
the completion of the Contemplated Transactions, including promptly furnishing the other party with copies of notices or other written communications
received by it or any of its Subsidiaries from any Regulatory Authority with respect to such transactions.

 
Section 7.4                                   Employees and Employee Benefits.
 

(a)                                 All individuals employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries immediately prior to the Closing (“Covered Employees”)
shall automatically become employees of Acquiror as of the Closing for the purposes of the Acquiror Benefit Plans and shall receive credit for unused
vacation time and their years of service with the Company in calculating their vacation time under Acquiror’s applicable paid time off policies.  As soon as
administratively practicable following the Closing, Acquiror shall, or shall cause the Surviving Entity to, maintain employee benefit plans and compensation
opportunities for the benefit of Covered Employees that provide employee benefits and compensation opportunities that, in the aggregate, are substantially
comparable to the employee benefits and compensation opportunities that are made available to similarly-situated employees of Acquiror under the Acquiror
Benefit Plans; provided, however, that:  (i) in no event shall any Covered Employee be eligible to participate in any closed or frozen Acquiror Benefit Plan;
(ii) until such time as Acquiror shall cause the Covered Employees to participate in the Acquiror Benefit Plans, a Covered Employee’s continued participation
in the corresponding Company Benefit Plans shall be deemed to satisfy the foregoing provisions of this sentence (it being understood that participation in the
Acquiror Benefit Plans may commence at different times with respect to each Acquiror Benefit Plan); and (iii) if any Covered Employee is terminated by
Acquiror without cause on or
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before the first anniversary of the Closing and is not entitled to contractual severance or change in control benefits, such Covered Employee shall be provided
with severance benefits as described in Section 7.4 of the Acquiror Disclosure Schedules.

 
(b)                                 For all purposes (other than purposes of benefit accruals) under the Acquiror Benefit Plans providing benefits to the Covered

Employees (the “New Plans”), each Covered Employee shall be credited with his or her years of service with the Company and its Subsidiaries and their
respective predecessors to the same extent as such Covered Employee was entitled to credit for such service under any applicable Company Benefit Plan in
which such Covered Employee participated or was eligible to participate immediately prior to the Transition Date; provided, however, that the foregoing shall
not apply to the extent that its application would result in a duplication of benefits with respect to the same period of service.



 
(c)                                  In addition, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, as of the Transition Date, Acquiror shall, or shall cause the

Surviving Entity to, use commercially reasonable efforts to provide that:  (i) each Covered Employee shall be immediately eligible to participate, without any
waiting time, in any and all New Plans to the extent coverage under such New Plan is similar in type to an applicable Company Benefit Plan in which such
Covered Employee was participating immediately prior to the Transition Date (such Company Benefit Plans prior to the Transition Date collectively, the
“Old Plans”); (ii) for purposes of each New Plan providing medical, dental, pharmaceutical, vision or similar benefits to any Covered Employee, all pre-
existing condition exclusions and actively-at-work requirements of such New Plan shall be waived for such Covered Employee and his or her covered
dependents, unless such conditions would not have been waived under the Old Plan in which such Covered Employee, as applicable, participated or was
eligible to participate immediately prior to the Transition Date; and (iii) any eligible expenses incurred by such Covered Employee and his or her covered
dependents during the portion of the plan year of the Old Plan ending on the Transition Date shall be taken into account under such New Plan for purposes of
satisfying all deductible, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket requirements applicable to such Covered Employee and his or her covered dependents for
the applicable plan year as if such amounts had been paid in accordance with such New Plan.

 
Section 7.5                                   Transaction Costs and Adjusted Net Worth.  The parties acknowledge and agree that Schedule 2 attached hereto sets forth their

agreement with respect to the Company’s good faith estimate of Transaction Costs (segregated by payee, to the extent reasonably known or anticipated).  No
fewer than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall deliver to Acquiror a revised good faith estimate of the Transaction Costs and
the Adjusted Net Worth, which shall be subject to the approval of Acquiror, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

 
ARTICLE 8

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF ACQUIROR AND MERGER SUB
 

The obligations of Acquiror and Merger Sub to consummate the Contemplated Transactions and to take the other actions required to be taken by
Acquiror and Merger Sub at the Closing are subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions (any of which may be
waived by Acquiror and Merger Sub, in whole or in part):
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Section 8.1                                   Accuracy of Representations and Warranties.  All of the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in this

Agreement (except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date) shall be true and correct in all material respects with
the same force and effect as if all of such representations and warranties were made at the Closing Date.
 

Section 8.2                                   Performance by the Company.  The Company shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all of the covenants
and obligations to be performed or complied with by it under the terms of this Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date.

 
Section 8.3                                   Shareholder Approvals.  The Company Shareholder Approval shall have been obtained.  The total number of the Dissenting

Shares shall be no greater than ten percent (10%) of the number of shares of Company Common Stock outstanding as of the Closing Date.
 
Section 8.4                                   No Proceedings.  Since the date of this Agreement, there must not have been commenced or threatened against the Company or

any of its Subsidiaries any Proceeding:  (a) involving any challenge to, or seeking damages or other relief in connection with, any of the Contemplated
Transactions; or (b) that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering with any of the Contemplated Transactions.

 
Section 8.5                                   Regulatory Approvals.  All Requisite Regulatory Approvals shall have been obtained and shall remain in full force and effect and

all statutory waiting periods in respect thereof shall have expired or been terminated and there shall not be any action taken, or any Legal Requirement
enacted, entered, enforced or deemed applicable to the Contemplated Transactions, by any Regulatory Authority, in connection with the grant of a Requisite
Regulatory Approval, which shall have imposed a restriction or condition on, or requirement of, such approval that would, after the Effective Time,
reasonably be expected to materially restrict or burden Acquiror:  (a) in connection with the Contemplated Transactions; or (b) with respect to the business or
operations of Acquiror or any of its Subsidiaries.

 
Section 8.6                                   Officers’ Certificate.  Acquiror shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by an executive officer of the

Company certifying as to the matters set forth in Sections 8.1 and 8.2.
 
Section 8.7                                   Opinion of Counsel.  Acquiror shall have received the opinion of Hunton & Williams LLP, counsel for the Company, dated as of

the Closing Date, and in form substantially similar to Exhibit B and reasonably satisfactory to Acquiror and its counsel.
 
Section 8.8                                   No Material Adverse Effect.  From the date of this Agreement to the Closing, there shall be and have been no change in the

financial condition, assets or business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect on the Company.
 

Section 8.9                                   Consents.  The Company shall have obtained or caused to be obtained (a) all written consents, if any, required under the Company
Material Contracts, and (b) all other written consents, permissions and approvals as required under any agreements, contracts, appointments, indentures,
plans, trusts or other arrangements with third parties required to effect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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Section 8.10                            Other Documents.  Acquiror shall have received at the Closing such other customary documents, certificates, or instruments as

reasonably requested by Acquiror and its counsel evidencing compliance by the Company with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including good
standing certificates, certificates of Regulatory Authorities and secretary certificates.

 
Section 8.11                            Minimum Adjusted Net Worth.  As of the Closing Date, the Company shall have an Adjusted Net Worth of no less than

$28,000,000.
 



ARTICLE 9
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE COMPANY

 
The obligations of the Company to consummate the Contemplated Transactions and to take the other actions required to be taken by the Company at

the Closing are subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions (any of which may be waived by the Company, in
whole or in part):

 
Section 9.1                                   Accuracy of Representations and Warranties.  All of the representations and warranties of Acquiror and Merger Sub set forth in

this Agreement (except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date) shall be true and correct with the same force and
effect as if all of such representations and warranties were made at the Closing Date, except for any untrue or incorrect representations or warranties that
individually or in the aggregate do not have a Material Adverse Effect on Acquiror or on the Company’s rights under this Agreement.

 
Section 9.2                                   Performance of Acquiror and Merger Sub.  Acquiror and Merger Sub shall have performed or complied in all material respects

with all of the covenants and obligations to be performed or complied with by them under the terms of this Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date.
 
Section 9.3                                   Shareholder Approvals.  The Company Shareholder Approval shall have been obtained.
 
Section 9.4                                   No Proceedings.  Since the date of this Agreement, there must not have been commenced or threatened against Acquiror or any of

its Subsidiaries any Proceeding: (a) involving any challenge to, or seeking damages or other relief in connection with, any of the Contemplated Transactions;
or (b) that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering with any of the Contemplated Transactions, in either case that
would have a Material Adverse Effect on Acquiror.

 
Section 9.5                                   Officers’ Certificate.  The Company shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Acquiror and Merger Sub by an

executive officer of Acquiror certifying as to the matters set forth in Sections 9.1 and 9.2.
 
Section 9.6                                   Other Documents.  The Company shall have received at the Closing such other customary documents, certificates, or instruments

as reasonably requested by the Company and its counsel evidencing compliance by Acquiror with the terms and conditions of this
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Agreement, including good standing certificates, certificates of Regulatory Authorities and secretary certificates.

 
Section 9.7                                   Fairness Opinion.  The Company Board shall have received prior to Closing an opinion from Sheshunoff & Co. Investment

Banking that the Merger Consideration to be paid to the shareholders is fair to the shareholders from a financial point of view.
 

ARTICLE 10
TERMINATION

 
Section 10.1                            Termination of Agreement.  This Agreement may be terminated only as set forth below, whether before or after approval of the

matters presented in connection with the Merger by the shareholders of the Company:
 

(a)                                 by mutual consent of the Acquiror Board and Company Board, each evidenced by appropriate written resolutions;
 
(b)                                 by Acquiror if the Company shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or

agreements set forth in this Agreement (except for breaches of Section 5.5 or Section 5.6, which are separately addressed in Section 10.1(g)), which breach
or failure to perform, either individually or together with other such breaches, in the aggregate, if occurring or continuing on the date on which the Closing
would otherwise occur would result in the failure of any of the conditions set forth in Article 8; provided, that such breach or failure is not a result of the
failure by Acquiror or Merger Sub to perform and comply in all material respects with any of their obligations under this Agreement that are to be performed
or complied with by them prior to or on the date required hereunder;

 
(c)                                  by the Company if Acquiror shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or

agreements set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform, either individually or together with other such breaches, in the aggregate, if
occurring or continuing on the date on which the Closing would otherwise occur would result in the failure of any of the conditions set forth in Article 9,
provided, that such breach or failure is not a result of the failure by the Company to perform and comply in all material respects with any of its obligations
under this Agreement that are to be performed or complied with by it prior to or on the date required hereunder;

 
(d)                                 by Acquiror or the Company if:  (i) any Regulatory Authority that must grant a Requisite Regulatory Approval has denied

approval of any of the Contemplated Transactions and such denial has become final and nonappealable; or (ii) any application, filing or notice for a Requisite
Regulatory Approval has been withdrawn at the request or recommendation of the applicable Regulatory Authority and a petition for rehearing shall not have
been granted or an amended application shall not have been accepted for filing by the applicable Regulatory Authority within the sixty (60) day period
following such withdrawal;

 
(e)                                  by Acquiror or the Company if the Effective Time shall not have occurred at or before February 28, 2015 (the “Termination

Date”); provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.1(e) shall not be available to any party to this Agreement whose
failure to fulfill any of its obligations (excluding warranties and

 
38

 
representations) under this Agreement has been the cause of or resulted in the failure of the Effective Time to occur on or before such date;

 
(f)                                   by Acquiror or the Company if any court of competent jurisdiction or other Regulatory Authority shall have issued a judgment,

Order, injunction, rule or decree, or taken any other action restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting any of the Contemplated Transactions and such



judgment, Order, injunction, rule, decree or other action shall have become final and nonappealable;
 
(g)                                  by Acquiror if the Company materially breaches any of its obligations under Section 5.5 or Section 5.6;
 
(h)                                 by the Company pursuant to Section 5.5; or
 
(i)                                     by the Company or Acquiror pursuant to Section 5.13(b).
 

Section 10.2                            Effect of Termination or Abandonment.  In the event of the termination of this Agreement and the abandonment of the Merger
pursuant to Section 10.1, this Agreement shall become null and void, and, subject to Section 10.3, there shall be no liability of one party to the other or any
restrictions on the future activities on the part of any party to this Agreement, or its respective directors, officers or stockholders, except that the
Confidentiality Agreement, this Section 10.2, Section 10.3 and Article 11 shall survive the termination hereof.

 
Section 10.3                            Fees and Expenses.
 

(a)                                 Except as otherwise provided in this Section 10.3, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement, the Merger
and the other Contemplated Transactions shall be paid by the party incurring such fees or expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated.
 

(b)                                 Subject to Section 10.3(e), if this Agreement is terminated by Acquiror pursuant to Section 10.1(b), then the Company shall pay to
Acquiror, within ten (10) Business Days after such termination, the amount of $1.0 million by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account as
Acquiror shall designate.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if this Agreement is terminated by Acquiror as a result of the Company’s willful breach of this
Agreement, then in addition to recovery of the fee set forth in this Section 10.3(b), Acquiror shall be entitled to recover such other amounts, including
consequential damages, as it may be entitled to receive at law or in equity.

 
(c)                                  If this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 10.1(c), then Acquiror shall pay to the Company, within ten

(10) Business Days after such termination, the amount of $1.0 million by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account as the Company shall
designate.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if this Agreement is terminated by the Company as a result of Acquiror’s willful breach of this Agreement, then in
addition to recovery of the fee set forth in this Section 10.3(c), the Company shall be entitled to recover such other amounts, including consequential
damages, as it may be entitled to receive at law or in equity.
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(d)                                 If this Agreement is terminated by Acquiror pursuant to Section 10.1(g) or by the Company pursuant to Section 10.1(h), then the

Company shall pay to Acquiror, within ten (10) Business Days after such termination, the amount of $1,500,000 (the “Company Termination Fee”) by wire
transfer of immediately available funds to such account as Acquiror shall designate.  In no event shall the Company pay the Company Termination Fee on
more than one occasion.

 
(e)                                  If:  (i) this Agreement is terminated by Acquiror pursuant to Section 10.1(b); and (ii) within nine (9) months after such termination

the Company shall enter into a definitive written agreement with respect to an Acquisition Transaction, the Company shall pay to Acquiror, within
ten (10) Business Days after the consummation of such Acquisition Transaction, the Company Termination Fee (less the amount payable by the Company to
Acquiror pursuant to Section 10.3(b)) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account as Acquiror shall designate; provided, however, that
for purposes of this paragraph, Acquisition Transaction has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 12.1(i), except that references in that Section to “20%”
shall be replaced by “50%.”

 
(f)           All payments made pursuant to this Section 10.3 shall constitute liquidated damages and the receipt thereof shall be the sole and

exclusive remedy of the receiving party against the party making such payment, its Affiliates and their respective directors, officers and stockholders for all
losses and damages suffered as a result of the failure of the Merger and other transactions contemplated herein to be consummated or for a breach or failure to
perform any term herein or otherwise, and upon any payment made pursuant to this Section 10.3, no party shall have any further liability or obligation to the
other party relating to or arising out of this Agreement, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated herein.

 
(g)          Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, no Termination Fee shall be paid by the Company if Acquiror terminates this Agreement

solely due to the failure of the Company to satisfy the minimum Adjusted Net Worth closing condition set forth in Section 8.11; provided, however, if
Acquiror is also entitled to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.1(b), then Acquiror would be entitled to the Termination Fee.

 
ARTICLE 11

MISCELLANEOUS
 

Section 11.1                            Survival.  Except for covenants that are expressly to be performed after the Closing, none of the representations, warranties and
covenants contained herein shall survive beyond the Closing.

 
Section 11.2                            Governing Law.  All questions concerning the construction, validity and interpretation of this Agreement and the performance of

the obligations imposed by this Agreement shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Illinois applicable to Contracts made and wholly to be
performed in such state without regard to conflicts of laws (except to the extent the mandatory provisions of Delaware and Nevada law apply to the Merger).

 
Section 11.3                            Assignments, Successors and No Third Party Rights.  Neither party to this Agreement may assign any of its rights under this

Agreement (whether by operation of law
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or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other party.  Any purported assignment in contravention hereof shall be null and void.  Subject to the
preceding sentence, this Agreement and every representation, warranty, covenant, agreement and provision hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.  Nothing expressed or referred to in this Agreement will be construed to



give any Person other than the parties to this Agreement any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to this Agreement or any
provision of this Agreement.  The representations and warranties in this Agreement are the product of negotiations among the parties hereto and are for the
sole benefit of the parties.  Any inaccuracies in such representations and warranties are subject to waiver by the parties hereto in accordance with Section 11.5
without notice or liability to any other Person.  In some instances, the representations and warranties in this Agreement may represent an allocation among the
parties hereto of risks associated with particular matters regardless of the knowledge of any of the parties hereto. Consequently, persons other than the parties
may not rely upon the representations and warranties in this Agreement as characterizations of actual facts or circumstances as of the date of this Agreement
or as of any other date.

 
Section 11.4                            Modification.  This Agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented by the parties at any time before or after the

Company Shareholder Approval is obtained; provided, however, that after the Company Shareholder Approval is obtained, there may not be, without further
approval of the Company’s shareholders, any amendment of this Agreement that requires further approval under applicable Legal Requirements or decreases
the amount of Merger Consideration other than as contemplated in this Agreement.  This Agreement may not be amended, modified or supplemented except
by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties.
 

Section 11.5                            Extension of Time; Waiver.  At any time prior to the Effective Time, the parties may, to the extent permitted by applicable Legal
Requirements:  (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other party; (b) waive any inaccuracies in the
representations and warranties contained in this Agreement or in any document delivered pursuant to this Agreement; or (c) waive compliance with or amend,
modify or supplement any of the agreements or conditions contained in this Agreement which are for the benefit of the waiving party. Any agreement on the
part of a party to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in a written instrument signed on behalf of such party.  Neither the failure nor
any delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege under this Agreement or the documents referred to in this Agreement will operate as a
waiver of such right, power or privilege, and no single or partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege will preclude any other or further exercise of
such right, power or privilege or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.  Except as provided in Article 10, the rights and remedies of the parties to
this Agreement are cumulative and not alternative.  To the maximum extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirements:  (x) no claim or right arising out of
this Agreement or the documents referred to in this Agreement can be discharged by one party, in whole or in part, by a waiver or renunciation of the claim or
right unless in writing signed by the other party; (y) no waiver that may be given by a party will be applicable except in the specific instance for which it is
given; and (z) no notice to or demand on one party will be deemed to be a waiver of any obligation of such party or of the right of the party giving such notice
or demand to take further
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action without notice or demand as provided in this Agreement or the documents referred to in this Agreement.

 
Section 11.6                            Notices.  All notices, consents, waivers and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing (which shall include

facsimile communication and electronic mail) and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered by hand or by nationally recognized overnight
delivery service (receipt requested), mailed by registered or certified U.S. mail (return receipt requested) postage prepaid or sent by facsimile (with
confirmation) or electronic mail (with confirmation) to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like
notice):
 

If to Acquiror, to:
 
First Busey Corporation
100 W. University Avenue
P.O. Box 1728
Champaign, Illinois 61824-1728
Telephone:           (217) 365-4544
Facsimile:                 (217) 351-6551
Attention:                 Robin N. Elliott (robin.elliott@busey.com)
 
with copies to:
 
Barack Ferrazzano Kirschbaum & Nagelberg LLP
200 W. Madison Street, Suite 3900
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Telephone:           (312) 984-3100
Facsimile:                 (312) 984-3150
Attention:                 Robert M. Fleetwood (robert.fleetwood@bfkn.com)
 
If to the Company, to:
 
Herget Financial Corp.
33 South 4  Street
Pekin, Illinois 61554
Telephone:           (309) 347-0230
Facsimile:                 (309) 347-0154
Attention:                 Charles R. Schermerhorn
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with copies to:
 
Hunton & Williams LLP
1445 Ross Avenue, Suite 3700

th



Dallas, Texas 75202
Telephone:           (214) 468-3324
Facsimile:                 (214) 740-7120
Attention:                 Robert N. Flowers (rflowers@hunton.com)

 
or to such other Person or place as the Company shall furnish to Acquiror or Acquiror shall furnish to the Company in writing.  Except as otherwise provided
herein, all such notices, consents, waivers and other communications shall be effective:  (a) if delivered by hand, when delivered; (b) if delivered by overnight
delivery service, on the next Business Day after deposit with such service; (c) if mailed in the manner provided in this Section 11.6, five (5) Business Days
after deposit with the U.S. Postal Service; and (d) if by facsimile, on the next Business Day.
 

Section 11.7                            Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, the Schedules and any documents executed by the parties pursuant to this Agreement and
referred to herein, together with the Confidentiality Agreement, constitute the entire understanding and agreement of the parties hereto and supersede all other
prior agreements and understandings, written or oral, relating to such subject matter between the parties.

 
Section 11.8                            Severability.  Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid

under applicable Legal Requirements, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable Legal Requirements, such
provision will be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining
provisions of this Agreement unless the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions is adversely affected thereby.

 
Section 11.9                            Further Assurances.  The parties agree:  (a) to furnish upon request to each other such further information; (b) to execute and

deliver to each other such other documents; and (c) to do such other acts and things; all as the other party may reasonably request for the purpose of carrying
out the intent of this Agreement and the documents referred to in this Agreement.

 
Section 11.10                     Counterparts.  This Agreement and any amendments thereto may be executed in any number of counterparts (including by

facsimile or other electronic means), each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement and
shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party, it being understood that each party need not
sign the same counterpart.
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ARTICLE 12

DEFINITIONS
 

Section 12.1                            Definitions.  In addition to those terms defined throughout this Agreement, the following terms, when used herein, shall have the
following meanings:

 
(a)                                 “Acquiror Articles of Incorporation” means the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of First Busey Corporation, as

amended.
 
(b)                                 “Acquiror Bank” means Busey Bank, an Illinois chartered bank headquartered in Champaign, Illinois, and a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Acquiror.
 
(c)                                  “Acquiror Benefit Plan” means any:  (i) qualified or nonqualified “employee pension benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(2) of

ERISA) or other deferred compensation or retirement plan or arrangement; (ii) “employee welfare benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA) or
other health, welfare or similar plan or arrangement; (iii) “employee benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA); (iv) equity-based plan or
arrangement (including any stock option, stock purchase, stock ownership, stock appreciation, restricted stock, restricted stock unit, phantom stock or similar
plan, agreement or award); (v) other paid time off, compensation, severance, bonus, profit-sharing or incentive plan or arrangement; (vi) other employee
benefit plan, practice, policy or arrangement of any kind, whether written or oral, and whether for the benefit of a single individual or more than one
(1) individual; or (vii) change in control agreement or employment or severance agreement, in each case with respect to clauses (i) through (vii) of this
definition, to which contributions have at any time been made by Acquiror or any of its Subsidiaries or any Acquiror ERISA Affiliate or under which any
employee, former employee, director, agent or independent contractor of Acquiror or any of its Subsidiaries or any beneficiary thereof is covered, is eligible
for coverage or has benefit rights, and for which Acquiror or any of its Subsidiaries has or may have liability, including by reason of having an Acquiror
ERISA Affiliate.

 
(d)                                 “Acquiror Board” means the board of directors of Acquiror.
 
(e)                                  “Acquiror Bylaws” means the First Busey Corporation Amended and Restated By-Laws, as amended.
 
(f)                                   “Acquiror ERISA Affiliate” means each “person” (as defined in Section 3(9) of ERISA) that is treated as a single employer with

Acquiror or any of its Subsidiaries for purposes of Section 414 of the Code.
 
(g)                                  “Acquiror Material Contract” means any Contract or understanding (whether written or oral) that is a “material contract” within

the meaning of Item 601(b)(10) of the SEC’s Regulation S-K.
 
(h)                                 “Acquiror SEC Reports” means the annual, quarterly and other reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents

(including exhibits and all other information incorporated therein) filed or furnished by Acquiror with the SEC under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, or
the regulations thereunder, since January 1, 2011.
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(i)                                     “Acquisition Transaction” means, with respect to the Company, any of the following:  (i) a merger or consolidation, or any

similar transaction (other than the Merger) of any company with either the Company or the Bank; (ii) a purchase, lease or other acquisition of all or



substantially all the assets of either the Company or the Bank; (iii) a purchase or other acquisition of “beneficial ownership” by any “person” or “group” (as
such terms are defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) (including by way of merger, consolidation, share exchange or otherwise) that, upon the
consummation of such purchase or acquisition, would cause such person or group to become the beneficial owner of securities representing 20% or more of
the voting power of the Company or the Bank; or (iv) a tender or exchange offer to acquire securities representing 20% or more of the voting power of the
Company.

 
(j)                                    “Adjusted Net Worth” means the total consolidated common tangible shareholders’ equity of the Company as of the Closing

Date, calculated in accordance with GAAP and reflecting the recognition of or accrual for all Transaction Costs.  For the avoidance of doubt, Adjusted Net
Worth as of June 30, 2014 was $28.703 million (total consolidated assets of $273.875 million (prior to Transaction Costs), less total consolidated liabilities of
$242.826 million, less Intangible Assets of $0.923 million, less Transaction Costs of $1.423 million).
 

(k)                                 “Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person directly or indirectly Controlling, Controlled by or under
common Control with, such specified Person.

 
(l)                                     “Bank” means Herget Bank, National Association, a national bank headquartered in Pekin, Illinois, and a wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company.
 
(m)                             “Bank Merger” means the merger of the Bank with and into, and under the charter of, Acquiror Bank.
 
(n)                                 “Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday and any day on which banks in Champaign, Illinois, or Pekin, Illinois,

are authorized or required by law or other government action to close.
 
(o)                                 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
 
(p)                                 “Company Benefit Plan” means any:  (i) qualified or nonqualified “employee pension benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(2) of

ERISA) or other deferred compensation or retirement plan or arrangement; (ii) “employee welfare benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA) or
other health, welfare or similar plan or arrangement; (iii) “employee benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA); (iv) equity-based compensation plan
or arrangement (including any stock option, stock purchase, stock ownership, stock appreciation, restricted stock, restricted stock unit, phantom stock or
similar plan, agreement or award); (v) other paid time off, compensation, severance, bonus, profit-sharing or incentive plan or arrangement; (vi) other
employee benefit plan, practice, policy or arrangement of any kind, whether written or oral, and whether for the benefit of a single individual or more than
one (1) individual; or (vii) change in control agreement or employment or severance agreement, in each case with respect to clauses (i) through (vii) of this
definition, to which (A) 
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contributions have at any time been made by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any Company ERISA Affiliate or under which any employee, former
employee, director, agent or independent contractor of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any beneficiary thereof is covered, is eligible for coverage or
has payment or other benefit rights, and (B) for which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has or may have liability, including by reason of having a
Company ERISA Affiliate.

 
(q)                                 “Company Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
 
(r)                                    “Company Bylaws” means the Bylaws of Herget Financial Corp, as amended.
 
(s)                                   “Company Certificate of Incorporation” means the Certificate of Incorporation of Herget Financial Corp., as amended.
 
(t)                                    “Company Common Stock” means the common stock, $1.00 par value per share, of the Company.

 
(u)                                 “Company ERISA Affiliate” means each “person” (as defined in Section 3(9) of ERISA) that is treated as a single employer with

the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for purposes of Section 414 of the Code.
 
(v)                                 “Company Shareholder Approval” means the adoption of this Agreement by the shareholders of the Company, in accordance

with the DGCL and the Company Certificate of Incorporation.
 
(w)                               “Contemplated Transactions” means all of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including:  (i) the Merger; (ii) the

Bank Merger, and (iii) the performance by Acquiror, Merger Sub and the Company of their respective covenants and obligations under this Agreement.
 
(x)                                 “Contract” means any agreement, contract, obligation, promise or understanding (whether written or oral and whether express or

implied) that is legally binding:  (i) under which a Person has or may acquire any rights; (ii) under which such Person has or may become subject to any
obligation or liability; or (iii) by which such Person or any of the assets owned or used by such Person is or may become bound.

 
(y)                                 “Control”, “Controlling” or “Controlled” when used with respect to any specified Person, means the power to vote 25 percent

(25%) or more of any class of voting securities of a Person, the power to control in any manner the election of a majority of the directors or partners of such
Person, or the power to exercise a controlling influence over the management or policies of such Person.

 
(z)                                  “CRA” means the Community Reinvestment Act, as amended.
 
(aa)                          “DGCL” means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as amended.
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(bb)                          “DOL” means the U.S. Department of Labor.



 
(cc)                            “Environment” means surface or subsurface soil or strata, surface waters and sediments, navigable waters, groundwater, drinking

water supply and ambient air.
 
(dd)                          “Environmental Laws” means any federal, state or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, code, order, permit or other

legally binding requirement applicable to the business or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that imposes liability or standards of conduct with
respect to the Environment and/or Hazardous Materials.

 
(ee)                            “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
 
(ff)                              “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 
(gg)                            “FDIC” means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
 
(hh)                          “Federal Reserve” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
 
(ii)                                  “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S., consistently applied.
 
(jj)                                “Hazardous Materials” means any hazardous, toxic or dangerous substance, waste, contaminant, pollutant, gas or other material

that is classified as such under Environmental Laws or is otherwise regulated under Environmental Laws.
 
(kk)                          “Immediate Family Member” means a Person’s spouse, parents, stepparents, children, stepchildren, mothers and fathers-in-law,

sons and daughters-in-law, siblings, brothers and sisters-in-law, and any other Person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing such Person’s household.
 
(ll)                                  “Intangible Assets” means any asset that is considered an intangible asset under GAAP, including, without limitation, any

goodwill and any other identifiable intangible assets recorded in accordance with GAAP, but excluding any mortgage servicing assets recorded as an
intangible asset.

 
(mm)                  “IRS” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Service.
 
(nn)                          “Knowledge” means, assuming due inquiry under the facts or circumstances, the actual knowledge of the chief executive officer,

president, chief financial officer, chief credit officer or general counsel of Acquiror or the Company, as the context requires.
 
(oo)                          “Legal Requirement” means any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, international, multinational or other Order, constitution,

law, ordinance, regulation, rule, policy statement, directive, statute or treaty.
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(pp)                          “Material Adverse Effect” as used with respect to a party, means an event, change, effect or occurrence which, individually or

together with any other event, change, effect or occurrence:  (i) is materially adverse to the business, properties, financial condition or results of operations of
such party and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; or (ii) materially impairs the ability of such party to perform its obligations under this Agreement or to
consummate the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions on a timely basis; provided that, in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has
occurred, there shall be excluded any effect to the extent attributable to or resulting from:  (A) changes in Legal Requirements generally affecting banks, bank
holding companies or financial holding companies, and the interpretation of such Legal Requirements by courts or governmental authorities; (B) changes in
GAAP or regulatory accounting requirements; (C) changes or events generally affecting banks, bank holding companies or financial holding companies, or
the economy or the financial, securities or credit markets, including changes in prevailing interest rates, liquidity and quality, currency exchange rates, price
levels or trading volumes in the U.S. or foreign securities markets; and (D) the effects of the actions expressly permitted or required by this Agreement or that
are taken with the prior written consent of the other party in contemplation of the Contemplated Transactions; except with respect to clauses (A), (B) and (C),
to the extent that the effects of such change are disproportionately adverse to the financial condition, results of operations or business of such party and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as compared to other companies in the industry in which such party and its Subsidiaries operate.

 
(qq)                          “Merger Consideration” means $34,100,000, as adjusted pursuant to Section 2.4.
 
(rr)                                “Merger Consideration Per Share” means: (i) the Merger Consideration, divided by (ii) the Outstanding Company Shares.
 
(ss)                              “NASDAQ Rules” means the listing rules of the NASDAQ Global Select Market.
 
(tt)                                “NRS” means the provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes governing business corporations, limited liability companies and

mergers of business entities (NRS Sections 78.010 et seq., 86.011 et seq., and 92A.005 et seq., respectively).
 
(uu)                          “Order” means any award, decision, injunction, judgment, order, ruling, extraordinary supervisory letter, policy statement,

memorandum of understanding, resolution, agreement, directive, subpoena or verdict entered, issued, made, rendered or required by any court, administrative
or other governmental agency, including any Regulatory Authority, or by any arbitrator.

 
(vv)                          “Ordinary Course of Business” shall include any action taken by a Person only if such action is consistent with the past practices

of such Person and is similar in nature and magnitude to actions customarily taken in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations of other Persons
that are in the same line of business as such Person.

 
(ww)                      “OREO” means real estate owned by a Person and designated as “other real estate owned.”
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(xx)                          “Outstanding Company Shares” means the shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the
Effective Time.

 
(yy)                          “PBGC” means the U.S. Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.
 
(zz)                            “Person” means any individual, corporation (including any non-profit corporation), general or limited partnership, limited liability

company, foundation, joint venture, estate, trust, association, organization, labor union or other entity or Regulatory Authority.
 

(aaa)                   “Proceeding” means any action, arbitration, audit, hearing, investigation, litigation or suit (whether civil, criminal, administrative,
investigative or informal) commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any judicial or governmental authority, including a
Regulatory Authority, or arbitrator.

 
(bbb)                   “Proxy Statement” shall mean a proxy statement prepared by the Company for use in connection with the Company

Shareholders’ Meeting.
 
(ccc)                      “Regulatory Authority” means any federal, state or local governmental body, agency, court or authority that, under applicable

Legal Requirements:  (i) has supervisory, judicial, administrative, police, enforcement, taxing or other power or authority over the Company, Acquiror, or any
of their respective Subsidiaries; (ii) is required to approve, or give its consent to, the Contemplated Transactions; or (iii) with which a filing must be made in
connection therewith.

 
(ddd)                   “Representative” means with respect to a particular Person, any director, officer, manager, employee, agent, consultant, advisor or

other representative of such Person, including legal counsel, accountants and financial advisors.
 
(eee)                      “Requisite Regulatory Approvals” means all necessary documentation, applications, notices, petitions, filings, permits, consents,

approvals and authorizations from all applicable Regulatory Authorities for approval of the Contemplated Transactions.
 
(fff)                         “SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
(ggg)                      “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 
(hhh)                   “Subsidiary,” with respect to any Person has the meaning assigned to the term “Significant Subsidiary” in Rule 1-02 or Regulation

S-X promulgated under the Exchange Act.
 
(iii)                               “Superior Proposal” means an Unsolicited Proposal that is determined in good faith by the Company Board (or an applicable

committee), after consultation with the Company’s financial advisor, to be on terms that are more favorable from a financial point of view to the shareholders
of the Company than the Merger and has a reasonable prospect of being consummated in accordance with its terms.

 
(jjj)                            “Tax” means any tax (including any income tax, franchise tax, capital gains tax, value-added tax, sales tax, property tax, escheat

tax, use tax, payroll tax, gift tax or
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estate tax), levy, assessment, tariff, duty (including any customs duty), deficiency or other fee, and any related charge or amount (including any fine, penalty,
interest or addition to tax), imposed, assessed or collected by or under the authority of any Regulatory Authority or payable pursuant to any tax-sharing
agreement or any other Contract relating to the sharing or payment of any such tax, levy, assessment, tariff, duty, deficiency or fee.
 

(kkk)                   “Tax Return” means any return (including any information return), report, statement, schedule, notice, form or other document or
information filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to, any Regulatory Authority in connection with the determination,
assessment, collection or payment of any Tax or in connection with the administration, implementation, or enforcement of or compliance with any Legal
Requirement relating to any Tax.

 
(lll)                               “Transition Date” means, with respect to any Covered Employee, the date Acquiror or the Surviving Entity commences

providing benefits to such employee with respect to each New Plan and that immediately follows the termination of the corresponding Old Plan; provided that
in the case of any Company Benefit Plan that Acquiror requires to be terminated on or before the Effective Time under Section 5.10, the Transition Date shall
be not later than the Effective Time.

 
(mmm)       “Unsolicited Proposal” means an Acquisition Transaction that was not, after the date of this Agreement, solicited, initiated or

knowingly encouraged or facilitated by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives or Affiliates.
 
(nnn)                   “U.S.” means the United States of America.
 

Section 12.2                            Principles of Construction.
 

(a)         In this Agreement, unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise requires, the following uses apply:  (i) actions permitted under this
Agreement may be taken at any time and from time to time in the actor’s sole discretion; (ii) references to a statute shall refer to the statute and any successor
statute, and to all regulations promulgated under or implementing the statute or its successor, as in effect at the relevant time; (iii) in computing periods from a
specified date to a later specified date, the words “from” and “commencing on” (and the like) mean “from and including,” and the words “to,” “until” and
“ending on” (and the like) mean “to, but excluding”; (iv) references to a governmental or quasi-governmental agency, authority or instrumentality shall also
refer to a regulatory body that succeeds to the functions of the agency, authority or instrumentality; (v) indications of time of day mean Central Time;
(vi) “including” means “including, but not limited to”; (vii) all references to sections, schedules and exhibits are to sections, schedules and exhibits in or to
this Agreement unless otherwise specified; (viii) all words used in this Agreement will be construed to be of such gender or number as the circumstances and
context require; (ix) the captions and headings of articles, sections, schedules and exhibits appearing in or attached to this Agreement have been inserted
solely for convenience of reference and shall not be considered a part of this Agreement nor shall any of them affect the meaning or interpretation of this



Agreement or any of its provisions; and (x) any reference to a document or set of documents in this Agreement, and the rights and obligations of the parties
under any such documents, means such document or documents as amended from
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time to time, and any and all modifications, extensions, renewals, substitutions or replacements thereof.
 

(b)         The schedules of each of the Company and Acquiror referred to in this Agreement (the “Company Disclosure Schedules” and the
“Acquiror Disclosure Schedules”, respectively, and collectively the “Schedules”) shall consist of items, the disclosure of which with respect to a specific
party is necessary or appropriate either in response to an express disclosure requirement contained in a provision hereof or as an exception to one or more
representations or warranties contained herein or to one or more covenants contained herein, which Schedules were delivered by each of the Company and
Acquiror to the other before the date of this Agreement.  In the event of any inconsistency between the statements in the body of this Agreement and those in
the Schedules (other than an exception expressly set forth as such in the Schedules), the statements in the body of this Agreement will control.  For purposes
of this Agreement, “Previously Disclosed” means information set forth by the Company or Acquiror in the applicable paragraph of its Schedules, or any
other paragraph of its Schedules (so long as it is reasonably clear from the context that the disclosure in such other paragraph of its Schedule is also applicable
to the section of this Agreement in question).

 
(c)          All accounting terms not specifically defined herein shall be construed in accordance with GAAP.
 
(d)         With regard to each and every term and condition of this Agreement and any and all agreements and instruments subject to the terms

hereof, the parties hereto understand and agree that the same have or has been mutually negotiated, prepared and drafted, and that if at any time the parties
hereto desire or are required to interpret or construe any such term or condition or any agreement or instrument subject hereto, no consideration shall be given
to the issue of which party hereto actually prepared, drafted or requested any term or condition of this Agreement or any agreement or instrument subject
hereto.

 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers on the day and year first written above.
 
 
ACQUIROR:

 

COMPANY:
   
FIRST BUSEY CORPORATION

 

HERGET FINANCIAL CORP.
   
By: /s/ Van A. Dukeman

 

By: /s/ Charles R. Schermerhorn
     
Name: Van A. Dukeman

 

Name: Charles R. Schermerhorn
     
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

 

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
     
     
MERGER SUB:

   

    
FBC ACQUISITION LLC

   

    
By: First Busey Corporation, its sole member and manager

   

     
By: /s/ Robin N. Elliott

   

     
Name: Robin N. Elliott

   

     
Title: Chief Financial Officer

   

 
[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

 



EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
 

I, Van A. Dukeman, President and Chief Executive Officer of First Busey Corporation, certify that:
 
1)             I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of First Busey Corporation;
 
2)             Based on my knowledge, this Quarterly Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
Quarterly Report;

 
3)             Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Quarterly Report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Quarterly Report;
 
4)             The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 
a)             designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this Quarterly Report is being prepared;

 
b)             designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c)              evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Quarterly Report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report based on such evaluation; and
 
d)             disclosed in this Quarterly Report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5)             The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)             all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)             any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
 

/s/ VAN A. DUKEMAN
  
 

Van A. Dukeman
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
 
Date: November 6, 2014
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EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
 

I, Robin N. Elliott, Chief Financial Officer of First Busey Corporation, certify that:
 
1)             I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of First Busey Corporation;
 
2)             Based on my knowledge, this Quarterly Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
Quarterly Report;

 
3)             Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Quarterly Report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Quarterly Report;
 
4)             The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 
a)             designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this Quarterly Report is being prepared;

 
b)             designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c)              evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Quarterly Report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report based on such evaluation; and
 
d)             disclosed in this Quarterly Report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5)             The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)             all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)             any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
 

/s/ ROBIN N. ELLIOTT
  
 

Robin N. Elliott
 

Chief Financial Officer
 
Date: November 6, 2014
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EXHIBIT 32.1
 
The following certification is provided by the undersigned Chief Executive Officer of First Busey Corporation on the basis of such officer’s knowledge and
belief for the sole purpose of complying with 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the accompanying Quarterly
Report of First Busey Corporation on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in such Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of First Busey Corporation as of and for the periods covered by the Quarterly Report.
 
 

/s/ VAN A. DUKEMAN
  
 

Van A. Dukeman
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
 
Date:  November 6, 2014
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EXHIBIT 32.2
 

The following certification is provided by the undersigned Chief Financial Officer of First Busey Corporation on the basis of such officer’s knowledge and
belief for the sole purpose of complying with 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the accompanying Quarterly
Report of First Busey Corporation on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in such Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of First Busey Corporation as of and for the periods covered by the Quarterly Report.
 
 

/s/ ROBIN N. ELLIOTT
  
  
 

Robin N. Elliott
 

Chief Financial Officer
 
Date:  November 6, 2014
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